
 
 

Planning & Zoning Committee 
PLANNING MEETING 

County Administration Building – 3rd Floor Conference Room 
March 8th, 2019 

7:45 A.M. 
 
 
PRESENT:  Supervisors Tom Egan, Robert Keller, Brian Defferding, Ben Joas.  Jerry 
Bougie – Planning Director, Brian O’Rourke – Associate Planner, Cary Rowe – Zoning 
Administrator. 
  
EXCUSED:  Supervisor Maribeth Gabert 
 
 
1. Approval of minutes from February 8th, (Deliberative), February 8th (Planning 

Meeting), and February 26th (Public Hearing). 
 

Motion to approve the minutes by B. Defferding.  Seconded by B. Joas.  Motion 
carried 4-0. 
 
There was no further discussion of this item. 

 
 
 
2. Committee review and action to forward Town of Clayton Ordinance Amendments 

and Town of Vinland and Winchester Zoning Changes to County Board. 
 
C. Rowe provided a memo recommending forwarding a Town of Clayton zoning 
ordinance amendment(s) to County Board. 
 
Motion to forward the Town of Clayton zoning ordinance amendments to County 
Board by B. Joas.  Seconded by B. Defferding.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
C. Rowe provided a memo recommending forwarding a Town of Vinland zoning 
change for Wollerman to County Board. 
 
Motion to forward the Town of Vinland zoning change for Wollerman to County 
Board by B. Joas.  Seconded by B. Defferding.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
C. Rowe provided a memo recommending forwarding a Town of Vinland zoning 
change for Garvens, Inc., to County Board. 
 
Motion to forward the Town of Vinland zoning change for Garvens, Inc., to County 
Board by B. Joas.  Seconded by B. Defferding.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
C. Rowe provided a memo recommending forwarding a Town of Winchester zoning 
change for Doehling to County Board.  

pheise
Highlight



Motion to forward the Town of Winchester zoning change for Doehling to County 
Board by B. Joas.  Seconded by B. Defferding.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
C. Rowe provided a memo recommending forwarding a Town of Winchester zoning 
change for Elmer to County Board. 
 
Motion to forward the Town of Winchester zoning change for Elmer to County Board 
by B. Defferding.  Seconded by B. Joas.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
There was no further discussion of this item. 
 

 
 
3. Report on staff changes in the GIS Division. 

 
J. Bougie stated that the GIS database administrator resigned from his position, and 
will update the Committee when the position has been filled. 
 
There was no further discussion of this item. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Motion to adjourn by B. Defferding.  Seconded by B. Joas.  Motion carried 4-0. 
 
 
 
 

 
Brian P. O’Rourke, AICP – Recording Secretary 



WINNEBAGO COUNTY 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMITTEE 

Friday, March 22, 2019 
County Administration Building 

112 Otter Ave 
Oshkosh, WI 54903 

 

 

Present: Supervisors: Tom Egan, Maribeth Gabert, Robert Keller, and Brian 
Defferding.  
Emmett Simkowski-Code Enforcement Officer 

 

Absent: Ben Joas 

 

The Committee met at 7:30 a.m. at the County Administration Building then departed to 

view the following properties: 

1. 6449 Paulson Rd. Winneconne - Zone Change/Zoning Map Amendment 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:20 a.m. 

 

Respectfully, 

 
Emmett Simkowski 
Recording Secretary 

pheise
Highlight



CARY A. ROWE 
Zoning Administrator 

Winnebago County 
Zoning Department 
The Wave of the Future 

I 12 OTTER AVE .. PO BOX 2808 
OSHKOSH. WISCO!';SIT\ 54903-2808 

OSHKOSH (920) 232-3344 
FOX CITIES (920) 727-2880 

FAX (920) 232-3347 

zon ingdepartment@ co winnebago. w i .us 

MEMO FOR P & Z PLANNING MEETING AGENDA OF APRIL 5, 2019 

TO: Planning & Zoning Committee 

FM: Zoning Administrator 

RE: Review of Town of Winchester Zoning Ordinance Amendments 

1. Review of Zoning Ordinance Amendments- Town of Winchester 

The zoning office received a copy of the Town of Winchester's adopted zoning 
ordinance amendments. The amendments were in response to the 2017 
Wisconsin Act 67 regarding conditional uses. The adopted zoning ordinance 
amendments for the Town of Winchester must be approved by the County Board. 
There does not appear to be any conflicts with county zoning jurisdiction or 
regulatory authority. 

RECOMMENDATION: Forward adopted zoning ordinance amendments to County 
Board for action. 

pheise
Highlight



 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Town of Winchester 
Winnebago County, Wisconsin 

 

Chapter 17: Zoning Regulations 
 
 
 

Adopted by Town of Winchester Board of Supervisors 
 on February 18, 2013 

 
Certified by Wisconsin Department of 

Agriculture, Trade, and Consumer Protection 
on January 14, 2014 

 
Amended and Adopted by Town Board 

On April 21, 2014 
 

Amended and Adopted by Town Board 
On July 17, 2017 

 
Amended and Adopted by Town Board 

On August 20, 2018 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
17.01 Authority ............................................................................................................................................................. 1 
17.02 Purpose ............................................................................................................................................................... 1 
17.03 Intent .................................................................................................................................................................... 1 
17.04 Abrogation and Greater Restrictions ............................................................................................................... 1 
17.05 Interpretation ...................................................................................................................................................... 1 
17.06 Title ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1 
17.07 Districts ............................................................................................................................................................... 2 
17.08 Boundaries .......................................................................................................................................................... 2 
17.09 Definitions ........................................................................................................................................................... 2 
17.10 General Use Provisions ................................................................................................................................... 17 
17.11 General Yard and Space Provisions ............................................................................................................... 18 
17.12 Effective Date .................................................................................................................................................... 19 
17.13 Exceptions ........................................................................................................................................................ 19 
17.14 Code Compliance and Permits ....................................................................................................................... 20 
17.15 Road Design Standards and Dedication ........................................................................................................ 20 
17.16 Nonconforming Uses ....................................................................................................................................... 22 
17.17 - 17.29 Reserved ............................................................................................................................................... 23 
17.30 A-1 Agribusiness District ................................................................................................................................ 23 
17.31 A-2 General Agricultural District ..................................................................................................................... 29 
17.32 Supplemental Land Use Overlay Districts ..................................................................................................... 32 
17.33 R-1 Rural Residential District .......................................................................................................................... 34 
17.34 R-2 Suburban Residential District .................................................................................................................. 36 
17.35 R-3 Two-family Residential District ................................................................................................................ 38 
17.36 R-4 Multi-family District ................................................................................................................................... 40 
17.37 R-8 Manufactured Home/Mobile Home Community District ......................................................................... 41 
17.38 Reserved ........................................................................................................................................................... 42 
17.39 B-1 Local Service District ................................................................................................................................ 42 
17.40 B-2 Community Business District .................................................................................................................. 44 
17.41 B-3 General Business District ......................................................................................................................... 45 
17.42 I-1 Light Industrial District ............................................................................................................................... 47 
17.43 I-2 Heavy Industrial District ............................................................................................................................. 49 
17.44 PDD Planned Development (Overlay) District ............................................................................................... 51 
17.45 Permitted Use Standards for Zoning Districts ............................................................................................... 54 
17.46 Accessory Use Standards for Zoning Districts ............................................................................................. 80 
17.47 Temporary Use Standards for Zoning Districts ............................................................................................. 93 
17.48 Mobile Tower Siting Regulations .................................................................................................................... 96 
17.49 Transitional Residential Overlay ..................................................................................................................... 99 
17.50 Site Plan Review ............................................................................................................................................. 100 
17.51 Signs ................................................................................................................................................................ 103 
17.52 Parking and Loading ...................................................................................................................................... 103 
17.53 Conditional Uses ............................................................................................................................................ 106 
17.54 Zoning Board of Appeals ............................................................................................................................... 108 
17.55 Enforcement ................................................................................................................................................... 109 
17.56 Time Limit on Permits .................................................................................................................................... 110 
17.57 Fees ................................................................................................................................................................. 111 
17.58 Violations and Penalties ................................................................................................................................ 112 
17.59 Changes and Amendments ........................................................................................................................... 112 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - ii 

17.60 Validity and Conflicts ..................................................................................................................................... 113 
17.61 Adoption .......................................................................................................................................................... 113 
 
 
 
  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - iii 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - iv 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page intentionally left blank. 
 

 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 1 

17.01 Authority. Under the provisions of Section 62.23 (7) to regulate and restrict the height, number of stories 
and size of buildings and other structures, the size of yards, courts and other open spaces, the density of 
population, the location and use of buildings, structures and land for trade, industry, residence and other 
purposes; and for the said purpose to divide the Town of Winchester, Winnebago County, Wisconsin, into 
districts of such number, shape, and areas as are deemed best suited to carry out the said purposes; to 
provide a method for its administration and enforcement and to provide penalties for its violation. The Town 
Board of the Town of Winchester, Winnebago County Wisconsin, having been granted village powers 
pursuant to Section 60.18 (12), does ordain as follows: 

 
17.02 Purpose. The purpose of this Chapter is to promote the comfort, health, safety, morals, prosperity, 

aesthetics, and general welfare of the Town. The provisions of this Chapter shall be held to be minimum 
requirements. 

 
17.03 Intent. It is the general intent of this Chapter to regulate and restrict the use of all structures, lands, and 

waters; and to: 
 

(1) Preserve and protect prime agricultural lands in the Town. 
(2) Preserve and protect the beauty of the Town. 
(3) Regulate lot coverage and the size and location of all structures so as to prevent overcrowding and 

to provide adequate sunlight, air, sanitation, and drainage. 
(4) Regulate population density and distribution so as to avoid sprawl or undue concentration and to 

facilitate the provision of adequate public service and utilities. 
(5) Regulate parking, loading and access so as to lessen congestion in and promote the safety and 

efficiency of streets and highways. 
(6) Secure safety from fire, pollution, contamination and other dangers. 
(7) Stabilize and protect existing and potential property values. 
(8) Prevent and control erosion, sedimentation, and other pollution of the surface and subsurface 

waters. 
(9) Further the maintenance of safe and healthful water conditions. 
(10) Provide for and protect various suitable commercial and industrial sites. 
(11) Protect the traffic-carrying capacity of existing and proposed arterial streets and highways. 
(12) Implement those Town, County, watershed, and regional comprehensive plans or components of 

such plans adopted by the Town. 
(13) Provide for the administration and enforcement of this Chapter; and to provide penalties for the 

violation of this Chapter. 
(14) Implement the Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan. 

 
17.04 Abrogation and Greater Restrictions. It is not the intend of this Chapter to repeal, abrogate, annul, impair 

or interfere with any existing easement, covenants, or agreements between parties, or with any rules, 
regulations, or permits previously adopted or issued pursuant to laws; provided, however, that where this 
Chapter imposes a greater restriction upon the use of buildings or premises, or upon the height of a building 
or requires larger open spaces than are required by other rules, regulations or permits or by easements, 
covenants or agreements, the provisions of this Chapter shall govern.  

 
17.05 Interpretation. In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this Chapter shall be held to be 

minimum requirements and shall be liberally construed in favor of the Town and shall not be construed to be 
a limitation or repeal of any other power now possessed by the Town. 

 
17.06 Title. This Chapter shall be known and cited as the “Zoning Regulations, Town of Winchester, Winnebago 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 2 

County, Wisconsin.” 
 
17.07 Districts. For the purposes of this Chapter, the Town of Winchester is hereby divided into the following 

districts: 
 

(1) A-1 Agribusiness. 
(2) A-2 General Agriculture. 
(3) A-3 Agricultural Residential. 
(4) R-1 Rural Residential. 
(5) R-2 Suburban Residential. 
(6) R-3 Two-Family Residential. 
(7) R-4 Multi-Family Residential. 
(8) R-8 Manufactured/Mobile Home Community. 
(9) B-1 Local Services. 
(10) B-2 Community Business. 
(11) B-3 General Business. 
(12) I-1 Light Industrial. 
(13) I-2 Heavy Industrial. 
(14) PDD Planned Development (Overlay) District. 

 
17.08 Boundaries. The boundaries of the aforesaid districts are hereby established as shown on the map entitled 

" Town of Winchester Zoning Map," which map is made a part of this Chapter and is on file in the office of 
the Clerk of said township. All notations and references shown on the Zoning Map are as much a part of this 
Chapter as though specifically described herein. The district boundaries, unless otherwise indicated, are 
street or highway centerlines, railroad right-of-way lines extended, lines parallel or perpendicular to such 
street, highway or railroad lines, the shore line of lakes or streams, lot or alley lines, section lines, quarter 
section lines, or quarter-quarter section lines, and when the designation on the district map indicates that 
the various districts are approximately bounded by any of the above lines, such lines shall be construed to 
be the district boundary lines. The district boundaries, where not otherwise designated, shall be determined 
by the use of the scale shown on the district map. 

17.09 Definitions. Words used in the present tense include the future; the singular number includes the plural 
number and the plural number includes the singular number; the word "building" includes the word 
"structure"; the word "shall" is mandatory and not directory. Any words not herein defined shall be construed 
as defined in the state building code. 

 
(1) Accessory Use and Accessory Structure/Building – A use or detached structure subordinate to the 

principal use of a structure, land, or water and located on the same lot or parcel serving a purpose 
customarily incidental to the principal use or the principal structure. 
(a) Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed carports 

over two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential districts in the Town 
of Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and truss framing with metal roof 
and siding. 

(2) Adjacent – located on land parcels that touch each other, or on land parcels that are separated 
only by a river, stream, or transportation or utility right-of-way. 

(3) Adult Family Home – A place licensed by the state under s. 50.033(1m), Wis. Stats. 
(4) Agricultural Use - Any of the following activities conducted for the purpose of producing an income 

or livelihood: 
(a) Crop or forage production. 
(b) Keeping livestock. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 3 

(c) Beekeeping. 
(d) Nursery, sod, or Christmas tree production.  
(e) Floriculture.  
(f) Aquaculture. 
(g) Fur farming. 
(h) Forest management.  
(i) Enrolling land in a federal agricultural commodity payment program or a federal or state 

agricultural land conservation payment program. 
(j) Other activities that DATCP may identify by rule. 

(5) Agriculture-related Use  - A facility, whether or not located on a farm, that has at least one of the 
following as a primary and not merely incidental purpose: 
(a) Providing agricultural supplies, agricultural equipment, agricultural inputs or agricultural 

services directly to farms, including farms in the farmland preservation zoning district. 
(b) Storing, processing or handling raw agricultural commodities obtained directly from farms, 

including farms in the farmland preservation zoning district.  
(c) Slaughtering livestock, including livestock from farms in the farmland preservation zoning 

district.  
(d) Marketing livestock to or from farms, including farms in the farmland preservation zoning 

district.  
(e) Processing agricultural by-products or wastes received directly from farms, including farms in 

the farmland preservation zoning district. 
(6) Agricultural waste – Manure, milking center waste, and other organic waste generated by a 

livestock facility. 
(7) Agriculture, Crop – A place where nursery stock, trees, sod, fruit, vegetables, flowers, agricultural 

crops and forage, and other plants typically grown by agricultural operations in the region are 
grown. 

(8) Agriculture, General – A place where nursery stock, trees, sod, fruit, vegetables, flowers, 
agricultural crops and forage, and other plants are primarily grown for commercial purposes and/or 
livestock is raised primarily for commercial purposes.. The term does not include commercial 
stable, farmstand retail outlet, or agricultural product sales.  

(9) Airport, Public - Any airport which complies with the definition contained in Section 114.002 (7), 
Wisconsin Statutes, or any airport which serves or offers to serve common carriers engaged in air 
transport. 

(10) Alley - A vehicular accessway that provides primary vehicular access to the back of the lots that 
front on a street.  

(11) Alternative Tower Structure – Manmade towers, water towers, buildings, bell steeples, light poles, 
electric transmission and distribution structures, and similar alternative-design mounting structures 
that camouflage or conceal the presence of antennas or towers. 

(12) Animal Shelter – A place where stray household pets are temporarily housed.  
(13) Animal Units – A unit of measure used to determine the total number of single animal types or 

combination of animal types, as specified in s. NR 243.11, that are at an animal feeding operation. 
(14) Appeal – A process initiated by an aggrieved person to review a decision made pursuant to this 

chapter, or an alleged failure to act as required by this chapter.  
(15) Applicant – A person that submits an application as required by this Chapter.  
(16) Aquaculture – See Fish Hatchery, sec. 17.09(45). 
(17) Artisan Shop – A place where handmade craft items or works of art are made on a small-scale and 

offered for retail sale. Examples of such items include paintings, textiles, photography, sculptures, 
pottery, leather products, handmade paper, jewelry, hand-blown glass, small wooden items, 
candles, soaps, and lotions.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 4 

(18) Automobile Wrecking Yard - Any premises on which three or more automotive vehicles, not in 
operating condition, are stored in the open.  

(19) Base Farm Tract – All land, whether one parcel or two contiguous parcels, that is in the A-1 
Agribusiness District and that is part of a single farm on the date that DATCP first certifies this 
ordinance, regardless of any subsequent changes in the size of the farm. 

(20) Basement - A story partly underground which, if occupied as living quarters, shall be counted as a 
story for purposes of height measurements. 

(21) Bed and Breakfast – Any place of lodging that provides 8 or fewer rooms for rent to no more than a 
total of 20 tourists or other transients for more than 10 nights in a 12−month period, is the owner’s 
personal residence, is occupied by the owner at the time of rental, and in which the only meal 
served to guests is breakfast. 

(22) Bees – For the purposes of this Chapter, Bees shall include Mason Bees and Honey Bees. No 
other Bee species or varieties may be kept in hives. 

(23) Berm – A mound or embankment of earth typically installed to provide screening or for aesthetic 
effect. 

(24) Boarding House – A place, other than a hotel or restaurant, where meals or lodging are regularly 
furnished by prearrangement for compensation for 4 or more persons not members of a family, but 
not exceeding 12 persons and not open to transient customers.  

(25) Buffer Yard – A linear strip of undeveloped land, along with landscaping or a fence, that is located 
between two different zoning districts that have potentially incompatible characteristics. Buffer 
yards are intended to create separation between the incompatible land uses and eliminate or 
lessen the impacts (e.g., noise, dust, glare of lights, outdoor activities) of the most intrusive land 
use on the other. 

(26) Building - Any structure used, designed or intended for the protection, shelter, enclosure, or 
support of persons, animals or property. When a building is divided into separate parts by solid 
walls extending from the ground up, each part shall be deemed a separate building.  

(27) Building, Accessory - A building or portion of a building subordinate to the main building and used 
for a purpose customarily incidental to the permitted use of the main building or the use of the 
premises.  

(28) Building, Detached – A building surrounded by open space on the same lot. 
(29) Building, Height of - The vertical distance from the average curb level in front of the lot or the 

finished grade at the building line, whichever is higher, to the highest point of the coping of a flat 
roof, to the deck line of a mansard roof, or to the average height of the highest gable of a gambrel, 
hip or pitch roof.  

(30) Building, Main or Principal - A building constituting the principal use of a lot. 
(31) Campground – A place where members of the general public may set up tents, campers and 

trailers of all types, and recreational vehicles for camping and sleeping purposes. Accessory uses 
may include individual cabins, a dwelling unit for the manager of the campground, and one or more 
buildings to house a laundromat and retail sales for the convenience of campground guests, an 
office, maintenance equipment, supplies, and related materials.  

(32) Centerline - A line connecting points on highways from which setback lines shall be measured, at 
any point on the highway.  

(33) Channel - A natural or artificial watercourse of perceptible extent, with definite bed and banks to 
confine and conduct continuously or periodically flowing water. Channel flow thus is that water 
which is flowing within the limits of the defined channel. 

(34) Civic Use Facility – A place where large gatherings of people may assemble for public purposes. 
The term includes zoos, arenas, stadiums, and fairgrounds. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 5 

(35) Collocation – The location of multiple antennas of more than one commercial wireless 
communication service provider or governmental entity on a single tower or alternative tower 
structure. 

(36) Commercial Stable – A place where horses, donkeys, and other similar domesticated animals are 
kept for boarding, instructional purposes, or hire on trail rides. Nonresidential buildings and other 
structures, such as barns, stables, riding arenas, and sheds, necessary for the operation are 
allowed.  

(37) Common ownership – Ownership by the same person or persons, or by persons that are all wholly 
owned by the same person or persons. “Common ownership” includes joint tenancy and tenancy in 
common. Solely for purposes of this definition, a parcel owned by one member of a married couple 
is deemed to be owned by the married couple. 

(38) Community Center – A place where short-term and intermittent meetings or gatherings of 
individuals are held for purposes of sharing information, entertainment, social service, or similar 
activities. The term includes senior centers; neighborhood recreational centers; fraternal, social, or 
civic clubs; lodges; and union halls. 

(39) Community Cultural Facility – A place where people may gather for studying, reading, personal 
education, or viewing the visual arts. The term includes libraries, museums, art galleries, and 
observatories. The term does not include performing arts. 

(40) Community Garden – A place where a group of unrelated individuals grow vegetables, fruits, and 
flowers for their personal use. A community garden can be divided into individual plots of land for 
the exclusive use of the person assigned each plot, or the entire garden may be a cooperative 
effort of any number of people, or a combination thereof.  

(41) Community Living Arrangement – Any one of the following facilities: 
(a) Residential care centers for children and youth, as defined in s. 48.02(15d), Wis. Stats., 

operated by a child welfare agency licensed under s. 48.60, Wis. Stats. 
(b) Group homes for children, as defined in s. 48.02(7), Wis. Stats. 
(c) Community-based residential facilities, as defined in s. 50.01, Wis. Stats. The term does not 

include adult family homes, as defined in s. 50.01, Wis. Stats.  
(42) Comprehensive Plan – The Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan as adopted and amended. 
(43) Conditional Uses – Uses of a special nature that make it impractical to predetermine as a permitted 

use in a district. 
(44) Conditional Use Permit – A permit issued by the Plan Commission authorizing establishment of a 

conditional use consistent with the provisions of this chapter. 
(45) Condominium – A form of ownership with unrestricted right of disposal of one or more units in a 

multiple unit project with the land and all other parts of the project held in common ownership or 
use with owners of the other units. 

(46)  Conservation subdivision – A subdivision where open space is the central organizing element of 
the subdivision design and that identifies and permanently protects all primary conservation areas 
and all or some of the secondary conservation areas within the boundaries of the subdivision and 
retains a minimum of forty percent of the site as protected open space. 

(47) Contiguous – Adjacent to or sharing a common boundary. “Contiguous” land includes land that is 
separated only by a river, stream, section line, public road, private road, railroad, pipeline, 
transmission line, or transportation or transmission right-of- way. Parcels are not “contiguous” if 
they meet only at a single point. 

(48) Contractor Yard – A place where a contractor or builder may establish a base of operation, which 
may include one or more of the following: office space; indoor and outdoor storage of construction 
materials, equipment, and machinery, such as trucks and heavy equipment; and shops for the 
repair of machinery and equipment owned by the operator.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 6 

(49) Dam – An artificial barrier in or across a navigable watercourse which has the primary purpose of 
impounding or diverting water along with the impounded water. A dam includes all appurtenant 
works, such as a dike, canal, or powerhouse.  

(50) Deck – An above-ground, unroofed platform extending from a building and intended for outdoor 
living.  

(51) Development - Any man-made change to improved or unimproved real estate, including but not 
limited to construction of or addition or substantial improvements to buildings, other structures, or 
accessory uses, mining, dredging, filling, grading, paving, excavation or drilling operations, or 
disposition of materials. 

(52) Developers Agreement - An agreement by which the Town and the developer agree in reasonable 
detail as to all of those matters to which the provisions of this Code apply and which does not come 
into effect unless and until an irrevocable letter of credit or other appropriate surety has been 
issued to the Town. 

(53) Driveway - A private route of ingress and egress from any public right-of-way, which provides 
access to one (1) residential dwelling/ unit, commercial building, or property. 

(54) Dwelling – A building or portion thereof that provides living facilities for one or more families, but 
not including hotels, motels or boarding houses. 

(55) Dwelling Unit – One or more rooms physically arranged so as to create an independent 
housekeeping establishment of occupancy by one family or not more than three (3) roomers, which 
shall include complete toilet and kitchen facilities permanently installed. 

(56) Dwelling, One Family - A detached building designed for or occupied exclusively by one family. 
(57) Dwelling, Two Family - A detached or semidetached building designed for and occupied 

exclusively by two families.  
(58) Dwelling, Multi-family - A building or portion thereof designed for and occupied by more than two 

families including tenement houses, row houses, apartment houses and apartment hotels.  
(59) Easement – A non-possessory legal interest a person has in the property of another for a specific 

use. An easement may apply to the entire property or a portion thereof and may be perpetual or 
temporary, expiring after a period of time or after a certain event occurs. A utility easement, for 
example, would allow any person with a right to use the easement to install and maintain utilities 
across, over, or under the subject land. A road easement would likewise allow the installation and 
maintenance of a driveway or roadway along with ancillary utilities.  

(60) Election Campaign Period - In the case of an election for office, the period beginning on the first 
day for circulation of nomination papers by candidates, or the first day on which candidates would 
circulate nomination papers were papers to be required, and ending on the day of the election. In 
the case of a referendum, the period beginning on the day which the question to be voted upon is 
submitted to the electorate and ending on the day on which the referendum is held. 

(61) Electric Vehicle Infrastructure - Structures, machinery, and equipment necessary and integral to 
support a plug-in electric vehicle. 

(62) Electronic Message Display – A type of sign display where the message is created with a number 
of internal lights, such as light emitting diodes (LEDs), and which may be changed at intervals by 
an electronic process.  

(63) Encroachment - Any fill, structure, building, use or development in the floodway. 
(64) Erosion - The detachment and movement of soil, sediment, or rock fragments by water, wind, ice, 

or gravity. 
(65) Essential Services - Services provided by public and private utilities, necessary for the exercise of 

the principal use or service of the principal structure. These services include underground, surface, 
or overhead gas, electrical, steam, water, sanitary sewerage, storm water drainage, and 
communication systems and accessories thereto, such as poles, towers, wires, mains, drains, 
vaults, culverts, laterals, sewers, pipes, catch basins, water storage tanks, conduits, cables, fire 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 7 

alarm boxes, police call boxes, traffic signals, pumps, lift stations, and hydrants, but not including 
buildings. 

(66) Existing Use – Any permitted or conditional use in existence at the time of the adoption of the most 
recent amendment to the Zoning Ordinance. 

(67) Expansion – An increase in the largest number of animal units kept at a livestock facility on at least 
90 days in any 12−month period, consistent with ATCP 51.01(14), Wis. Stats. 

(68) Family - An individual; or 2 or more persons related by blood, marriage, or adoption; or a maximum 
of 5 persons not so related, maintaining a common household in a dwelling unit or lodging unit. 

(69) Farm – All land under common ownership that is primarily devoted to agricultural use. For 
purposes of this definition, land is deemed to be primarily devoted to agricultural use if any of the 
following apply: 
(a) The land produces at least $6,000 in annual gross farm revenues to its owner or renter, 

regardless of whether a majority of the land area is in agricultural use.  
(b) A majority of the land area is in agricultural use. 

(70) Farmstead Retail Outlet – A place where food products are offered for retail that are predominantly 
produced on the farm on which it is located. The term includes wine tasting rooms.  

(71) Farm Acreage – The combined total acreage of all of the following in the base farm tract: 
(a) Farms. 
(b) Open space parcels of more than 10 acres. 

(72) Farm Operator - Any person who owns land and raises crops or livestock on that land or a person 
who rents land to another for agricultural purposes and who lives on the land having day-to-day 
contact with the farm operation or a person who lives on land that he has historically farmed. For 
the purpose of this Chapter, any person who has farmed land for 5 consecutive years is deemed to 
have farmed it historically. 

(73) Farm Products – Agricultural, horticultural, and arboricultural crops. Animals considered within the 
definition of agricultural include livestock, stable animals, Bees, poultry, fur-bearing animals, and 
wildlife or aquatic life.  

(74) Farm Residence – Any of the following structures located on a farm: 
(a) A single-family [or duplex] residence that is the only residential structure on the farm. 
(b) A single-family [or duplex] residence that is occupied by any of the following: 

1. An owner or operator of the farm.  
2. A parent or child of an owner or operator of the farm. 
3. An individual who earns more than 50 percent of his or her gross income from the 

farm. 
(c) A migrant labor camp that is certified under s. 103.92, Wis. Stats. 

(75) Farmers’ Market - The temporary sale of farm products at a site other than where they were grown. 
The sale of farm produce grown on the premises or the sale of not more than 5 bushels per day of 
farm produce grown off the premises is not considered a farmers market. 

(76) Fence, Open - A structure of rails, planks, stakes, strung wire, or similar material erected as an 
enclosure, barrier, or boundary. Open fences are those with more than 50% of their surface area 
open for free passage of light and air. Examples of such fences include barbed wire, chain link, 
picket, and rail fences. 

(77) Fence, Ornamental - A fence intended to decorate, accent, or frame a feature of the landscape. 
Ornamental fences are often used to identify a lot corner or lot line; or frame a driveway, walkway, 
or planting bed. Ornamental fences are those with more than 80% of their surface area open for 
free passage of light and air. Ornamental fences are often of the rail, or wrought iron type. 

(78) Fence, Security - A fence intended to guard property against unauthorized entry, and to protect 
stored goods and products from theft and other unauthorized handling. Security fences usually 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 8 

exceed 6 feet in height, are often made of wrought iron or woven wire, and may incorporate 
additional security features such as barbed wire. 

(79) Fence, Solid - A structure of boards, rails, planks, stakes, slats, or similar material erected as an 
enclosure, barrier, or boundary. Solid fences are those with 50% or less of their surface area open 
for free passage of light and air. Examples of such fences are stockade, board-on-board, board 
and batten, basket weave, and louvered fences. 

(80) Fish Hatchery - The establishment, operation, and maintenance of a facility for the purpose of 
breeding and propagating fish for sale, transfer, or fee fishing pursuant to Ch. 29, Wis. Stats., and 
Wis. Adm. Code NR 19. 

(81) Floodplain – That land which has been or may be covered by floodwater during the regional flood. 
The floodplain includes the floodway and the flood fringe and may include other designated 
floodplain areas for regulatory purposes. 

(82) Floor Area – The total horizontal area contained within the outside perimeter of a building.  
(83) Forestry – The harvesting, thinning, and planting of trees and related forest management activities 

whether for commercial or noncommercial purposes. The term includes temporary skidding yards 
necessary to store and sort logs harvested on the premises. The term does not include on-site 
processing and permanent skidding yards.  

(84) Foster Care and Treatment Foster Home – A place licensed by the state for the care of foster 
children and which is operated by a corporation, child welfare agency, church, or other such entity. 

(85) Frontage - All the property abutting on a road or street. 
(86) Fugitive Dust – The solid airborne particulate matter resulting from any activity conducted on a 

parcel zoned, or used for industrial or commercial purposes.  
(87) Game Farm - The establishment, operation, and maintenance of a game bird or animal farm for the 

purpose of breeding, propagating, killing, and selling of game birds and animals pursuant to Ch. 
29, Wis. Stats., and Wis. Adm. Code NR 16 and 19. 

(88) Garage, Nonresidential – A building intended to house motor vehicles, yard equipment, and/or 
items related to the principal use of the premises.  

(89) Garage, Off-site – A free-standing building intended to house motor vehicles, yard equipment, and 
household items belonging to the people that own the lot on which it is located. 

(90) Garage, Residential – A building intended to house motor vehicles, yard equipment, and household 
items belonging to the people occupying the principal residence on the lot. A residential garage 
may be detached or attached to a building with a residential use. A carport shall be considered to 
be a residential garage.  

(91) Greenhouse – A place where fruit, vegetables, flowers, and other types of plants are grown within 
an enclosed building for commercial purposes, whether using sunlight or artificial lighting. For the 
purpose of this definition, a mushroom farm is considered a greenhouse.  

(92) Gross Farm Revenue – Gross receipts from agricultural uses, less the cost or other basis of 
livestock or other agricultural items purchased for resale which are sold or otherwise disposed of 
during the taxable year. “Gross farm revenue” includes receipts accruing to a renter, but does not 
include rent paid to the landowner. 

(93) Group Daycare Center – A place licensed as a day care by the state where care is provided for 9 
or more children. This use may include outdoor play areas, playhouses, and related recreational 
equipment, such as swings, slides, basketball hoops, and jungle gyms.  

(94) Group Recreation Camp – A place where members of an association or other similar group, which 
operates the premises, and their invited guests may set up tents, campers and trailers of all types, 
and recreational vehicles for camping and sleeping purposes or stay overnight in a lodge, cabin, or 
other similar accommodation. Accessory uses may include a dwelling unit for the manager of the 
camp, sleeping accommodations for resident staff, and one or more buildings to house guest 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 9 

services, administrative offices, recreational facilities, maintenance equipment, supplies, and 
related materials. The term includes youth camps and church camps.  

(95) Hazard – A condition, whether manmade or natural, that presents a tangible danger to the public 
health, safety, and general welfare. 

(96) Hazardous Substance – A material regulated by the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-
Know Act of 1986, 42 USC 1101-11050, as may be amended. 

(97) Hazardous Waste – A waste or combination of wastes that because of its quantity, concentration, 
or physical, chemical, or infectious characteristics, may (1) cause or significantly contribute to an 
increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible or incapacitating reversible illness; or (2) 
pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health or the environment when 
improperly treated, stored, transported, or disposed of or otherwise managed.  

(98) High-water Mark or Elevation - The average annual high water level of a pond, lake, river, stream, 
or flowage usually distinguished by a line where the presence of water is so continuous as to leave 
a distinct mark by erosion, change in, or destruction of vegetation, or other easily recognized 
topographic, geologic, or vegetative characteristics. 

(99) Hobby Farm – A small agricultural holding that is maintained without expectation of being the 
primary source of income. 

(100) Home Occupation, Major – An occupation, profession, enterprise, or similar commercial activity 
that is conducted within a dwelling unit and/or an accessory building and that is compatible in size 
and scope in a residential setting. The term does not include hobbies or similar noncommercial 
activities. 

(101) Home Occupation, Minor – An occupation, profession, enterprise, or similar commercial activity 
that is conducted entirely within a dwelling unit and that is compatible in size and scope in a 
residential setting. The term does not include hobbies or similar noncommercial activities.  

(102) Hospice Care Center – A place licensed by the state that provides palliative and supportive care 
and a place of residence to individuals with terminal illness and provides or arranges for short-term 
inpatient care as needed. 

(103) Hotel - A building in which lodging, with or without meals, is offered to transient guests for 
compensation and in which there are more than 5 sleeping rooms with no cooking facilities in any 
individual room or apartment. 

(104) Household Livestock – A place where livestock are kept for the use and enjoyment of those living 
on the premises, but not for commercial purposes. The sale of an animal as part of a 4-H or similar 
educational project shall not be considered a commercial purpose.  

(105) Hunting Preserve – A place where the public or those with a membership can, for a fee or other 
consideration, hunt game animals not confined within a fenced enclosure. This use may include 
one or more buildings and other structures directly related to operation of this use, such as an 
office, structures and enclosures for rearing game animals for hunting purposes, and buildings for 
housing maintenance equipment, supplies, and related materials. The term does not include lands 
leased for private, individual use.  

(106) Impervious Surface – The portion of a lot that substantially reduces or prevents the infiltration of 
stormwater into the ground. It includes areas of compacted soil, buildings, and nonporous surfaces 
such as sidewalks, parking lots, driveways, and similar features.  

(107) Junk Yard - A lot, land, building, or structure, or part thereof used primarily for the collecting, 
storage, and/or sale of waste paper, rags, scrap metal, or discarded material or for the collecting, 
dismantling, storage, and salvaging of machinery or vehicles not in running condition and for sale 
of parts therefrom. 

(108) Kennel, Commercial – A place where 4 or more dogs or other similar domesticated animals over 6 
months of age are housed for the purpose of boarding, breeding, training, or sale. The term 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 10 

includes boarding kennels, dog motels, and dog training centers. The term does not include animal 
hospitals, animal grooming parlors, or pet shops. 

(109) Kennel, Hobby – In the A-1 or A-2 zoning districts, a place where 6 or more dogs or other 
domesticated animals over 6 months of age are housed. In all other zoning districts, a place where 
4 or more dogs or other domesticated animals over 6 months of age are housed. 

(110) Kennel, Private – In the A-1 or A-2 zoning districts, a place where no more than 5 dogs or other 
domesticated animals over 6 months of age are housed. In all other zoning districts, a place where 
no more than 3 dogs or other domesticated animals over 6 months of age are housed.  

(111) Land – The earth, water, and air, above, below, or on the surface. 
(112) Landmark - Any structure or improvement which has a special character or special historic interest 

or value as part of the development, heritage or cultural characteristics of the community, State, or 
nation and which has been designated as a landmark pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter. 

(113) Land Owner or Landowners- Any person holding title to or having an interest in land. 
(114) Land Use – As the context indicates: 

(a) The development that has occurred on the land. 
(b) Development that is proposed for the land. 
(c) The use permitted for the land under this chapter. 

(115) Land Use, Accessory – A land use that is incidental and subordinate to and customarily found with 
a principal land use. 

(116) Land use, Conditional – A land use that would not be appropriate generally or without restriction 
throughout a specified area, but if controlled as to the number, area, location, or relation to the 
surrounding properties by the imposition of appropriate conditions, could promote the public health, 
safety, or general welfare. 

(117) Land Use, Permitted – A land use that is allowed throughout a specified area. Land uses permitted 
by right may be reviewed through a site review process and shall otherwise be reviewed to ensure 
that all provisions of local, state, and federal regulations are met. 

(118) Land Use, Principal – The dominant land use or uses of a parcel of land. 
(119) Land Use, Temporary – A land use which is on a parcel of land for a limited and specified period of 

time.  
(120) Land User - Any person operating, leasing, renting, or having made other arrangements with the 

landowner by which the landowner authorizes use of his land. 
(121) Landmark Site - Any parcel of land of historical significance due to substantial value in tracing the 

history of aboriginal man, or upon which a historic event has occurred, and, which has been 
designated as a landmark site pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter; or a parcel of land, or part 
thereof, on which is located a landmark and any abutting parcel, or part thereof, used as and 
constituting part of the premises on which the landmark is situated. 

(122) Landscaping Plan – A drawing of a subject property that shows existing and/or proposed 
landscaping elements and other features as required by this chapter. Depending on the nature of 
the development project, the content of a landscaping plan can be shown on a site plan. 

(123) Livestock. 
(a) General - Bovine animals, equine animals, goats, poultry, sheep, swine, farm-raised deer, 

farm-raised game birds, camelids, ratites, and farm-raised fish. 
(b) Under ATCP-51, Wis. Stats. - Domestic animals traditionally used in the State of Wisconsin in 

the production of food, fiber or other animal products. Livestock includes cattle, swine, poultry, 
sheep and goats. Livestock does not include equine animals, bison, farm−raised deer, fish, 
captive game birds, ratites, camelids or mink. 

(124) Livestock Facility – A feedlot, dairy farm or other operation where livestock are or will be fed, 
confined, maintained or stabled for a total of 45 days or more in any 12–month period, consistent 
with ATCP 51.01(19), Wis. Stats. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 11 

(125) Livestock Structure – A building or other structure used to house or feed livestock, to confine 
livestock for milking, to confine livestock for feeding other than grazing, to store livestock feed, or to 
collect or store waste generated at a livestock facility. 

(126) Live/work unit - A single unit (e.g., studio, loft, or one bedroom) consisting of both a commercial, 
light manufacturing, or office use and a residential component that is occupied by the same 
resident. The live/work unit shall be the primary dwelling of the occupant. Live/work units shall not 
be permissible in residential zoning districts. 

(127) Loading Area – An off-street area set aside for the purpose of unloading or loading a motor vehicle, 
trailer, or truck.  

(128) Lodging House - A building other than a hotel where lodging only is provided for compensation for 
three or more persons not members of the family.  

(129) Lot (and Zoning Lot) – A single property, parcel, unit, tract, plot or otherwise designated to be used, 
as a unit under single ownership or control, and which may be occupied by 1 or more structures 
and the accessory structures, or uses customarily incidental to it, including such open spaces as 
are arranged and designed to be used in connection with such structure. A "zoning lot" may or may 
not coincide with a lot of record. 

(130) Lot, Corner – A lot situated at the junction of and fronting on two or more streets. A lot abutting on 
a curved street shall be considered a corner lot if straight lines drawn from the foremost points of 
the side lot lines to the foremost point of the lot meet at an interior angle of less than 135 degrees. 

(131) Lot, Flag – A lot with access provided by a corridor from a street to the bulk of the lot. 
(132) Lot, Interior – A lot that abuts only one street. 
(133) Lot, Through – A lot having a frontage on two streets that are more or less parallel to one another. 
(134) Lot Area – As the context would indicate, lot area can refer to the minimum required area, actual 

area, or proposed area. 
(135) Lot Depth - The average distance from the front to the rear lot lines measured in the general 

direction of the side lot lines. 
(136) Lot Frontage – The linear distance a lot abuts on a street right-of-way or other similar feature. As 

the context would indicate, lot frontage can refer to the minimum required distance, actual distance, 
or proposed distance. 

(137) Lot Line – See property boundary line. 
(138) Lot Line, Front – A property boundary line described for each of the following types of lots: 

(a) Interior lot, the property boundary line abutting a street; or, on a corner lot, the shorter property 
boundary line abutting a street. 

(b) Through lot, the property boundary line abutting the street providing the primary access to the 
lot. 

(c) Flag lot, the interior property boundary line most parallel to and nearest the street from which 
access is obtained. 

(139) Lot Line, Rear – A property boundary line that does not intersect a front lot line and that is most 
distant from and most closely parallel to the front lot line. 

(140) Lot Line, Side - A property boundary line that is not a front or rear lot line. 
(141) Lot Width - The distance between sides of the lot at the building line. In the case of a shoreland lot, 

the lot width is the width of the lot at both the building line and the waterline. 
(142) Low-impact Stormwater Design (or Low Impact Development) – A design approach to stormwater 

management intended to mimic the predevelopment hydrology of a site. Initial site design 
strategies include minimizing impervious surfaces and the integration of existing wetlands, riparian 
areas, and other environmentally sensitive natural resources into the overall site design. Manmade 
features, generally distributed throughout the site, are also used to store, infiltrate, evaporate, and 
detain stormwater runoff. Examples of such features include bios wales, rain gardens, and 
pervious surfaces. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 12 

(143) Manufactured Home – A factory-built, single-family structure that is manufactured in compliance 
with the National Manufactured Housing Construction and Safety Standards Act of 1974 (as 
evidenced by the presence of a manufacturer’s certification label on the unit. 

(144) Migrant Labor Camp – Living quarters under the control and supervision of any person for any 
migrant worker or any other person who is not related by blood, marriage, or adoption to his or her 
employer and who occasionally or habitually leaves an established place of residence to travel to 
another locality to accept seasonal employment in the planting, cultivating, raising, harvesting, 
handling, drying, packing, packaging, processing, freezing, grading, or storing of any agricultural or 
horticultural commodity in its unmanufactured state. The term does not include a premises 
occupied by the employer as a personal residence and by no more than two migrant workers or 
any accommodation subject to chapter 50 of the Wisconsin Statutes.  

(145) Migrant Worker – This term shall have the meaning under s. 103.90(5), Wis. Stats.  
(146) Mixed-use Housing – One or more dwelling units located in a building, commonly on the second 

floor, that also houses a commercial land use, such as a retail use or a professional office.  
(147) Mobile Home - That which is, or was as originally constructed, designed to be transported by any 

motor vehicle upon a public highway, and designed, equipped and used primarily for sleeping, 
eating and living quarters, or is intended to be so used; including any additions, attachments, 
annexes, foundations and appurtenances. In the purpose of this Chapter, a mobile home shall 
remain classified as a mobile home regardless of whether its wheels or other rolling devices have 
been removed or not, and even though assessable value of additions, attachments, annexes, 
foundations and appurtenances or other added investments to the mobile home equal or exceed 
50% of the assessable value of the mobile home. 

(148) Mobile Home Pad – The area of a mobile home space that has been prepared for the placement of 
a mobile home or a manufactured home. 

(149) Mobile Home Park - Any plot or tract of ground upon which two or more mobile homes, occupied 
for dwelling or sleeping purposes are located, regardless of whether or not a charge is made for 
such accommodations. 

(150) Mobile Home Space – A designated area of a mobile home park that is designed to accommodate 
either one manufactured home or one mobile home for exclusive use of the occupants. 

(151) Modular Home – A dwelling unit that meets local building codes and which was constructed off site 
in a factory as separate modules which are joined together and set on a permanent foundation. 

(152) Motel - A building or group of buildings containing rooms which are offered for compensation for 
the temporary accommodations of transients. 

(153) Mulch – A nonliving organic or inorganic material customarily used in landscape design to retard 
erosion, retain soil moisture, maintain even soil temperature, control weeds, and/or enrich the soil. 
Examples of materials often used include tree bark, wood chips, and decorative stones. 

(154) Nonconforming Building – A building that at the time of construction conformed to existing 
regulations including size, location, and other dimensional standards, but is now inconsistent with 
this chapter.  

(155) Nonconforming Lot – A lot or parcel existing at the time of the passage of this Chapter or 
amendments which does not conform to the regulations of this Chapter or amendments thereto. 

(156) Nonconforming Structure – A structure that at the time of construction or placement conformed to 
existing regulations including size, location, and other dimensional standards, but is now 
inconsistent with this chapter.  

(157) Nonconforming Use - A building or premises lawfully used or occupied at the time of the passage 
of this Chapter or amendments, which use, or occupancy does not conform to the regulations of 
this Chapter or amendments thereto. 

(158) Nonfarm Residence – Any residence other than a farm residence. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 13 

(159) Nonfarm Residential Acreage – The combined total acreage of all parcels on which nonfarm 
residences are located, all parcels on which the Town of Winchester has approved nonfarm 
residences, all parcels of 10 acres or less that do not qualify as farms, and the parcel to which the 
conditional use permit application pertains. If a residence is located or proposed to be located on 
an undivided farm, but does not qualify as a farm residence, the size of the residential parcel is 
deemed to be 10 acres. 

(160) Nonmetallic Mineral – A product, commodity, or material consisting principally of naturally 
occurring, organic or inorganic, nonmetallic, nonrenewable material. Nonmetallic minerals include 
stone, sand, gravel, asbestos, beryl, diamond, clay, coal, feldspar, peat, talc, and topsoil. 

(161) Nursing Home – A place where 5 or more persons who are not related to the operator or 
administrator reside, receive care or treatment and, because of their mental or physical condition, 
require 24-hour nursing services, including limited nursing care, intermediate level nursing care, 
and skilled nursing services. The term does not include: 
(a) A convent or facility owned or operated exclusively by and for members of a religious order 

that provides reception and care or treatment of an individual. 
(b) A hospice as defined in state law. 
(c) A residential care apartment complex as defined in state law. 

(162) Occupancy – The purpose for which a building, or part thereof, is used or intended to be used.  
(163) Outdoor Furnace – An apparatus designed to burn solid or liquid combustible materials (e.g., corn, 

earn corn, wood, wood pellets, coal, and fuel oil) to produce heat and/or heat water for a building in 
which it is not located.  

(164) Overlay District - Overlay districts provide for the possibility of superimposing certain additional 
requirements upon a basic zoning district without disturbing the requirements of the basic district. 
In the instance of conflicting requirements, the more strict of the conflicting requirement shall apply. 

(165) Overnight Lodging – A place where individual guest rooms with private bathrooms are offered to 
transient guests for rent. This use may also include recreational/fitness rooms and a food service 
area for the exclusive use of guests and banquet facilities for meetings and other gatherings. The 
term includes hotels and motels but does not include bed and breakfasts.  

(166) Parking Space – An area permanently reserved and maintained for the parking of one motor 
vehicle which meets the dimensional standards of this chapter. 

(167) Patio – An at-grade surfaced area intended for outdoor living that may be next to a building or 
separated from a building. 

(168) Permanent Foundation – A continuous foundation wall at the perimeter of a building.  
(169) Person – An individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company (LLC), trust, estate or 

other legal entity. 
(170) Pier (see also wharf) – A structure extending into navigable waters from the shore with water on 

both sides, that is built or maintained for the purpose of providing a berth for watercraft or for 
loading or unloading cargo or passengers onto or from watercraft. Such a structure may include a 
boat shelter which is removed seasonally. Such a structure may include a boat hoist or boat lift, 
and the hoist or lift may be permanent or may be removed seasonally. 

(171) Planned Unit Development - The Planned Unit Development (PUD) is intended to permit 
developments that will, over a period of time, be enhanced by coordinated area site planning, 
diversified location of structures, diversified building types, and/or mixing of compatible uses. Such 
developments are intended to provide a safe and efficient system for pedestrian and vehicle traffic; 
to provide attractive recreation and open spaces as integral parts of the developments; to enable 
economic design in the location of public and private utilities and community facilities; and to 
ensure adequate standards of construction and planning. The PUD will allow for flexibility and 
overall development design with benefits from such design flexibility intended to be derived by both 
the developer and the community, while at the same time maintaining insofar as possible the land 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 14 

use density and other standards or use requirements set forth in the underlying basic zoning 
district. All provisions for PUD shall be complied with as stated in the Zoning Code. 

(172) Prime Farmland – All of the following: 
(a) An area with a Class I or Class II land capability classification as identified by the Natural 

Resources Conservation Service of the United States Department of Agriculture.  
(b) Land, other than land described in par. (a), which is identified as prime farmland in the 

county’s certified farmland preservation plan. 
(173) Principal Use or Structure - The main use of land or structures as distinguished from a secondary 

or accessory use. 
(174) Professional Office (and Professional Services) - The office of a doctor, practitioner, dentist, 

minister, architect, landscape architect, professional engineer, lawyer, author, musician, beauty 
parlor or barbershop or other recognized profession. 

(175) Property Boundary Line – A line dividing one parcel of land from another.  
(176) Protected Farmland – Land that is any of the following: 

(a) Located in a farmland preservation zoning district certified under ch. 91, Wis. Stats. or 
subsequent stats. 

(b) Covered by a farmland preservation agreement under ch. 91, Wis. Stats. or subsequent stats. 
(c) Covered by an agricultural conservation easement under s. 93.73, Wis. Stats. or subsequent 

stats. 
(d) Otherwise legally protected from nonagricultural development. 

(177) Recreational Vehicle – A vehicular type unit primarily designed as a temporary living quarters for 
recreational, camping, or travel use that either has its own motor power or is mounted on or drawn 
by another vehicle. 

(178) Relocatable Building – A portable building or enclosed trailer temporarily placed on a parcel that 
may be used in conjunction with the principal use of the property. For example, relocatable 
buildings are used to house students during a construction project or accommodate enrollment in 
excess of the principal building’s design capacity. A mobile home or manufactured home is not 
considered a relocatable building.  

(179) Resort – A place with lodging facilities and on-site amenities primarily intended for the use of 
overnight guests. Guest rooms may be located in one or more buildings and may include kitchen 
facilities. In addition to lodging facilities and recreational amenities, such as golf, horseback riding, 
or lake/beach access, a resort may also include a lodge or other gathering place for guests, dining 
facilities, administrative facilities, and maintenance and storage facilities.  

(180) Retirement Home – A place where individuals, generally 62 years of age or older, may occupy 
independent dwelling units. The units may be rented or owned as in a condominium. This use may 
include limited on-site commercial and medical facilities for the exclusive use of residents.  

(181) Right-of-Way – A strip of land dedicated or acquired for public use.  
(182) Roadside Stand - A structure not permanently fixed to the ground that is readily removable in its 

entirety covered or uncovered and not wholly enclosed, and used solely for the sale of farm 
products produced on the premises.  

(183) Sanitary Sewer - A constructed conduit for the collection and carrying of liquid and solid sewage 
wastes from 2 or more premises, other than storm water, to a sewage treatment plant, and which is 
approved by the Wisconsin Division of Environmental Protection, Department of Natural 
Resources. 

(184) Screen – A feature, such as a wall, fence, hedge, berm, or similar feature used to shield or obscure 
elements of a development from adjacent sites. 

(185) Seasonal Product Sales – An outdoor area where merchandise typically associated with a 
seasonal holiday or festival is displayed and offered for sale at retail immediately before the event. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 15 

Examples of such merchandise include Christmas trees and wreaths for Christmas and pumpkins 
for Halloween.  

(186) Setback - Lines established along highways at specified distances from the centerline, which 
permitted buildings or structures shall be set back of, or outside of, and within which they may not 
be placed except as hereinafter provided. "Within the setback lines" means between the setback 
line and the highway. 

(187) Shorelands - Those lands lying within 1,000 feet from a lake or pond of flowage, and 300 feet from 
a river or stream or to the landward side of the floodplain, from the ordinary high water mark of 
navigable waters, whichever distance is greater. Shorelands shall not include those lands adjacent 
to farm drainage ditches where such lands are not adjacent to a navigable stream or river, those 
parts of such drainage ditches adjacent to such lands were non-navigable streams before ditching 
or had no previous stream history, and such lands are maintained in nonstructural agricultural use. 

(188) Sign - Any structure or device for visual communication that is used for the purpose of bringing the 
subject thereof to the attention of the public, but not including any flag, badge, or insignia of any 
government or governmental agency, or any civic, charitable, religious, patriotic, fraternal or similar 
organization, or any sign indicating address. Each display surface of a sign shall be considered a 
sign.  

(189) Sign, Directional - A sign erected for the purpose of directing persons to a place of business, 
recreation or public building, school or church.  

(190) Site-built Home – A dwelling unit that meets the Wisconsin Uniform Dwelling Code standards and 
which was largely constructed on site. Also known as a "conventional home" or "stick-built home.”  

(191) Site Plan – A drawing of a subject property that shows existing and proposed conditions and other 
features required by this chapter. 

(192) Solar Energy System, Building Mounted – An installation of equipment mounted on a building or 
incorporated into the exterior building materials that uses sunlight to produce electricity or provide 
heat or water to a building. 

(193) Solar Energy System, Free-standing – An installation of equipment mounted on the ground that 
uses sunlight to produce electricity or provide heat or hot water to a building.  

(194) Stable - Stable shall have the same meaning as garage, one draft animal being considered the 
equivalent of one self-propelled vehicle.  

(195) Stormwater – Water, and the materials it carries, that results from a rainfall event or melting snow 
or ice. 

(196) Stormwater Management Facility – A natural or manmade feature that collects, conveys, channels, 
holds, inhibits, or diverts the movement of stormwater.  

(197) Stream – A natural body of running water flowing continuously or intermittently in a channel on or 
below the surface of the ground.  

(198) Street - All property dedicated or intended for public or private street purposes or subject to public 
easements therefor and 21 feet or more in width. 

(199) Street Line - A dividing line between a lot, tract or parcel of land and a contiguous street.  
(200) Structural Alteration – Any change in a supporting member of a structure such as foundation, 

bearing wall, column, beam or girder, footing, or pile, or any substantial change in the roof structure 
or in an exterior wall. 

(201) Structure - Anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires a more or less permanent 
location on or in the ground. Includes but is not limited to objects such as buildings, factories, 
sheds, cabins, in-ground pools, and wells. 

(202) Structure, Temporary – A structure which is built of such materials and in such a way that it would 
commonly be expected to have a relatively short useful life, or is built for a purpose that would 
commonly be expected to be relatively short-term and not to be habitable. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 16 

(203) Substandard Lot – A lot, with or without a structure, having a lesser dimension or area, or both, 
than what is required for the zoning district in which it is located. 

(204) Temporary Shelter – A place where abuse victims or homeless individuals are temporary housed 
and provided with ancillary services.  

(205) Townhouse – A building containing 3 or more dwelling units that are separated by a party wall that 
extends from the ground to the roof and each of the units are located on a separate lot and have a 
separate entrance. 

(206) Traffic Lane - A strip of roadway intended to accommodate a single line of moving vehicles. 
(207) Twin Home – A building containing 2 dwelling units that are separated by a party wall that extends 

from the ground to the roof and each of the units are located on a separate lot and have a separate 
entrance. 

(208) Unspecified Public Use – A place, whether in public or private ownership, that is used or intended 
for a public purpose as determined by the zoning administrator.  

(209) Utilities - Public and private facilities such as water wells, water and sewage pumping stations, 
water storage tanks, power and communication transmission lines, electrical power substations, 
static transformer stations, telephone and telegraph exchanges, microwave radio relays, and gas 
regulation stations, but not including sewage disposal plants, municipal incinerators, warehouses, 
shops, and storage yards. 

(210) Utility Installation, Major – A place, building and/or structure, or portion thereof, whether public or 
private, used or is intended for providing basic infrastructure or utility services and which could 
potentially have a moderate to high impact on neighboring property. The term includes pipeline 
pumping stations, sewage treatment plants, electric substations, and water towers. 

(211) Utility Installation, Minor – A utility installation generally having low impact on neighboring property. 
The term includes public water system wells, without a tower; below ground sewer lift stations; and 
stormwater pumping stations. The term does not include utility cabinets, which are classified as an 
accessory use. 

(212) Utility Maintenance Yard – A place where a public or private entity maintains administrative offices, 
equipment, and supplies necessary for maintaining the infrastructure it provides.  

(213) Variance - An authorization granted by the Board of Zoning Appeals to construct, alter, or use a 
building or structure in a manner that deviates from the dimensional standards of this Chapter. 

(214) Veterinary Clinic, General – A place where medical services for small and large animals, such as 
horses and livestock, are offered. This use may include office space, medical labs, appurtenant 
facilities, and indoor and outdoor enclosures for animals under the immediate medical care of a 
veterinarian.  

(215) Veterinary Clinic, Small Animal – A place where medical services for small household animals are 
offered. This use may include office space, medical labs, appurtenant facilities, and indoor 
enclosures for animals under the immediate medical care of a veterinarian. The term includes pet 
clinics, dog and cat hospitals, and animal hospitals.  

(216) Wetland – An area that is inundated or saturated by surface or ground water at a frequency and 
duration sufficient to support, and under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of 
vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions and otherwise meets the definition 
as identified by the US Army Corps of Engineers and/or Wisconsin Department of Natural 
Resources. 

(217) Wharf (see also Pier) – A structure in navigable waters extending along the shore and generally 
connected with the uplands throughout its length, built or maintained for the purpose of providing a 
berth for watercraft or for loading or unloading cargo or passengers onto or from watercraft. Such a 
structure may include a boat hoist or boat lift, and the hoist or lift may be permanent or may be 
removed. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 17 

(218) Wildlife Park – A place where the public can, for a fee or other consideration, view free-roaming 
wildlife from a motor vehicle. This use may include one or more buildings and other structures 
directly related to operation of this use, such as an office, structures and enclosures for rearing wild 
animals, and buildings for housing maintenance equipment, supplies, and related materials.  

(219) Wind Test Tower – A tower on which equipment is attached that measures parameters needed to 
assess the site’s suitability for a wind energy system.  

(220) Working Farm – A farm whose agricultural land and buildings are in active use for crop production 
and/or the raising of livestock. 

(221) Yard - An open space, other than a court, on the same lot with a structure, lying between the 
structure and the nearest lot line, and 
is unoccupied and unobstructed from 
the surface of the ground upward 
except as may be specifically 
provided by the regulations and 
standards herein. 

(222) Yard, Rear - A yard extending the full 
width of a lot and situated between 
the rear lot line and the nearest line of 
a structure located on said lot (see illustration).  

(223) Yard, Side - A yard situated between the side lot line and the nearest line of a structure located on 
said lot and extending from the rear line of the front yard to the front line of the rear yard (see 
illustration). 

(224) Yard, street - A yard extending the full width of a lot and situated between the front lot line and the 
nearest line of a structure located on said lot. Where a lot is located such that its rear and front lot 
lines each abut a street right-of-way line both such yards shall be classified as front yards. Every 
yard of a corner lot facing a street right-of-way line shall be classified as a front yard (see 
illustration). 

(225) Yard Sale – A temporary event where used household items are offered for sale.  
(226) Zoning Administrator – The individual so designated by the Plan Commission to perform those 

duties as enumerated in this chapter and as authorized by state law.  
(227) Zoning Permit – A written permit issued for a specified parcel of land prior to the issuance of a 

building permit to ensure that the proposed use is consistent with the zoning requirements of the 
zoning district in which it is to be located.  

 
17.10 General Use Provisions. 
 

(1) The use and height of buildings hereafter erected, converted, enlarged or structurally altered and 
the use of any land shall be in compliance with the regulations established herein for the district in 
which such land or building is located. 

(2) The existing lawful use of a building or premises at the time of the enactment or amendment of this 
Chapter may be continued although such use does not conform with the regulations for the district 
in which it is located, but such nonconforming use shall not be extended. Nonconforming mobile 
homes shall not be moved, relocated or placed unless in conformity with this Chapter.  

(3) If no structural alterations are made, a nonconforming use of a building may be changed to another 
nonconforming use of the same or a more restrictive classification. Whenever a nonconforming use 
has been changed to a more restrictive nonconforming use or a conforming use, such use shall not 
thereafter be changed to a less restrictive use.  

 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 18 

(4) If a nonconforming use of a building or premises is discontinued for a period of 12 months, any 
future use of the building or premises shall conform to the regulations for the district in which it is 
located.  

(5) When a nonconforming mobile home or a building containing a nonconforming use is damaged by 
fire, explosion, or act of God to the extent of more than 50% of its current value, as determined by 
the local assessor, it shall not be restored except in conformity with the regulations of the district in 
which it is located. The total structural repairs or alterations in any nonconforming use shall not 
during its life exceed 50% of the value of the building at the time of its becoming a nonconforming 
use unless permanently changed to a conforming use.  

(6) Accessory Buildings in Non-Agricultural Zoning Districts. 
(a) Accessory buildings in Non-Agricultural Zoning Districts are not permissible until 

the associated principal structure is present or under construction, except that one 
accessory building may be permitted prior to the erection of a principal structure provided 
the following requirements are met: 

1. The floor area of the accessory building shall not exceed 120 square feet. 
2. The total height of the accessory building shall not exceed 8 feet 6 inches 

as measured from the grade elevation to the highest point on the roof. 
3. There shall be no patio doors or other glazing in the building except for one window 

per wall, or two skylights in the roof; said window not to exceed four square feet, 
skylight glazing not to exceed 4 square feet per skylight. If windows or skylights are 
desired the building shall be constructed utilizing the option of - 433 windows in 
walls or skylights in the roof system, but not both nor a combination thereof. 

4. Not more than one entrance door, not to exceed six feet in width, shall be 
permitted. 

5. There shall be no water service, sanitary waste disposal, or electricity connected to 
the accessory building. 

6. Living Quarters Prohibited. Accessory structures shall not contain living quarters. 
(7) Accessory Buildings in Street yards in Agricultural Zoning Districts. 

(a) A-1 Agribusiness District and A-2 General Agricultural District. 
1. Accessory buildings are permitted in the street yard in the A-1 and A-2 Districts 

provided that the accessory building meets the street yard setback as defined in 
Section 17.30 and 17.31 of this Chapter. 

(8) Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed carports over 
two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential districts in the Town of 
Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and truss framing with metal roof and 
siding. 

 
17.11 General Yard and Space Provisions. 
 

(1) No lot area shall be so reduced that the yards and open spaces shall be smaller than is required by 
this Chapter, nor shall the density of population be increased in any manner except in conformity 
with the area regulations hereby established for the district in which a building or premises is 
located.  

(2) No part of a yard or other open space provided about any building for the purpose of complying 
with the provisions of this Chapter shall be included as a part of a yard or other open space 
required for another building.  

(3) Every structure hereafter erected, converted, enlarged or structurally altered shall be located on a 
lot and in no case, shall there be more than one principal structure on one lot.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 19 

(4) Every part of a required yard in a residential zoning district shall be open to the sky unobstructed, 
except the accessory buildings in a rear yard and side yard, and the ordinary projections of sills, 
belt courses, cornices and ornamental features projecting not more than 24 inches.  

(5) Any side yard or rear yard abutting a district boundary line shall have a minimum width and depth 
in the less restricted district equal to the average of the required minimum widths and depths for 
such yards and courts in the two districts which abut the district boundary line.  

(6) No alterations to any building, except uncovered steps, shall project into the front yard established 
at the time of the original construction of such building beyond a line connecting the nearest points 
on the setback lines of the next existing buildings on each side of such building.  

(7) Where a housing project consisting of a group of 2 or more buildings containing 4 or more dwelling 
units is to be constructed on a site not subdivided into customary lots and streets, or where an 
existing lot and street layout make it impractical to apply the requirements of this Chapter to the 
individual building units, the Board of Appeals may approve a development plan provided it 
complies with the regulations of this Chapter as applied to the whole plat.  

(8) Garage lots. Any garage lot that existed prior to the adoption of this Chapter shall be designated a 
permitted use. Upon adoption of this Chapter no additional garage lots shall be allowed in the 
Town of Winchester. 

(9) Bufferyards and Landscaping. Bufferyards and landscaping shall be consistent with the Town of 
Winchester ‘Guidelines for Bufferyards and Landscaping.’ 

 
17.12 Effective Date. The effective date of this Chapter is April 30, 2013; and as certified by DATCP on January 

14, 2014; and as subsequently amended from time to time. 
 

(1) Nothing herein contained shall require any change in the plans, construction, size or designated 
use of any building or part thereof the construction of which shall have been started prior to the 
effective date of this Chapter. 

 
17.13 Exceptions. 
 

(1) The regulations contained herein relating to the heights of buildings and the size of yards and other 
open spaces shall be subject to the following exceptions: 
(a) Churches, schools, hospitals, sanatoriums, and other public and quasi-public buildings may be 

erected to a height not exceeding 65 feet nor 5 stories, provided the front, side and rear yards 
required in the district in which such buildings are to be located are each increased at least 1 
foot for each foot of additional building height above the height limit otherwise established for 
the district in which such building is to be located.  

(b) Chimneys, cooling towers, elevator bulkheads, fire towers, silos, monuments, penthouses, 
stacks, scenery lofts, tanks, water towers, ornamental towers, spires, wireless, television or 
broadcasting towers, masts or aerials, telephone, telegraph and power poles and lines, micro-
wave radio relay structures, and necessary mechanical appurtenances are hereby excepted 
from the height regulations of this Chapter and may be erected in accordance with the other 
regulations or Chapters of the Town of Winchester. 

(c) Where a lot abuts on 2 or more streets or alleys having different average established grades, 
the higher of such grades shall control only for a depth of 120 feet from the line of the higher 
average established grade.  

(d) Buildings on through lots and extending from street to street may waive the requirements for a 
rear yard by furnishing an equivalent open space on the same lot in lieu of the required rear 
yard provided that the setback requirements on both streets is complied with.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 20 

(e) Where a lot has an area less than the minimum number of square feet per family required for 
the district in which it is located and was of record as such at the time of passage of this 
Chapter, such lot may be occupied by 1 family.  

(f) Where an accessory building is a part of the main building or is substantially attached thereto, 
the side yard and rear yard regulations applicable to the main building shall be applied to the 
accessory building.  

(g) Open or enclosed fire escapes and fire towers may project into a required yard not more than 
5 feet provided they are so located as not to obstruct light and ventilation. 

 
17.14 Code Compliance and Permits. No building permit or certificate of occupancy shall be issued by the 

Building Inspector for any lot which does not comply with all the regulations and standards of this Chapter.  
 
17.15 Road Design Standards and Dedication. Any new road constructed as part of a residential development 

or similar development in the Town shall conform and comply in all respects with the following standards: 
 

(1) No Town road will be accepted by dedication unless the person desiring to dedicate to the Town 
that said road shall have first obtained the approval of the Town Board of the points of access to 
existing Town roads and shall have improved the said roadway to the grade and road base 
requirements of the Board and shall have provided documentation that the roadways to be 
dedicated are free from liens, encumbrances of other impairments to clear title of the property. 

(2) The liability for accident or injury occurring on any proposed roadway shall be the liability of the 
owner until dedication is completed and the Town Board unconditionally accepts the road. 

(3) Failure to obtain and comply with Town Board requirements shall constitute basis for refusal to 
accept said dedication. The Town will not maintain Town roads until dedication is completed and 
accepted by the Town and the first road construction phase is conditionally accepted by the Town 
Board. No home construction shall be commenced until the road is conditionally approved and 
accepted by the Town. 

(4) Streetlight Installation. (To be agreed upon by the Town Board and the Developer). 
(a) Streetlights, if desired by the Developer, shall be installed in accordance with the Town of 

Winchester street lighting policy. 
(b) The cost of installation shall be paid by the Developer in accordance with the procedures listed 

under new street construction, as adopted by the Town Board. 
(5) The Town public roads and streets shall be installed by private construction contract (as more fully 

described below). 
(6) Private construction of all new Town roads and streets shall be as follows: 

(a) Prior to the private construction of any Town road or street in the Town of Winchester, the 
Developer shall enter into a Roadway Development Agreement (hereinafter referred to as 
“Agreement” in this section) with the Town. The Agreement shall be established by the Town 
Board, by resolution, and the content and form of the Agreement shall be modified on a case-
by-case basis at the sole discretion of the Town Board. The Agreement shall be approved by 
the Town prior to the commencement of construction of the street or road. The Agreement 
shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following: 
1. The Developer shall provide a financial guarantee to the Town to pay for the cost of any 

and all phase(s) of street construction the Developer intends to complete pursuant to the 
Agreement. The financial guarantee shall be approved by the Town prior to the 
commencement of any construction of any portion of the street or road. The financial 
guarantee to the Town shall be provided in any of the following forms: 
a. Irrevocable letter of credit. 
b. Escrowed funds. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 21 

2. The financial guarantee described above shall be in an amount sufficient to pay for the 
entire construction costs of the road and/or street as determined by the Town. 

3. The Developer shall provide documentation that the portion of any roadways being 
dedicated as public right-of-way are or will be, at the time of dedication, free from all liens 
or encumbrances or other impairment to clear title of the property. 

4. The Developer has completed some construction as defined in Section (6)(a) of the 
Agreement. Further provisions concerning the written application to the Town shall be as 
follows: 
a. The Town agrees to accept the grades of the existing gravel and final grades shall be 

constructed with a uniform 3” asphalt pavement. 
b. The Developer shall pay the entire cost of the construction inspection, observation 

and review of the plan as described herein. Specifically, the Developer shall pay the 
Town costs for plan review, and the review of the following: construction and 
pavement installation. 

c. The Developer shall pay for all fees for submittal of the plans as described herein as 
set forth in the Town Fee Schedule on file with the Town. 

d. The Developer shall pay the total project costs. Total project costs shall consist of 
construction costs through and including chip sealing, asphalt, engineering, 
administrative, and legal fees applicable to the project and costs related to the 
construction of the roadway, as required, with said payments being made directly to 
the appropriate party (with copies verifying payment provided to the Town). Any and 
all costs incurred by the Town for the roadway construction, including engineering, 
administrative, and legal fees, shall be billed by the Town to the Developer. 

(b) The private construction of all Town roads as described herein shall comply with all ordinance 
requirements and resolution requirements of the Town. 

(c) The road shall be constructed as described in the Agreement. The Developer shall then be 
required to construct the road in conformity with all Town ordinances and resolutions as 
described herein. The Developer agrees to accept full liability for premature failure of the 
asphaltic paving. Premature failure is defined as displacement or breakup of asphaltic 
pavement within three (3) years of final paving. 

(d) If the actual construction costs exceed the financial guarantee to the Town (as described 
above), the difference shall be made up in either of the following ways: 
1. On or before thirty (30) days from the date of notice from the Town to the Developer of a 

shortfall, the Developer shall provide an increase of financial guarantee to cover the 
increased costs; or, 

2. In the event the Developer does not provide the increased financial guarantee described 
above, then the increased cost amount shall be placed on the tax roll as a special 
assessment, with said assessment being split equally against all lots within the affected 
subdivision. 

(e) During the course of construction, the Town’s engineer shall inspect the asphalt installation 
and report the results of this inspection to the Town and Developer. After the asphalt has been 
satisfactorily constructed, the Town’s engineer shall verify in writing the road was constructed 
in general conformance with Town specifications and the Agreement. 

(f) The Town and or its authorized agent has the sole discretion to inspect the installation of all 
Town roads during any part of the construction process, including installation of all asphalt 
surface course, asphalt binder course, aggregate base course, roadway subgrade elevations 
and restoration work. 

(g) In the event during the roadway construction process the Town determines there is inadequate 
construction, or construction not in conformity with the submitted plans, or not in conformity 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 22 

with the Towns’ standards and general specifications, then the Town or its authorized agent 
shall provide written notice to the Developer. Upon receipt of the written notice, the Developer 
shall cease all future construction of the road until such time as the deficiencies are satisfied 
and corrected as determined by the Town of its authorized agent. In that event, the Developer 
shall have fifteen (15) days to correct all deficiencies as described herein. In the event the 
fifteen (15) day time frame is not met, then the Town, at the Town’s discretion, shall have the 
authority to make arrangements to have the deficiencies corrected, have the roadway properly 
constructed. And have the financial guarantees applied to the construction costs. 

(h) Prior to acceptance of the project, the Town’s engineer shall submit” record drawings” to the 
Town showing actual locations and elevations and culverts. 

(i) After subgrade, crushed aggregate base coarse, and ditches have been satisfactorily 
constructed, the Town’s engineer has submitted all necessary grade checks and record 
drawings, and the Developer provides the Town with lien waivers for all work performed and 
materials used on the project, the Town Board will conditionally approve the gravel roads. The 
conditions that will be placed on the approval will include that the Developer is responsible for 
the maintenance of the gravel roads and ditches until such time as the Town accepts the chip 
sealed roads as set forth under item (6)(b) above. Conditional approval by the Town Board of 
the graveled road base coarse as set forth on under item (6)(a) above, along with the rip-rap 
required in item (6)(b) will allow building permits to be issued as long as roads are properly 
maintained. 

(j) After conditional approval of a gravel road, the road shall receive two layers of seal coat with 
aggregate covering (double chip seal) in accordance with item (6)(a) above. Prior to the seal 
coating, roads shall be brought to the plan elevations, grades, and shape. At this time it is the 
Developer’s responsibility to ensure that vegetation is well established in all ditches and 
terraces in all road rights-of-way and in ditches and easements. After the road is seal coated, 
the Town will accept the roads into the Town road system and will assume maintenance 
responsibility, however, said maintenance costs will be billed to the developer, except for snow 
plowing. The Town of Winchester will assume complete maintenance of the road following 
completion of the asphalt paving as set forth under item (6)(c) above and other parts of this 
Agreement and is accepted and approved by the Town Board. 

 
17.16 Nonconforming Uses. 
 

(1) Applicability and Intent. Any use of land or structures, or any lot or structure which existed at the 
effective date of adoption or amendment of this Chapter which would not be permitted or 
permissible by the provisions of this Chapter as adopted or amended, shall be deemed 
nonconforming. It is the intent of this Chapter to permit such non-conformities to continue, subject 
to restrictions.  

(2) Non-conforming Uses of Land and Structures. No such non-conforming use of any land or 
structure shall be extended or enlarged. If such nonconforming use is discontinued for a period of 
12 consecutive or for 18 accumulative months during any three-year period, any future use of such 
land or structure shall conform to this Chapter.  

(3) Non-conforming Structures. No such structure shall be altered in any manner, which would 
increase the degree of nonconformity. The total structural repairs or alterations in such a 
nonconforming structure shall not during its life exceed 50 percent of the replacement cost of the 
structure.  

(4) Non-conforming Lots of Record. In any residential district, a single-family dwelling and customary 
accessory structure may be erected on a single lot of record at the effective date of adoption or 
amendment of this Chapter. This provision shall apply even though such lot fails to meet the 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 23 

requirements of lot area, lot width or both for the district in which it is located, provided such lot 
shall be in separate ownership and not of continuous frontage with other lots in the same 
ownership. Variance of yard requirements shall be obtained only through action of the Board of 
Appeals. If two or more lots or combinations of lots and portions of lots with continuous frontage in 
single ownership are of record at the effective date of adoption or amendment of this Chapter, the 
lands involved shall be considered to be an individual parcel for the purpose of this Chapter and no 
portion of such parcel shall be used, divided or sold which does not meet the lot area and lot width 
requirements for the district in which it is located.  

(5) Repairs and Maintenance. Nothing in this Chapter shall be deemed to prevent normal maintenance 
or repair of any structure or to prevent restoring to a safe condition any structure declared to be 
unsafe.  

(6) Existing Special Exceptions. Any use or structure existing at the effective date of adoption or 
amendment of this Chapter which is classified as a special exception in the district in which it is 
located shall be deemed to have been granted approval by the Plan Commission, subject to 
maintaining the character and intent of such use or structure existing on that date. Any extension, 
enlargement or change in such use or structure shall require approval of the Plan Commission as 
provided in this Chapter. 

 
17.17 Through 17.29 Reserved. 
 
17.30 A-1 Agribusiness District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate large-scale agricultural uses and related support 
services. It includes those areas of the county where productive agricultural lands predominate and 
can be used for the production of forest products, crops, and livestock, including large livestock 
operations. Because the primary intent of this district is agricultural production, incompatible urban 
uses are not permitted. It is designed to meet the requirements of a certified farmland preservation 
zoning ordinance under ch. 91, Wis. Stats. The purpose of the A-1 District also includes: 
(a) Preserving productive agricultural land for food and fiber production. 
(b) Preserving productive farms by preventing land use conflicts between incompatible uses and 

controlling public service costs.  
(c) Maintaining a viable agricultural base to support agricultural processing and service industries.  
(d) Preventing conflicts between incompatible uses.  
(e) Reducing costs of providing services to scattered non-farm uses.  
(f) Pacing and shape growth.  
(g) Implementing the provisions of the county agricultural plan as adopted and revised.  
(h) Complying with the provisions of the Working Lands Program to permit eligible landowners to 

receive tax credits under the appropriate sections of the law. 
(i) Implementing the Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted within the A-1 District: 
(a) Agricultural Uses (this includes: Agricultural, crop; Agriculture, general, fewer than 500 animal 

units; and Forestry as identified in this Chapter). 
(b) Greenhouse – less than 8 ft. in height and less than 100 sq. ft. in horizontal area. 
(c) Sewage sludge disposal, consistent with ch. 283 Wis. Stats.. 
(d) Nonfarm residences constructed in a rural residential cluster in accordance with an approval of 

the cluster as a conditional use under Sec. 17.30(5)(d) of this Chapter. 
(e) Community garden. 
(f) Recreation trail. 
(g) Undeveloped natural resource and open space areas. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 24 

(h) Keeping of Bees, consistent with Chapter 17.46(24). 
(i) A transportation, utility, communication, or other use that is required under state or federal law 

to be located in a specific place or that is authorized to be located in a specific place under a 
state or federal law that preempts the requirement of a conditional use permit for that use. 

(j) Other uses identified by the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade, and Consumer 
Protection (DATCP) by rule. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted within the A-1 District: 
(a) Adult family home, consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats.. 
(b) Amateur radio antenna. 
(c) Backyard chickens. 
(d) Boat dock - appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(e) Boathouse - appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(f) Commercial truck parking - appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(g) Exterior communication device - appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(h) Family daycare home - appurtenant to a single-family residence and consistent with sec. 

91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(i) Farm building storage. 
(j) Farm residence, excluding Migrant Labor Camp. 
(k) Fence.  
(l) Foster home and treatment foster home, consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(m) Garage, residential - appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(n) Garden. 
(o) Greenhouse - appurtenant to a single-family residence; 8 ft. or more in height and 100 sq. ft. 

or more in horizontal area. 
(p) Home occupation, minor - appurtenant to a single-family residence and consistent with sec. 

91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(q) Hot tub - appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(r) Kennel, private consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(s) Outdoor furnace, appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(t) Parking lot (on-site), consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(u) Play structure, appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(v) Pond. 
(w) Rural accessory building, consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(a), Wis. Stats. 
(x) Swimming pool, appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(y) Utility cabinet, appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(z) Yard shed, appurtenant to a single-family residence. 
(aa) Electric vehicle infrastructure; charging levels 1, 2, and 3. 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted within the A-1 District: 
(a) Agricultural product sales, on-site. 
(b) Farmers market. 
(c) Wind test tower. 
(d) Yard Sale. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit within the A-1 District: 
(a) Agriculture-related use. 
(b) A new or expanded livestock facility used to keep more than 500 animal units, consistent with 

17.30(9) of this Chapter. 
(c) Nonfarm residence, consistent with 17.30(8)(e) of this Chapter. 
(d) Nonfarm residential cluster, consistent with Chapter 17.30(8)(f) of this Chapter. 
(e) Dam, consistent with sec. 91.46(4), Wis. Stats. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 25 

(f) Migrant labor camp as certified under sec. 103.92, Wis. Stats. 
(g) Veterinary clinic, general, primarily serving livestock. 
(h) Cemetery, consistent with sec. 91.46(5), Wis. Stats. 
(i) Worship facility, consistent with sec. 91.46(5), Wis. Stats. 
(j) Stormwater management facility, consistent with sec. 91.46(4), Wis. Stats. 
(k) Telecommunications facility, unconcealed, consistent with sec. 91.46(4), Wis. Stats. 
(l) Utility installation, major, consistent with sec. 91.46(4), Wis. Stats. 
(m) Nonmetallic mine, consistent with sec. 91.46(6). 
(n) Batching plant associated with a nonmetallic mine, consistent with sec. 91.46, Wis. Stats. 
(o) Biofuels production plant, consistent with sec. 91.46(4), Wis. Stats. 
(p) Wind energy systems, consistent with sec. 91.46(4), Wis. Stats. 

(6) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit within 
the A-1 District: 
(a) Bed and Breakfast, consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(b) Farmstead retail outlet, consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 
(c) Kennel, hobby, consistent with sec. 91.01(1)(d), Wis. Stats. 

(7) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional user permit within 
the A-1 District: 
(a) Seasonal product sales. 
(b) Snow disposal site. 

(8) Special Requirements for Certain Land Uses. 
(a) Agriculture-related uses. Subject to the general requirements under this division, the Plan 

Commission may approve agriculture-related uses in the A-1 District as a conditional use only 
if all of the following apply: 
1. The proposed use is allowable under ch. 91, Wis. Stats. 
2. The use supports agricultural uses in the A-1 District in direct and significant ways, and is 

more suited to the A-1 District than to any other zoning district. 
3. The use and its location in the A-1 District are consistent with the purposes of the A-1 

District. 
4. The use and its location in the A-1 District are reasonable and appropriate, considering 

alternative locations, or are specifically approved under state or federal law. 
5. The use is reasonably designed to minimize conversion of land, at and around the use 

site, from agricultural use or open space use. 
6. The use does not substantially impair or limit the current or future agricultural use of other 

protected farmland. 
7. Construction damage to land remaining in agricultural use is minimized and repaired to 

the extent feasible. 
(b) Nonmetallic mine. Subject to the general requirements under this division, the Plan 

Commission may approve a nonmetallic mine in the A-1 District as a conditional use only if all 
of the following apply: 
1. The operation complies with: 

a. Subchapter I of ch. 295, Wis. Stats., and administrative rules promulgated under that 
subchapter. 

b. Applicable provisions of Chapter 20 of the Winnebago County general code. 
c. Any applicable requirements of the Wisconsin Department of Transportation 

concerning the restoration of nonmetallic mineral extraction sites. 
2. The use and the location of such use in the A-1 District are consistent with the purposes 

of the A-1 District. 
3. The use and the location of such use in the A-1 District are reasonable and appropriate, 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 26 

considering alternative locations outside the A-1 District, or are specifically approved 
under state or federal law. 

4. The use is reasonably designed to minimize the conversion of land around the extraction 
site from agricultural use or open space use. 

5. The use does not substantially impair or limit the current or future agricultural use of other 
protected farmland. 

6. Following cessation of this use, all disturbed areas will be restored to a condition suitable 
for agricultural use consistent with a written restoration plan as approved under Chapter 
20 of the Winnebago County general code. 

(c) Government and nonprofit community uses, including cemeteries and worship facilities. 
Subject to the general requirements under this division, the Plan Commission may approve 
government and nonprofit community uses in the A-1 District as a conditional use only if all of 
the following apply: 
1. The use and the location of such use in the A-1 District are consistent with the purposes 

of the A-1 District. 
2. The use and the location of such use in the A-1 District are reasonable and appropriate, 

considering alternative locations, or are specifically approved under state or federal law. 
3. The use is reasonably designed to minimize the conversion of land, at and around the site 

of the use, from agricultural use or open space use. 
4. The use does not substantially impair or limit the current or future agricultural use of other 

protected farmland. 
5. Construction damage to land remaining in agricultural use is minimized and repaired to 

the extent feasible. 
(d) Specified infrastructure, including dams, stormwater management facilities, 

telecommunications facilities, utilities installations, wind energy systems, and biofuels 
production plants. Subject to the general requirements under this Chapter, the Plan 
Commission may approve certain types of compatible infrastructure in the A-1 District as a 
conditional use only if all of the following apply: 
1. The use and the location of such use in the A-1 District are consistent with the purposes 

of the A-1 District. 
2. The use and the location of such use in the A-1 District are reasonable and appropriate, 

considering alternative locations, or are specifically approved under state or federal law. 
3. The use is reasonably designed to minimize the conversion of land, at and around the site 

of the use, from agricultural use or open space use. 
4. The use does not substantially impair or limit the current or future agricultural use of other 

protected farmland. 
5. Construction damage to land remaining in agricultural use is minimized and repaired, to 

the extent feasible. 
(e) Nonfarm residences. A proposed new nonfarm residence or a proposal to convert a farm 

residence to a nonfarm residence through a change in occupancy qualifies if the Plan 
Commission determines that all of the following apply: 
1. The ratio of nonfarm residential acreage to farm acreage on the base farm tract on which 

the residence is or will be located will not be greater than 1 to 20 after the residence is 
constructed or converted to a nonfarm residence. 

2. There will not be more than 4 dwelling units in nonfarm residences, nor, for a new 
nonfarm residence, more than five dwelling units in residences of any kind, on the base 
farm tract after the residence is constructed and converted to a nonfarm residence. 

3. The location and size of the proposed nonfarm residential parcel, and, for a new nonfarm 
residence, the location of the nonfarm residence on that nonfarm parcel, will not do any of 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 27 

the following: 
a. Convert prime farmland from agricultural use or convert land previously used as 

cropland, other than a woodlot, from agricultural use if on the farm there is a 
reasonable alternative location or size for a nonfarm residential parcel or nonfarm 
residence. 

b. Significantly impair or limit the current or future agricultural use of. other protected 
farmland. 

(f) Nonfarm Residential Clusters. The Plan Commission may issue one conditional use permit 
that covers more than one nonfarm residence in a qualifying nonfarm residential cluster. A 
nonfarm residential cluster qualifies for the purposes of this Chapter if all of the following 
apply: 
1. The parcels on which the nonfarm residences would be located are contiguous. 
2. Each nonfarm residence in a nonfarm residential cluster conforms in all respects to the 

requirements of 17.30(8)(f) of this Chapter. 
3. The Town of Winchester imposes legal restrictions on the construction of the nonfarm 

residences so that if all of the nonfarm residences were constructed, each would fully 
satisfy the requirements of this Chapter. 

(9) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) General.  

1. The Town Board makes the following findings regarding this section: 
a. The state legislature adopted s. 93.90, Wis. Stats., (Livestock Facility Siting Law) to 

govern livestock facilities, which is implemented by administrative rule under ch. 
ATCP 51, Wis. Admin. Code. 

b. The Livestock Facility Site Law allows local jurisdictions to review livestock facilities 
with 500 animal units or more as a conditional use. 

2. Standards for livestock facilities with fewer than 500 animal units. There are no special 
standards that apply to general agriculture with fewer than 500 animal units. 

3. Standards for livestock facilities with 500 animal units or more. A livestock facility with 500 
animal units or more shall comply in all respects with sec. 93.90(3), Wis. Stats. 

4. Location of livestock structures. The location of livestock structures shall comply in all 
respects with ATCP 51.12, Wis. Stats. 

5. Wells. All water wells located within a livestock facility shall comply with chs. NR 811 and 
812, Wis. Admin. Code. New or substantially altered livestock structures shall be 
separated from existing wells by the distances required in chs. NR 811 and 812, Wis. 
Admin. Code, regardless of whether the livestock facility operator owns the land on which 
the wells are located. A livestock structure in existence on May 1, 2006 may be altered as 
long as the alteration does not reduce the distance between the livestock structure and an 
existing well. 

(b) Dimensional standards. 
1. Lot density. The ratio of nonfarm residential acreage to farm acreage in the base farm 

tract after the effective date of this Chapter shall not exceed 1:20, with a maximum of 4 
nonfarm dwellings for a base farm tract, and a maximum of 5 farm residences of any kind 
on the base farm tract. 

2. Minimum lot size. 
a. Residential – 43,000 sq. ft. A lot created after the effective date of this Chapter may 

not contain more than 2 acres of land previously used to produce forage or a crop. 
b. Farm – 5 acres. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 43,000 sq. ft. 

3. Minimum lot width. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 28 

a. Residential – 100 ft. 
b. Farm – 200 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 200 ft. 

4. Minimum road frontage. 
a. Residential – 60 ft. 
b. Farm – 200 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 200 ft. 

(c) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard. 

a. Residential – 30 ft. 
b. Farm – 75 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/Nonfarm – Same as residential. 

2. Side yard. 
a. Residential – 20 ft. on each side for a principal building; 15 ft. on each side for an 

accessory building. 
b. Farm – 15 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – Same as residential. 

3. Rear yard. 
a. Residential – 25 ft. for a principal building; 15 ft. for a detached accessory building. 
b. Farm – 50 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – Same as residential. 

(d) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building. 

a. Residential – 35 ft. 
b. Farm – The distance from the structure/building to the closest property boundary line. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 35 ft. 

2. Accessory Building. 
a. Residential – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess of 18 ft. 

but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
b. Farm – The distance from the structure/building to the closest property boundary line. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 18 ft. 

(e) Floor area. 
1. Principal building, minimum. 

a. Residential – 1,000 sq. ft. 
b. Farm – none. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – none. 

2. Accessory building, maximum. 
a. Residential – 1,500 sq. ft. permitted; in excess of 1,500 sq. ft. as a conditional use. 
b. Farm – none. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – Same as residential. 

(f) Maximum number of detached accessory buildings. 
1. Residential – no limitation. 
2. Farm – no limitation. 
3. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 2. 

(10) Rezoning Land out of a Farmland Preservation Zoning District. 
(a) Except as provided in sec. 17.30(10)(b), the Town of Winchester may not rezone land out of a 

farmland preservation zoning district unless it does all of the following prior to the rezoning: 
1. Finds all of the following in writing, after public hearing, as part of the official record of the 

rezoning: 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 29 

a. The rezoned land is better suited for a use not allowed in the A-1 Agribusiness 
district. 

b. The rezoning is consistent with the Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan, 
adopted by the Plan Commission, which is in effect at the time of the rezoning. 

c. The rezoning is substantially consistent with the Winnebago County Farmland 
Preservation Plan, certified under ch. 91, Wis. Stats., which is in effect at the time of 
the rezoning. 

d. The rezoning will not substantially impair or limit current or future agricultural use of 
other protected farmland. 

(b) Sec. 17.30(10)(a) does not apply to any of the following: 
1. A rezoning that is affirmatively certified by the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade 

and Consumer Protection under ch. 91, Wis. Stats. 
2. A rezoning that makes the farmland preservation zoning ordinance map more consistent 

with the Winnebago County Farmland Preservation Plan Map, certified under ch. 91, Wis. 
Stats., which is in effect at the time of the rezoning. 

(c) By March 1 of each year, the Town of Winchester shall submit to DATCP a report of the 
number of acres rezoned out of the A-1 Agribusiness District during the previous year and a 
map that clearly shows the location of those areas. A copy of this report shall also be provided 
to the Winnebago County Zoning Department. 

 
17.31 A-2 General Agricultural District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate both large and small-scale farms and hobby 
farms. Although scattered residential lots are allowed, agriculture is the predominant land use. This 
district should be located in those areas suitable for agriculture, but not for large-scale agricultural 
operations, and adjacent to urbanizing areas. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted within the A-2 District: 
(a) Agriculture, crop. 
(b) Agriculture, general, fewer than 500 animal units. 
(c) Agriculture-related use. 
(d) Greenhouse. 
(e) Forestry. 
(f) Sewage sludge disposal. 
(g) Community garden. 
(h) Park. 
(i) Recreation trail. 
(j) Stormwater management facility. 
(k) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 
(l) Utility installation, minor. 
(m) Railroad line. 
(n) Street. 
(o) Composting facility. 
(p) Keeping of Bees, consistent with Chapter 17.46(24). 

(3) Permitted Accessory uses. The following accessory uses are permitted within the A-2 District: 
(a) Adult family home, exclusive to principal residential use. 
(b) Amateur radio antenna. 
(d) Backyard chickens. 
(e) Boat dock. 
(f) Boathouse - exclusive to principal residential use. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 30 

(g) Commercial truck parking - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(h) Exterior communication device - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(i) Family daycare home - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(j) Farm residence. 
(k) Fence.  
(l) Foster home and treatment foster home. 
(m) Garage, residential - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(n) Garden. 
(o) Greenhouse - exclusive to principal residential use; 8 ft. or more in height and 100 sq. ft. or 

more in horizontal area. 
(p) Home occupation, minor - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(q) Hot tub - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(r) Kennel, private. 
(s) Outdoor furnace. 
(t) Parking lot (on-site). 
(u) Play structure. 
(v) Pond. 
(w) Rural accessory building. 
(x) Swimming pool. 
(y) Utility cabinet. 
(z) Yard shed. 
(aa) Electric vehicle infrastructure; charging levels 1, 2, and 3. 
(bb) Campground. 
(cc) Group recreation camp. 
(dd) Resort. 
(ee) Commercial stable. 
(ff) Landscape business. 
(gg) Veterinary clinic, general. 
(hh) Animal shelter. 
(ii) Cemetery. 
(jj) Maintenance garage. 
(kk) Worship facility. 
(ll) Park-and-ride lot. 
(mm) Artisan shop. 
(nn) Bed and Breakfast. 
(oo) Farm building storage. 
(pp) Farmstead retail outlet. 
(qq) Home occupation, major. 
(rr) Household livestock – 2.5 acres or more but less than 5 acres. 
(ss) Kennel, hobby. 
(tt) Seasonal product sales. 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted within the A-2 District: 
(a) Agricultural product sales, off-site. 
(b) Agricultural product sales, on-site. 
(c) Earth materials stockpile, offsite. 
(c) Earth materials stockpile, on-site. 
(d) Farmers market. 
(e) Portable storage container. 
(f) Wind test tower. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 31 

(g) Yard sale. 
(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit within the A-2 District: 

(a) Dam. 
(b) Commercial kennel. 
(c) Educational facility, Pre-K through 12. 
(d) Nonmetallic mine. 

(6) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit within 
the A-2 District: 
(a) Off-site construction yard. 
(b) Snow disposal site. 

(7) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional standards. 

1. Minimum lot size – 5.0 acres. 
2. Minimum lot width – 200 ft. 
3. Minimum road frontage – 200 ft. 
4. Minimum separation between detached buildings – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum Setback. 
1. Street yard. 

a. Residential – 30 ft. 
b. Farm – 75 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/Nonfarm – Same as residential. 

2. Side yard. 
a. Residential – 7 ft. on one side, 10 ft. on other side; 3ft. on each side for detached 

accessory building. 
b. Farm – 15 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – Same as residential. 

3. Rear yard. 
a. Residential – 25 ft. for a principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building. 
b. Farm – 50 ft. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – Same as residential. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Maximum, principal building. 

a. Residential – 35 ft. 
b. Farm – The distance from the structure/building to the closest property boundary line. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 35 ft. 

2. Maximum, accessory building. 
a. Residential – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted. 
b. Farm – The distance from the structure/building to the closest property boundary line. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 18 ft. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Principal building, minimum. 

a. Residential – 1,000 sq. ft. 
b. Farm – none. 
c. Nonresidential/nonfarm – none. 

2. Accessory building, maximum. 
a. Residential – 2,400 sq. ft. permitted. 
b. Farm – none. 

3. Nonresidential/nonfarm – Same as residential. 
(e) Maximum number of detached accessory buildings. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 32 

1. Residential – no limitation. 
2. Farm – no limitation. 
3. Nonresidential/nonfarm – 2. 

 
17.32 Supplemental Land Use Overlays. 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of the Supplemental Land Use Overlays are to provide for uses that, within 
given zoning districts, are not appropriate as permitted uses due to their potential for creating 
adverse off-site impacts and not otherwise consistent with statutory requirements governing 
conditional uses. 

(2) Requirements. 
(a) All uses permissible under a Supplemental Land Use Overlay shall require determination by 

the Plan Commission and Town Board that such proposed uses are compatible with the 
character of the underlying zoning district and shall require an approved supplemental land 
use overlay district site plan. 

(b) In addition to the requirements of Section 17.50 of this Chapter, the purpose of site plans 
prepared under supplemental land use overly districts shall be to mitigate against off-site, 
adverse impacts and to protect the health, safety, quality of life, and property values of 
adjoining property owners and other such interests as determined by the Plan Commission 
and Town Board. These shall include, but are not necessarily limited to, impacts such as: 
noise, glare, lighting, heat, smoke, odor, vibration, and the like.  

(3) SRO Supplemental Residential Overlay. 
(a) Boundaries. The SRO shall overlay all R-1, R-2, R-3, and R-4 District parcels. 
(b) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the SRO: 

1. Hospice care center. 
2. Nursing home. 
3. Retirement home. 
4. Worship facility. 
5. Bed and breakfast. 
6. Other uses, beyond than those listed as permitted or conditional in the underlying zoning 

district, when determined by the Plan Commission to be substantially the same as a use 
listed above. 

(4) SMO Supplemental Mixed-use Overlay. 
(a) Boundaries. The SMO shall overlay all B-1, B-2, and B-3 District parcels located within the 

‘Town Core Boundary’ as defined on the Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan Future 
Land Use map. 

(b) Permitted uses. 
1. Any use listed as permitted in the B-1, B-2, and B-3 Districts. 
2. Maintenance garage. 
3. Greenhouse. 
4. Hospice care center. 
5. Temporary shelter. 
6. Restaurant. 
7. Tavern. 
8. General retail sales. 
9. Outdoor sales. 
10. Administrative services. 
11. General repair. 
12. General services. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 33 

13. Health care clinic. 
14. Instructional services. 
15. Veterinary clinic, small animal. 
16. Community cultural facility. 
17. Educational facility, pre-K through 12. 
18. Telecommunications facility, unconcealed. 
19. Utility installation, major. 
20. Marina. 
21. Off-site parking. 
22. Park-and-ride lot. 
23. Artisan shop. 
24. Live/work units, as defined in Chapter 17.45(17). 
25. Outdoor food and beverage service. 
26. Service window, drive-up. 
27. Service window, walk-up. 
28. Brewpub. 
29. Nursing home. 
30. Retirement home. 
31. Resort 
32. Temporary shelter 
33. Vehicle fuel station. 
34. Vehicle Repair shop. 
35. Vehicle sales and rental. 
36. Vehicle service shop. 
37. Equipment rental, small. 
38. Outdoor entertainment. 
39. Outdoor recreation. 
40. Bus storage facility. 
41. Greenhouse. 
42. Temporary shelter. 
43. Landscape business. 
44. Veterinary clinic, general. 
45. Driving range. 
46. Outdoor recreation. 
47. Animal shelter. 
48. Maintenance garage. 
49. Telecommunications facility, unconcealed. 
50. Other uses, beyond than those listed as permitted or conditional in the underlying zoning 

district, when determined by the Plan Commission to be substantially the same as a use 
listed above. 

(5) SSEO Supplemental Special Event Overlay. 
(a) Boundaries. The SSEO shall overlay all A-2, R-1, R-2, B-1, B-2, I-1, and I-2 District parcels. 
(b) Permitted Uses. 

1. Special events. 
2. Special event, camping 
3. Special event, concessions 
4. Special event, parking 

 
  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 34 

17.33 R-1 Rural Residential District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate single-family residences on scattered lots to 
foster and maintain the rural character and lifestyle of the surrounding area. Lots are generally 
served by on-site wastewater treatment systems. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted within the R-1 District: 
(a) Agriculture, crop. 
(b) Forestry. 
(c) Sewage sludge disposal. 
(d) Single-family dwelling. 
(e) Adult family home. 
(f) Community living arrangement, 8 or fewer residents. 
(g) Community living arrangement, 9-15 residents. 
(h) Community living arrangement, 16 or more residents. 
(i) Foster home and treatment foster home. 
(j) Community garden. 
(k) Park. 
(l) Recreation trail. 
(m) Stormwater management facility. 
(n) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 
(o) Utility installation, minor. 
(p) Railroad line. 
(q) Street. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the R-1 District: 
(a) Adult family home, exclusive to principal residential use. 
(b) Amateur radio antenna. 
(c) Backyard chickens. 
(d) Boat dock. 
(e) Boathouse - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(f) Commercial truck parking - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(g) Exterior communication device - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(h) Family daycare home - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(i) Fence.  
(j) Foster home and treatment foster home. 
(k) Garage, off-site residential. 
(l) Garage, residential. 
(m) Garden. 
(n) Greenhouse - exclusive to principal residential use; 8 ft. or more in height and 100 sq. ft. or 

more in horizontal area. 
(o) Home occupation, minor - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(p) Hot tub - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(q) Kennel, private. 
(r) Outdoor furnace. 
(s) Parking lot (on-site). 
(t) Play structure. 
(u) Rural accessory building. 
(v) Swimming pool. 
(w) Utility cabinet. 
(x) Yard shed. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 35 

(y) Electric vehicle infrastructure; charging levels 1 and 2. 
(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the R-1 District: 

(a) Agricultural product sales, off-site. 
(b) Agricultural product sales, on-site. 
(c) Earth materials stockpile, on-site. 
(d) Farmers market. 
(e) Model home. 
(f) On-site construction office. 
(g) On-site construction yard. 
(h) Portable storage container. 
(i) Wind test tower. 
(j) Yard sale. 
(k) Seasonal product sales. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the R-1 District: 
(a) Dam. 
(b) Community center. 
(c) Educational facility, pre-K through 12. 
(d) Public safety facility. 
(e) Utility installation, major. 

(6) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-1 District: 
(a) Home occupation, major. 
(b) Household livestock, 2.5 acres or more but less than 5 acres. 
(c) Kennel, hobby. 
(d) Pond. 
(e) Keeping of Bees, consistent with Chapter 17.46(24). 

(7) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional standards. 

1. Minimum lot size. 
a. Single-family – 43,000 sq. ft. for unsewered lot; 12,000 sq. ft. for sewered lot. 
b. Nonresidential – 43,000 sq. ft. 
c. Within unsewered conservation subdivision – 21,500 sq. ft. 

2. Minimum lot width. 
a. Single-family – 200 ft. for unsewered lot; 85 ft. for sewered lot. 
b. Nonresidential – 200 ft. 

2. Minimum road frontage. 
a. Single-family – 33 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 200 ft. for an unsewered lot; 33 ft. for a sewered lot. 

3. Minimum separation between detached buildings. 
a. Single-family – 10 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as single-family. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard. 

a. Single-family – 30 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 30 ft. 

2. Side yard. 
a. Single-family – 7 ft. on one side and 10 ft. on the other for a principal building; 3 ft. for 

a detached accessory building. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as single-family. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 36 

3. Rear yard. 
a. Single-family – 25 ft. for principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building or 5 

ft. to an alley. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as single-family. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building. 

a. Single-family – 35 ft. 
b. Nonresidential 35 ft. 

2. Accessory building. 
a. Single-family – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess of 18 

ft. but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
b. Nonresidential – 18 ft. 
c. Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed 

carports over two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential 
districts in the Town of Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and 
truss framing with metal roof and siding. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Principal building, minimum. 

a. Single-family – 1,000 sq. ft. 
b. Nonresidential – no limitation. 

2. Accessory building, maximum. 
a. Single-family – 1,500 sq. ft. 
b. Nonresidential - 1,500 sq. ft. 

3. Number of detached accessory buildings. 
a. Single-family – no limitation. 
b. Nonresidential – 2. 

 
17.34 R-2 Suburban Residential District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate low- and medium-density residential lots in a 
duly recorded and legally maintained subdivision. This district provides a “suburban" arrangement 
of amenities, services, and facilities. Lots are connected to a public sanitary sewer system or have 
an on-site sewage disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-2 District: 
(a) Any permitted use in the R-1 District. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The follow accessory uses are permitted in the R-2 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the R-1 District. 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the R-2 District. 
(a) Any permitted temporary use in the R-1 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Agricultural product sales, off-site is not a permitted use in the R-2 District. 
2. Agricultural product sale, on-site is not a permitted use in the R-2 District. 
3. Farmers market is not a permitted use in the R-2 District. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the R-2 District: 
(a) Any use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-1 District with the following exceptions: 

1. Maintenance garage is not allowed in the R-2 District. 
(6) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit in the 

R-2 District: 
(a) Any accessory use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-1 District with the following 

exceptions: 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 37 

1. Household livestock is not allowed in the R-2 District. 
(b) Keeping of Bees, consistent with Chapter 17.46(24). 

(7) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-2 District: 
(a) Any temporary use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-1 District with the following 

exceptions: 
1. Seasonal product sales are not allowed in the R-2 District. 

(8) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional Standards. 

1. Minimum lot size. 
a. Single-family – 20,000 sq. ft. for unsewered lot; 9,000 sq. ft. for sewered lot and 

nonshoreland; 10,000 sq. ft. for a sewered lot and shoreland. 
b. Nonresidential – 43,000 sq. ft. 

2. Minimum lot width. 
a. Single-family – 100 ft. for unsewered lot; 65 ft. for sewered lot. 
b. Nonresidential – 200 ft. 

3. Minimum road frontage. 
a. Single-family – 33 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 200 ft. for an unsewered lot; 33 ft. for a sewered lot. 

4. Minimum separation between detached buildings. 
a. Single-family – 10 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard. 

a. Single-family – 30 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 30 ft. 

2. Side yard. 
a. Single-family – 7 ft. on one side and 10 ft. on the other for a principal building; 3 ft. for 

a detached accessory building. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as single-family. 

3. Rear yard. 
a. Single-family – 25 ft. for principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building or 5 

ft. to an alley. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as single-family. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building. 

a. Single-family – 35 ft. 
b. Nonresidential 35 ft. 

2. Accessory building. 
a. Single-family – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted. 
b. Nonresidential – 18 ft. 
c. Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed 

carports over two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential 
districts in the Town of Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and 
truss framing with metal roof and siding. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Principal building, minimum. 

a. Single-family – 1,000 sq. ft. 
b. Nonresidential – no limitation. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 38 

2. Accessory building, maximum. 
a. Single-family – 1,500 sq. ft. 
b. Nonresidential - 1,500 sq. ft. 

(e) Number of detached accessory buildings. 
1. Single-family – 2. 
2. Nonresidential – 2. 

 
17.35 R-3 Two-Family Residential District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate two-family dwellings, twin homes, and single-
family dwellings. This district provides a “suburban" arrangement of amenities, services, and 
facilities. Since the two-family dwelling produces a divergent occupancy pattern from that of the 
traditional single-family dwelling, this district is generally adjacent to, but not within, a single-family 
neighborhood. Lots are connected to a public sanitary sewer system or have an on-site sewage 
disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-3 District: 
(a) Any permitted use in the R-2 District. 
(b) Worship facility. 
(c) Twin home. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the R-3 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the R-2 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Commercial truck parking is not a permitted accessory use in the R-3 District. 
2. Garage, off-site residential is not a permitted accessory use in the R-3 District. 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the R-3 District: 
(a) Any permitted temporary use in the R-2 District. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the R-3 District: 
(a) Any use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-2 District with the following exceptions: 

1. Airport is not allowed in the R-3 District. 
(b) Group day care center. 

(6) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-3 District: 
(a) Any accessory use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-2 District, with the following 

exceptions: 
1. Keeping of bees. 

(7) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-3 District: 
(a) Any temporary use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-2 District with the following 

exceptions: 
1. Special Event is not allowed in the R-3 District. 

(8) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional standards. 

1. Minimum lot size. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 43,000 sq. ft. for an unsewered lot; 10,000 sq. ft. for a sewered 

lot. 
b. Twin home – 21,500 sq. ft. for an unsewered lot; 5,000 sq. ft. for a sewered lot. 
c. Nonresidential – 30,000 sq. ft. for an unsewered lot; 15,000 sq. ft. for a sewered lot. 

2. Minimum lot width. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 200 ft. for an unsewered lot; 85 ft. for a sewered lot. 
b. Twin home – 100 ft. per lot for an unsewered lot; 43 ft. per lot for a sewered lot. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 39 

c. Nonresidential – 85 ft. 
3. Minimum road frontage. 

a. Multi-family, 2 units – 33 ft. 
b. Twin home – 17 ft. per lot with 34 contiguous ft. overall. 
c. Nonresidential – 100 ft. 

4. Minimum separation between detached buildings. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 10 ft. 
b. Twin home – 10 ft. 
c. Nonresidential – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard. 

a. Multi-family, 2 units – 30 ft. 
b. Twin home – 30 ft. 
c. Nonresidential – 30 ft. 

2. Side yard. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 7 ft. on one side and 10 ft. on the other for a principal building; 

3 ft. for a detached accessory building. 
b. Twin home – 9 ft. on one side with no setback along the shared property boundary 

line; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building. 
c. Nonresidential – Same as Multi-family, 2 units. 

3. Rear yard. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 25 ft. for a principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory 

building or 5 ft. to an alley. 
b. Twin home – Same as Multi-family, 2 units. 
c. Nonresidential – Same as Multi-family 2 units. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building. 

a. Multi-family, 2 units – 35 ft. 
b. Twin home – 35 ft. 
c. Nonresidential – 35 ft. 

2. Accessory building. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess 

of 18 ft. but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
b. Twin home – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess of 18 ft. 

but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
c. Nonresidential – 18 ft. 
d. Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed 

carports over two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential 
districts in the Town of Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and 
truss framing with metal roof and siding. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Principal building, minimum. 

a. Multi-family, 2 units – 1,000 sq. ft. 
b. Twin home – 500 sq. ft. per unit. 
c. Nonresidential – no limitation. 

2. Accessory building, maximum. 
a. Multi-family, 2 units – 600 sq. ft. per dwelling unit. 
b. Twin home – 600 sq. ft. per dwelling unit. 
c. Nonresidential – 1,200 sq. ft. permitted; in excess of 1,200 as a conditional use. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 40 

(e) Number of detached accessory buildings. 
1. Multi-family, 2 units – 2. 
2. Twin home – 2. 
3. Nonresidential – 2. 

 
17.36 R-4 Multi-Family Residential District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate multifamily buildings and townhouses at urban 
densities. This district provides a “suburban” arrangement of amenities, services, and facilities. 
Lots are connected to a public sanitary sewer. 

(2) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-4 District: 
(a) Any permitted use in the R-3 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Single-family dwelling is not permitted in the R-4 District. 
(b) Multi-family building, 2 units. 
(c) Townhouse, 3-4 units. 
(d) Townhouse, 5-8 units. 
(e) Twin home. 
(f) Hospice care center. 
(g) Nursing home. 
(h) Retirement home. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the R-4 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the R-3 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Backyard chickens are not allowed in the R-4 District. 
(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the R-4 District: 

(a) Any permitted temporary use in the R-3 District. 
(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the R-4 District: 

(a) Any use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-3 District. 
(b) Multi-family building, 9 or more units. 
(c) Townhouse, 9 or more units. 
(d) Group daycare center. 

(6) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-4 District: 
(a) Any accessory use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-3 District, with the following 

exceptions: 
1. Keeping of bees 

(7) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-4 District: 
(a) Any temporary use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-3 District. 

(8) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional standards. 

1. Minimum lot size. 
a. Multi-family – 15,000 sq. ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 24,000 sq. ft. 

2. Minimum lot width. 
a. Multi-family – 120 ft. 
b. Nonresidential 85 ft. 

3. Minimum road frontage. 
a. Multi-family – 33 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 100 ft. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 41 

4. Minimum separation between detached buildings. 
a. Multi-family – 10 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard. 

a. Multi-family – 40 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 40 ft. 

2. Side yard. 
a. Multi-family – 15 ft. on each side for a principal building; 3 ft. for a detached 

accessory building. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as multi-family. 

3. Rear yard. 
a. Multi-family – 40 ft. for a principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building. 
b. Nonresidential – Same as multi-family. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building. 

a. Multi-family – 35 ft. 
b. Nonresidential – 35 ft. 

2. Accessory building. 
a. Multi-family – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess of 18 ft. 

but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
b. Nonresidential – 18 ft. 
c. Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed 

carports over two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential 
districts in the Town of Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and 
truss framing with metal roof and siding. 

(d) Floor area ratio. 
1. Maximum 50% for Multi-family and Nonresidential. 

(e) Floor area. 
1. Principal building, minimum. 

a. Multi-family – 500 sq. ft. per unit. 
b. Nonresidential – no limitation. 

2. Accessory building, maximum. 
a. Multi-family – 500 sq. ft. per dwelling unit. 
b. Nonresidential – 1,200 sq. ft. permitted; in excess of 1,200 sq. ft. as a conditional 

use. 
(f) Number of detached accessory buildings. 

1. Multi-family – no limitation. 
2. Nonresidential – 2. 

 
17.37 R-8 Manufactured/Mobile Home Community District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is for the exclusive use and development of one or more 
manufactured/mobile home parks. Lots are connected to a public sanitary sewer system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the R-8 District: 
(a) Agriculture, crop. 
(b) Forestry. 
(c) Sewage sludge disposal. 
(d) Mobile home park. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 42 

(e) Park. 
(f) Recreation trail. 
(g) Stormwater management facility. 
(h) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 
(i) Utility installation, minor. 
(j) Railroad line. 
(k) Street. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the R-8 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the R-4 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Boathouse is not permitted in the R-8 District. 
(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the R-8 District: 

(a) Any permitted temporary use in the R-4 District. 
(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the R-8 District: 

(a) Dam. 
(b) Unspecified public use. 

(6) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-8 District: 
(a) Kennel, hobby. 
(b) Pond. 

(7) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
R-8 District: 
(a) Off-site construction yard. 

(8) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Minimum lot size – 2 acres. 
(b) Minimum lot width – 220 ft. 
(c) Minimum road frontage – 100 ft. 
(d) Minimum separation between detached buildings – 10 ft. 
(e) Minimum setback. 

1. Street yard – 30 ft. 
2. Side yard – 25 ft. on one side. 
3. Rear yard – 25 ft. 

(f) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building – 35 ft. 
2. Accessory building – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess of 18 

ft. but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
a. Pole Buildings in Residential Districts. Steel clad sheds, pole barns, and metal-roofed 

carports over two hundred (200) square feet of area are prohibited in all residential 
districts in the Town of Winchester. A pole barn is defined as any building of post and 
truss framing with metal roof and siding. 

 
17.38 Reserved. 
 
17.39 B-1 Local Service District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate a single retail or service establishment or a 
small grouping of such establishments that primarily serve the daily needs of residents in the 
surrounding area. Because this district characteristically is near or within residential areas, 
standards are designed to ensure the commercial uses are compatible in appearance and 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 43 

character with the surrounding residential uses. Lots are connected to a public sanitary sewer 
system or have an on-site sewage disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the B-1 District: 
(a) Agriculture, crop. 
(b) Forestry. 
(c) Sewage sludge disposal. 
(d) Group daycare center. 
(e) Convenience retail sales. 
(f) Financial services. 
(g) Professional services. 
(h) Administrative government center. 
(i) Community garden. 
(j) Park. 
(k) Public safety facility. 
(l) Recreation trail. 
(m) Worship facility. 
(n) Stormwater management facility. 
(o) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 
(p) Utility installation, minor. 
(q) Railroad line. 
(r) Street. 

 
(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the B-1 District: 

(a) Adult family home, exclusive to principal residential use. 
(b) Amateur radio antenna. 
(c) Automated teller machine. 
(d) Bed and breakfast. 
(e) Boat dock. 
(f) Exterior communication device - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(g) Family daycare home - exclusive to principal residential use. 
(h) Fence.  
(i) Foster home and treatment foster home. 
(j) Garage, nonresidential. 
(k) Garden. 
(l) Home occupation, minor. 
(m) Hot tub. 
(n) Kennel, private. 
(o) Outdoor furnace. 
(p) Parking lot (on-site). 
(q) Play structure. 
(r) Pond. 
(s) Storage container, 1 or 2 units. 
(t) Swimming pool. 
(u) Utility cabinet. 
(v) Yard shed. 
(w) Electric vehicle infrastructure; charging levels 1, 2, and 3. 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the B-1 District: 
(a) Agricultural product sales, off-site. 
(b) Earth materials stockpile, on-site. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 44 

(c) Portable storage container. 
(d) Wind test tower. 
(e) Yard sale. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the B-1 District: 
(a) Body-piercing establishment. 
(b) Tattoo establishment. 
(c) Utility installation, major. 

(6) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
B-1 District: 
(a) Farmers market. 
(b) Off-site construction yard. 
(c) Relocatable building. 
(d) Seasonal product sales. 
(e) Snow disposal site. 

(7) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional Standards. 

1. Minimum lot size – 15,000 sq. ft. for a sewered lot; 30,000 sq. ft. for an unsewered lot. 
2. Minimum lot width – 85 ft. for a sewered lot; 100 ft. for an unsewered lot. 
3. Minimum road frontage – 75 ft. for a sewered lot; 100 ft. for an unsewered lot. 
4. Minimum separation between detached buildings – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard – 30 ft. 
2. Side yard – 7 ft. on one side and 10 ft. on the other for a principal building; 3 ft. for a 

detached accessory building or 5 ft. from an alley. 
3. Rear yard – 25 ft. for a principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building or 5 ft. 

from an alley. 
(c) Maximum building height. 

1. Principal building – 35 ft. 
2. Accessory building – 18 ft. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Maximum – none. 
2. Minimum – none. 

(e) Number of detached accessory buildings – no limitation. 
 
17.40 B-2 Community Business District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate both large- and small-scale pedestrian- and 
auto-oriented commercial development that primarily serves the needs of the surrounding 
community, including professional offices, retail stores, service establishments, overnight lodging, 
entertainment facilities, and mixed-use housing. Lots are connected to a public sanitary sewer 
system or have an on-site sewage disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the B-2 District: 
(a) Any permitted use in the B-1 District. 
(b) Restaurant. 
(c) Tavern. 
(d) General retail sales. 
(e) Body-piercing establishment. 
(f) Funeral home. 
(g) General repair. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 45 

(h) General services. 
(i) Health care clinic. 
(j) Instructional services. 
(k) Tattoo establishment. 
(l) Veterinary clinic, small animal. 
(m) Community center. 
(n) Community cultural facility. 
(o) Educational facility, pre-K through 12. 
(p) Off-site parking. 
(q) Park-and-ride lot. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the B-2 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the B-1 District. 
(b) Outdoor display incidental to indoor sales. 
(c) Outdoor food and beverage sales. 
(d) Service window, drive-up. 
(e) Service window, walk-up. 
(f) Storage container, 3 or more units. 
(g) Temporary Shelter. 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the B-2 District: 
(a) Any permitted temporary use in the B-1 District. 
(b) Farmers market. 
(c) On-site construction office. 
(d) On-site construction yard. 
(e) Seasonal product sales. 
(f) General outdoor sales. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the B-2 District: 
(a) Dam. 
(b) Mixed-use Housing. 
(c) Boardinghouse. 
(d) Overnight lodging. 
(e) Utility installation, major. 
(f) Bus storage facility. 
(g) Marina. 
(h) Artisan shop. 
(i) Live/work units, as defined in Chapter 17.45(17). 

(6) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
B-1 District: 
(a) Relocatable building. 
(b) Special events (see Section XX.XX Supplemental Special Events Overlay District. 

(7) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Same as regulations and standards in the B-1 District. 

 
17.41 B-3 General Business District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate primarily large-scale commercial projects of 
regional importance that require access to major road corridors. This district is intended to include 
one or more parcels of land that as a general rule includes 20 acres or more. Lots are connected to 
a public sanitary sewer system or have an on-site sewage disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the B-3 District: 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 46 

(a) Any permitted use in the B-2 District. 
(b) Mixed-use Housing. 
(c) Hospice care center. 
(d) Nursing home. 
(e) Retirement home. 
(f) Boardinghouse. 
(g) Overnight lodging. 
(h) Resort. 
(i) Brewpub. 
(j) Vehicle fuel station. 
(k) Vehicle repair shop. 
(l) Vehicle sales and rental. 
(m) Vehicle service shop. 
(n) Outdoor sales. 
(o) Commercial kennel. 
(p) Equipment rental, small. 
(q) Health care center. 
(r) Outdoor entertainment. 
(s) Parking structure. 
(t) Artisan shop. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the B-3 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the B-2 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Bed and breakfast is not allowed in the B-3 District. 
(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the B-3 District: 

(a) Any permitted temporary use in the B-s District. 
(b) General outdoor sales. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the B-3 District: 
(a) Dam. 
(b) Heavy vehicle sales and rental. 
(c) Truck stop. 
(d) Equipment rental, large. 
(e) Utility installation, major. 
(f) Personal storage facility. 
(g) Construction equipment repair. 
(h) Construction equipment sales and service. 

(6) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
B-3 District: 
(a) Relocatable building. 

(7) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional standards. 

1. Minimum lot size – 2 acres. 
2. Minimum lot width – 300 ft. 
3. Minimum road frontage – 300 ft. 
4. Minimum separation between detached buildings – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard – 30 ft. 
2. Side yard – 7 ft. on one side and 10 ft. on the other for a principal building; 3 ft. for a 

detached accessory building or 5 ft. from an alley. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 47 

3. Rear yard – 25 ft. for a principal building; 3 ft. for a detached accessory building or 5 ft. 
from an alley. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building – 45 ft. 
2. Accessory building – 18 ft. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Principal building minimum – none. 
2. Accessory building maximum – no limitation. 

(e) Number of detached accessory buildings – no limitation. 
 
17.42 I-1 Light Industrial District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate those businesses and activities typically 
associated with manufacturing of finished products, storage, and wholesale operations. Uses 
permitted in this district characteristically occur inside of a building or other structure. Outdoor 
storage when allowed is clearly incidental to the primary use. Lots are connected to a public 
sanitary sewer system or have an on-site sewage disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The Following uses are permitted in the I-1 District: 
(a) Agriculture-related use. 
(b) Agriculture, crop. 
(c) Forestry. 
(d) Sewage sludge disposal. 
(e) Heavy vehicle sales and rental. 
(f) Equipment rental. Large. 
(g) Landscape business. 
(h) Animal shelter. 
(i) Community garden. 
(j) Correctional facility. 
(k) Maintenance garage. 
(l) Park. 
(m) Public safety facility. 
(n) Recreation trail. 
(o) Stormwater management facility. 
(p) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 
(q) Telecommunications facility, unconcealed 
(r) Utility installation, major. 
(s) Utility installation, minor. 
(t) Utility maintenance yard. 
(u) Airport. 
(v) Bus storage facility. 
(w) Railroad line. 
(x) Street. 
(y) Boat yard. 
(z) Bulk fuel storage. 
(aa) Personal storage facility. 
(bb) Truck terminal. 
(cc) Warehouse 
(dd) Artisan shop. 
(ee) Construction equipment repair. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 48 

(ff) Construction equipment sales and service. 
(gg) Contractor yard. 
(hh) Industrial, light. 
(ii) Composting facility. 
(jj) Recycling center. 
(kk) Maintenance garage. 
(ll) Greenhouse. 
(mm) Vehicle fuel station. 
(nn) Vehicle repair shop. 
(oo) Vehicle sales and rental. 
(pp) Vehicle service shop. 
(qq) Vehicle storage yard. 
(rr) Outdoor sales. 
(ss) Commercial kennel. 
(tt) Outdoor sales. 
(uu) Commercial kennel. 
(vv) General repair. 
(ww) Instructional services. 
(xx) Veterinary clinic, general. 
(yy) Veterinary clinic, small animal. 
(zz) Driving range. 
(aaa) Golf course. 
(bbb) Outdoor entertainment. 
(ccc) Outdoor recreation. 
(ddd) tIndoor shooting range. 
(eee) Civic use facility. 
(fff) Unspecified public use. 
(ggg) Marina. 
(hhh) Mass transit terminal. 
(iii) Off-site parking lot. 
(jjj) Park-and-ride lot. 
(kkk) Contractor yard. 
(lll) Live/work units, as defined in Chapter 17.45(17). 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the I-1 District: 
(a) Backyard chickens. 
(b) Boat dock. 
(c) Exterior communications device. 
(d) Fence. 
(e) Garage, nonresidential. 
(f) Garden. 
(g) Outdoor furnace. 
(h) Parking lot (on-site). 
(i) Play structure. 
(j) Pond. 
(k) Utility cabinet. 
(l) Electric vehicle infrastructure; charging levels 1, 2, and 3. 
(m) Indoor sales incidental to light industrial use. 
(n) Light industrial use incidental to indoor sales. 
(o) Storage container, 3 or more units. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 49 

(4) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the I-1 District: 
(a) Agricultural product sales, off-site. 
(b) Earth materials stockpile, offsite. 
(c) Earth materials stockpile, on-site. 
(d) On-site construction office. 
(e) On-site construction yard. 
(f) Portable storage container. 
(g) Wind test tower. 
(h) Farmers market. 
(i) General outdoor sales. 
(j) Off-site construction yard. 
(k) Seasonal product sales. 

(5) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the I-1 District: 
(a) Dam. 
(b) Brewpub. 
(c) Parking structure. 
(d) Salvage yard. 

(6) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Dimensional standards. 

1. Minimum lot size – 10,000 sq. ft. for sewered lot; 20,000 sq. ft. for unsewered lot. 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 ft. 
3. Minimum road frontage – 33 ft. 
4. Minimum separation between detached buildings – 10 ft. 

(b) Minimum setback. 
1. Street yard – 30 ft. 
2. Side yard – 7 ft. on one side and 10 ft. on the other. 
3. Rear yard – 25 ft. 

(c) Maximum building height. 
1. Principal building – 45 ft. 
2. Accessory building – 30 ft. 

(d) Floor area. 
1. Principal building minimum – no limitation. 
2. Accessory building maximum – no limitation. 

(e) Number of detached accessory buildings – no limitation. 
 
17.43 I-2 Heavy Industrial District. 
 

(1) Purpose. This district is intended to accommodate industrial uses that handle or process raw 
materials and other large-scale uses often considered offensive or unique by nature. Handling and 
processing of materials may occur within a building or other structure or out-of-doors. Lots are 
connected to a public sanitary sewer system or have an on-site sewage disposal system. 

(2) Permitted Uses. The following uses are permitted in the I-2 District: 
(a) Agriculture, crop. 
(b) Forestry. 
(c) Sewage sludge disposal. 
(d) Parl. 
(e) Recreation trail. 
(f) Stormwater management facility. 
(g) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 50 

(h) Telecommunications facility, unconcealed 
(i) Utility installation, major. 
(j) Utility installation, minor. 
(f) Utility maintenance yard. 
(g) Airport. 
(h) Bus storage facility. 
(i) Railroad line. 
(j) Streets. 
(k) Bulk fuel storage. 
(l) Truck terminal. 
(m) Warehouse. 
(n) Construction equipment repair. 
(o) Construction equipment sales and service. 
(p) Industrial, heavy. 
(q) Industrial, light. 
(r) Composting facility. 
(s) Recycling center. 
(t) Solid waste transfer station. 
(u) Maintenance garage. 
(v) Agriculture-related uses. 
(w) Greenhouse. 
(x) Heavy vehicle sales and rental. 
(y) Truck stop. 
(z) Vehicle fuel station. 
(aa) Vehicle sales and service. 
(bb) Vehicle storage yard. 
(cc) Equipment rental, large. 
(dd) Correctional facility. 
(ee) Maintenance garage. 
(ff) Public safety facility. 
(gg) Marina. 
(hh) Park-and-ride lot. 
(ii) Boat yard. 
(jj) Personal storage facility. 
(kk) Artisan shop. 
(ll) Batching plant associated with nonmetallic mine. 
(mm) Biofuels production plant. 
(nn) Contractor yard. 
(oo) Salvage yard. 
(pp) Storage container, 3 or more units. 

(3) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the I-2 District: 
(a) Any permitted accessory use in the I-1 District, with the following exceptions: 

1. Play structure is not allowed in the I-2 District. 
(4) Permitted Temporary Structure. The following temporary structures are permitted in the I-2 District: 

(a) Any permitted temporary structure in the I-1 District. 
(5) Regulations and Standards. 

(a) The same regulations and standards that apply in the I-1 District, with the following exceptions: 
1. Maximum building height. 

a. Principal building – no limitation. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 51 

b. Accessory building – no limitation. 
 
17.44 PDD Planned Development (Overlay) District. 
 

(1) Purpose. Planned development districts are a special type of zoning district and are initially 
proposed by a property owner who desires a mix of uses or flexibility in a project’s overall design, 
as long as such designs are consistent with the Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan. Each 
district is unique and therefore has its own set of development standards that are documented in 
the general development plan, and associated development agreement, if any. PDD districts are 
numbered sequentially (i.e., PDD-1, PDD-2, etc.). 

(2) Initiation. The owner of the subject property may submit an application for the establishment of a 
planned development overlay district. 

(3) Where Allowed. A planned development overlay district shall only be established in the following 
zoning districts: R-1, R-2, R-3, R-4, M-1, B-1, B-2, and B-3. 

(4) Ownership. At the time of establishment, all land within a planned development overlay district 
shall be under single ownership or control. 

(5) Minimum Project Size. A planned development overlay district shall include at least 10 contiguous 
acres of land. 

(6) Development Agreement. Depending on the nature of the planned development overlay district, the 
developer and Town may enter into a development agreement that specifies the duties and 
obligations of both parties with respect to development in the district. 

(7)  Application and Review Procedure. The general steps outlined below shall be used in the review 
of an application for the establishment of a planned development overlay district. 
(a) Pre-submittal meeting. Before submitting an application, the applicant or the applicant's agent 

shall meet with the Plan Commission and zoning administrator to review: 
1. Applicable regulations and procedures. 
2. Applicable sections of the county’s comprehensive plan. 
3. The proposal. 
4. The Plan Commission may waive the requirement to hold a pre-submittal meeting when 

he or she determines such meeting is not necessary. 
(b) Submittal of application materials. The applicant shall submit a completed application and 

other required materials to the Town Clerk along with the application fee as may be 
established by the Town Board. 

(c) Acceptance of application. Within 30 days of submittal, the Town Clerk shall either schedule a 
date for the public hearing allowing for proper public notice or make a determination that the 
application is incomplete and notify the applicant of any deficiencies. If the application is 
incomplete, the applicant has 3 months after the date of such determination to resubmit the 
application or forfeit the application fee. The Town Clerk shall take no further steps to process 
the application until the deficiencies are remedied. The incomplete application shall be 
retained as a public record. 

(d) Staff review. Within 15 days of receipt of the complete application from the Town Clerk, the 
zoning administrator shall review the application materials and prepare a written staff report to 
the Plan Commission. 

(e) Public hearing. Consistent with division 2 of article 6, the Town Clerk shall provide for class 2 
public notice, an on-site sign, town notice, property owner notice, agency notice, and meeting 
agenda notice. Allowing for proper notice, the Plan Commission shall conduct a public hearing 
to review the application. The Plan Commission shall not render its decision at this meeting. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 52 

(f) Decision. At a subsequent meeting of the Plan Commission, but no more than 60 days after 
the public hearing, the Plan Commission after considering the comments and the staff report 
shall make a decision based on the decision criteria contained in this division to: 
1. Approve the creation of the district. 
2. Approve the creation of the district with conditions. 
3. Deny the creation of the district. 

(g) Applicant notification. Within a reasonable time following the Plan Commission’s decision, the 
Town Clerk shall mail the decision notice to the applicant by regular mail. 

(h) Acceptance by property owner required. If an approval includes one or more condition of 
approval, the property owner shall sign the decision notice to acknowledge the imposition of 
such condition or conditions and return the same to the administrator. Failure to sign and 
return the decision notice within 45 days of the Plan Commission’s decision shall void the 
approval. The decision notice shall become effective upon the property owner’s signature. 

(i) Preparation of new zoning map. If the district is approved, the Town Clerk shall within 60 days 
of the date of adoption cause a new zoning map to be prepared. 

(j) Public records. If the district is approved, the Town Clerk shall keep a duplicate copy of the 
approved project plan and development agreement, if any, as a permanent record. 

(8) Basis of Decision. The Plan Commission in making its decision shall consider the following factors: 
(a) Whether development in the proposed district is in keeping with the spirit and intent of this 

Chapter. 
(b) Whether development in the proposed district is consistent with the comprehensive plan. 
(c) The effects of development in the proposed district on traffic safety and efficiency and 

pedestrian circulation, both within and outside of the district. 
(d)  Whether the proposed plan for development in the district is properly planned and is properly 

coordinated with the existing and anticipated land uses on properties in the immediate and 
surrounding area. 

(e) The effects of development within the proposed district on the natural environment. 
(f) Whether development in the proposed district complies with provisions of this Chapter and 

other Chapters of the Winchester Town Code that may apply. 
(g) The effects of development in the proposed district on public services and facilities. 
(h) Whether adequate water and sanitary sewer facilities can be provided to development in the 

proposed district. 
(i) The proposed means of maintaining the undeveloped area of the district for the purpose for 

which it was set aside. 
(j)  Whether the plan for development in the proposed district is clearly superior to development 

that is permitted based on the design and development standards of the underlying zoning 
district. 

(k) Any other factor that relates to the purposes of this Chapter. 
(9) Imposition of Conditions. 

(a) Generally. The Plan Commission may impose conditions as may be necessary to grant 
approval. Such conditions may relate to any of the factors it considered in reaching its 
decision. In addition, the Plan Commission may require the provision of off-site exactions that 
may be necessary to approve the establishment of the planned development overlay district. 

(b) Effect on contracts with another party. The Plan Commission shall not condition or withhold 
approval based upon the property owner entering into a contract or discontinuing, modifying, 
extending, or renewing any contract with a third party under which the third party is engaging 
in a lawful use of the property. 

(10) Application Form and Content. The application submittal shall include the following: 
(a) An application form as may be used by the Town. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 53 

(b) A master development plan prepared at an appropriate scale depicting the information 
required in Appendix A of this Chapter. 

(c) A preliminary draft of covenants if any are to be imposed. 
(d) A development schedule, if the project is to be constructed in phases, which includes the 

anticipated beginning date and ending date of each phase and a description of those project-
related elements to be completed in each phase. 

(11) Staff Report Content. The staff report shall contain the following: 
(a) Preliminary findings based upon the decision criteria listed in this Chapter. 
(b) A recommendation to approve the application, approve the application with conditions, or deny 

the application. 
(c) A preliminary list of conditions of approval regardless of whether the zoning administrator 

recommendation is for approval or denial. 
(d) Other information deemed necessary by the administrator. 

(12) Effect of Approval. If the planned development overlay district is established, the approval shall run 
with the land and be binding on all subsequent property owners. 

(13) Effect of Approved Planned Development Overlay District on Land Division Standards. 
(a) Development in a planned development overlay district shall be subject to the Town of 

Winchester Subdivision Ordinance, except that the Plan Commission may waive a 
development standard in the land division regulations as provided therein. 

(14) Review of Actual Development within an Approved Planned Development Overlay District. 
(a) Once a planned development overlay district is established, proposed development in the 

district shall be reviewed consistent with the requirements of this article as may apply. 
(15) Amendment of an Approved Planned Development Overlay District. Following establishment of a 

planned unit development overlay district, the Plan Commission shall review all proposed changes 
to the project plan that were approved at the time of approval of the district. If in the opinion of the 
Plan Commission, the proposed change constitutes a minor alteration, it may approve the 
requested change at a regular or special meeting. If the proposed change constitutes a major 
alteration, the application and review procedure in this division shall be followed. 

(16) Revocation or Modification of an Approval. Following a public hearing, the Planning Commission 
may revoke or modify an approval if it determines that information in the application or otherwise 
provided by the applicant or the applicant’s agent was incomplete, false, misleading, or inaccurate 
and such information would have altered its decision to approve the application or the conditions of 
approval which were or were not imposed. 

(17) Expiration of Approval. If any area of a planned development overlay district that can be developed 
remains substantially undeveloped 3 years after the creation of the district, the Plan Commission 
shall have the authority to unilaterally rezone such area to a suitable classification. Upon written 
petition and with good cause, the Plan Commission may grant a one-time extension not to exceed 
3 years. 

(18) Appeal. 
(a) Appeal relating to procedural requirements. An aggrieved person who claims the required 

procedural requirements were not followed, in whole or in part, may file a written appeal with 
the Board of Appeals prior to issuance of a final decision or within 30 days of issuance of a 
final decision. If an appeal is filed with the board prior to issuance of a final decision, the Plan 
Commission, with concurrence of the applicant, if not the appellant, may suspend the review 
process until such time as the deficiency is remedied. The Board of Appeals shall only 
consider the procedural requirements and may not alter the decision of the Plan Commission. 
If the Board of Appeals determines that a procedure, in whole or in part, was not followed as 
required, the review process shall not progress until such time as the deficiency has been 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 54 

remedied or the decision shall be stayed until such time as the deficiency and subsequent 
steps have been completed. 

(b) Appeal relating to Board of Appeals decision or relating to the substantive decision. An 
aggrieved person may appeal the final decision of the Board of Appeals to a court of 
competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision or the final decision of the Plan 
Commission to a court of competent jurisdiction within 30 days of the final decision.  

 
17.45 Permitted Use Standards for Zoning Districts. The following permitted use standards shall apply unless 

otherwise noted. All maps shall be consistent with the Town of Winchester ‘Map Guidelines.’ 
 

(1) Agriculture Based Uses. 
(a) Agriculture-relate use. 

1. Generally. An agriculture-related use shall not be located in, or adjacent to, an existing or 
platted residential subdivision. If such use is established prior to the effective date of this 
Chapter, the adjoining lands may be platted for residential subdivisions after that date. 

2. Long-term use. This use shall be located in an area that is planned to remain 
commercially viable for agricultural land uses over the long term. 

3. Setbacks. All buildings, structures, and outdoor storage areas shall be located at least 
100 feet from all side and rear property boundary lines. 

(b) Agriculture, crop. 
1. Setbacks. The raising of crops may occur within the setback of a street yard, side yard, 

and rear yard. 
2. Buildings. Buildings related to the raising of crops are only allowed in an agricultural 

zoning district. 
(2) Resource-based Uses. 

(a) Dam. 
1. State and federal compliance. A dam constructed after the effective date of this Chapter, 

shall comply with all state and federal rules and regulations. 
2. Removal. A dam may be removed, provided the standards and requirements of ch. 31, 

Wis. Stats., are met. 
3. Safety. The owner of the dam shall comply with the safety measures required in s. NR 

33.07(3), Wis. Admin. Code. 
4. Unsafe conditions. If the Plan Commission determines that a dam is unsafe or otherwise 

defective, the administrator shall follow the procedure outlined in article 7 of this Chapter 
relating to unsafe conditions. 

5. Termination of use. If the Plan Commission determines that a dam has not been 
operational for a continuous period of 12 months, the administrator shall follow the 
procedure outlined in article 7 of this Chapter relating to the termination of an approval. 

(b) Forestry. 
1. Removal of trees and shrubs within a buffer yard. Trees and shrubs within a required 

buffer yard shall not be removed, except as follows: 
a. A dead or dying tree or shrub may be removed when it poses a threat to public health 

and safety. 
b. An invasive tree or shrub may be removed. 
c. If a tree or shrub is removed and the tree or shrub is counted towards meeting a 

landscaping requirement contained in this Chapter, a new plant shall be planted in 
the buffer yard to compensate for the loss. 

2. Removal of a tree or shrub within a defined open space area. Trees and shrubs within an 
area set aside as open space shall not be removed except as follows: 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 55 

a. A dead or dying tree or shrub may be removed when it poses a threat to public health 
and safety. 

b. The removal of trees and shrubs is done consistent with a landscape management 
plan as prepared by a registered landscape architect, an arborist, or a forester and as 
approved by the Plan Commission. 

(c) Sewage sludge disposal. 
1. The land application of sewage sludge shall comply with s. 283.82, Wis. Stats.; ch. NR 

204, Wis. Admin. Code; and other applicable rules and regulations administered by the 
Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. 

(3) Residential Uses. 
(a) Mobile home park. 

1. Minimum size. The minimum size of a mobile home park established after the effective 
date of this Chapter shall be 5 acres. 

2. Uses. A recreational vehicle shall not be used for dwelling purposes. The following are 
permitted uses: 
a. One mobile home or manufactured home per designated space. 
b. One single-family dwelling for the park operator or caretaker. 
c. One or more community safe rooms. 
d. Service buildings, such as administrative offices, Laundromats, and recreational 

buildings, provided that such uses are subordinate to the residential character of the 
park and are intended for use primarily by park residents. 

e. Accessory structures, such as storage sheds, porches, garages, and carports as may 
be approved by the park operator, provided minimum setback requirements to the 
perimeter are maintained. 

f. One or more play areas for children. 
3. Density. The maximum density shall be 8 spaces per gross acre. 
4. Park access. The entrance to the mobile home park shall be designed to minimize 

congestion and hazards and allow free movement of traffic on adjacent roads. Each 
access to the development shall be off of a road classified as a minor arterial, major 
collector, or minor collector as depicted on the zoning map or a supplemental map. 

5. Interior access. Access to each mobile home space shall be off of a paved private street 
internal to the project. 

6. Walkways. Pedestrian walkways shall be provided in the area around service buildings, 
along major streets, and in other locations of anticipated heavy foot traffic. Walkways shall 
be at least 4 feet wide and hard-surfaced. In addition, each mobile home stand shall be 
provided with a walkway from the stand to the street or parking space. 

7. Mobile home space. An individual mobile home space shall contain at least 3,000 square 
feet and shall have a minimum width, at the narrowest point, of 45 feet. The limits of each 
mobile home space shall be clearly marked on the ground. Considering the orientation of 
principal windows in mobile homes, mobile home spaces shall be arranged diagonally to 
the street (30 degrees from perpendicular). 

8. Identification of mobile home spaces. Each mobile home shall be clearly identified in a 
uniform manner with a unique number or other approved designation for fire and police 
services. Such number or other approved designation shall be filed with the appropriate 
authorities by the licensee. 

9. Mobile home pad. Within each designated mobile home space, a mobile home pad with 
minimum dimensions of 17 feet by 70 feet shall be provided for the placement of the 
mobile home. The pad shall be hard surfaced with asphalt, concrete, or similar material 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 56 

and provide adequate drainage and support against settling and frost heave. It shall be 
equipped with tie downs and anchors to secure the mobile home against winds. 

10. Required separation between mobile homes. Mobile homes shall be separated from each 
other and from other buildings and structures by at least 20 feet. An accessory structure 
such as an awning, cabana, storage cabinet, carport, windbreak, or porch attached to the 
mobile home shall, for purposes of separation requirements, be considered a part of the 
mobile home. The basic unit shall not occupy in excess of one fourth of the area of the lot 
and the complete unit including all accessory structures shall not occupy more than one-
half of the area of the lot. 

11. Setback and buffer strips. Each mobile home shall be located at least 5 feet from any 
mobile home lot line. There shall be a minimum setback of the mobile home of 20 feet 
from the front, or main street side of the lot and of at least 10 feet from the rear of the lot. 
All mobile homes shall be located at least 25 feet from the perimeter of the site. 
Accessory buildings shall be located at least 10 feet from the perimeter of the site. 

12. Drainage and landscaping. The ground surface shall be graded and equipped to drain all 
surface water in a safe, efficient manner away from the mobile home pad. Except for the 
mobile home pad and other hard-surfaced areas, mobile home spaces shall be sodded or 
seeded or otherwise landscaped. 

13. Skirting. Each mobile home shall be skirted within 30 days of placement on the pad. 
14. Mail delivery. An off-street area for central mail delivery shall be provided. 
15. Solid waste collection. If the solid waste service provider does not provide individual 

pickup, a dumpster enclosure of sufficient size shall be provided. 
16. Common storage area for residents. An open, well-drained, dust-free storage area for the 

parking of boats, trailers, and outside vehicles owned by those living in the mobile home 
park shall be provided. The minimum size of such area shall be 100 square feet per 
mobile home space. The storage area shall be fenced to prevent access from outside the 
park. 

17. Recreation area. A mobile home park shall contain a recreation area consisting of one-
half acre for each 100 mobile home spaces. The minimum area in a park shall be 0.2 
acres. Such area shall be located in a central area of the mobile home park. 

18. Utilities. Utilities, including electrical, television, and telephone services, shall be placed 
underground. 

19. Lighting. Street lights shall be provided in sufficient number and intensity to permit the 
safe movement of vehicles and pedestrians at night and shall be effectively related to 
buildings, trees, walks, steps, and ramps. 

20. Fire hydrants. Fire hydrants shall be installed as required by the fire department serving 
the subject property. 

21. Sanitation. All appropriate state, county, and county sanitation regulations shall be strictly 
observed. Mobile home parks established after the effective date of this Chapter shall be 
served by a public sanitary district. An expansion of a mobile home park existing prior to 
the effective date of this Chapter may be served by an on-site system. 

22. Continuing maintenance. The owner of the mobile home park shall maintain the park in a 
clean and sanitary manner and may adopt and enforce community rules. 

23. Community safe room. A new mobile home park that contains 20 or more mobile home 
spaces and existing mobile home parks that expand the number of spaces to 20 or more 
spaces shall provide and maintain an on-site community safe room for the use of park 
residents during wind-related storm events. The shelter shall meet applicable building 
codes and shall comply with the design and construction guidance as contained in Design 
and Construction Guidance for Community Safe Rooms (FEMA 361, second edition), or 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 57 

later edition, as published by the Federal Emergency Management Agency, U.S. 
Department of Homeland Security. 

24. Local license. Prior to the establishment of a mobile home park, the operator shall obtain 
a license from the town and maintain such license for the life of the use or until the town 
no longer requires such license. 

(b) Multi-family building, 2 units. 
1. Number of principal buildings per parcel. More than one multifamily building with 2 

dwelling units may be located on a parcel of land provided the overall density is 
maintained. 

2. Design and construction. A multifamily building with 2 dwelling units shall meet the design 
and construction standards for a single-family dwelling under Sec. 17.44(3)(d)(3) of this 
Chapter. 

(c) Multifamily building, 3 or more units. 
1. Number of principal buildings per parcel. More than one multifamily building with 3 or 

more dwelling units may be located on a parcel of land, provided the overall density is 
maintained. 

2. Design and construction. A multifamily building with 3 or more dwelling units shall meet 
the design and construction standards for a single-family dwelling under Sec. 
17.44(3)(d)(3) of this Chapter. 

(d) Single-family dwelling. 
1. Number of principal dwellings per parcel. No more than one principal residential building 

shall occupy any single parcel of land. 
2. Occupancy. A dwelling unit shall be occupied by no more than one family. 
3. Design and construction. A single-family dwelling shall meet the following standards: 

a. Suitable roof coverings include clay or ceramic tiles, wood shingles or shakes, metal, 
or fiberglass or asphalt shingles. 

b. Exterior wall surfaces shall be covered with stucco, wood siding, cement-fiber siding, 
vinyl siding, metal horizontal lap siding, wood shingles, or a masonry veneer. 

c. An overhang shall extend at least 12 inches beyond the face of the exterior wall. 
d. The building shall be set on and anchored to a continuous permanent foundation that 

extends around its perimeter. 
e. The Plan Commission may approve a conditional use authorizing an exterior material 

not specifically allowed in this subsection. 
(e) Townhouse. 

1. Lot area. No more than 70 percent of the lot area shall be occupied by a building. 
2. Utility service. Each dwelling unit shall have independent service connections to all 

utilities, including water, sewer, and electricity. 
3. Subsequent divisions. Individual townhouses shall not be further subdivided.  
4. Driveways. When more than one garage is located in the front of a townhouse, a common 

driveway shall be used whenever possible.  
5. Vertical off-sets. When a building includes 5 or more dwelling units, there shall be a 

vertical offset of at least 2 feet between each adjoining dwelling unit.  
6. Accessory buildings. The floor area of accessory buildings, excluding garages and 

carports, shall not exceed 120 cumulative square feet.  
7. Front entrances. The front entrance to each dwelling unit shall be clearly visible from the 

street on which it fronts and accentuated by a porch or other architectural feature. 
(f) Twin home. 

1. Fire separation. Each dwelling unit of a twin home shall be separated from the abutting 
unit by a minimum fire separation complying with s. Comma 21.08, Wis. Admin. Code. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 58 

2. General layout. The common wall between dwelling units in a twin home shall be 
approximately perpendicular to the front lot line. 

3. Water service. Dwelling units in a twin home shall have a separate water service with 
separate curb stops, lines, and meters. 

4. Gas and electric service. Dwelling units in a twin home shall have separate gas and 
electric meters. 

5. Sanitary sewer service. Dwelling units in a twin home shall have separate sanitary sewer 
service laterals and lines, subject to including a provision in a joint access and 
maintenance agreement that addresses emergency access to, and the responsibility for, 
sanitary sewer building blockage. 

6. Written agreement required. Dwelling units in a twin home shall be subject to a joint cross 
access and maintenance agreement as approved by the Plan Commission. Such 
agreement shall be recorded with each lot in the office of the register of deeds for 
Winnebago County. 

(4) Special Care Facilities. 
(a) Adult family home. An adult family home shall not be established within 2,500 feet of another 

such facility or any community living arrangement. An agent of a proposed adult family home 
may apply for an exception to this requirement, and the Town Board at its discretion may grant 
the exception. An adult family home certified under s. 50.032(1m)(b), Wis. Stats., is exempt 
from this provision. 

(b) Community living arrangement. A community living arrangement shall not be established 
within 2,500 feet of another such facility. An agent of a facility may apply for an exception to 
this requirement, and the town board at its discretion may grant the exception. Two community 
living arrangements may be adjacent if allowed by the town board and if both facilities 
comprise essential components of a single program. A foster home and a foster treatment 
home that is the primary domicile of a foster parent or foster treatment parent and that is 
licensed under s. 48.62, Wis. Stats., are exempt from this provision. 

(c)  Foster home and treatment foster home (operated as a principal use). 
1. Proximity to other such facility. A foster home or treatment foster home that is operated by 

a corporation, a child welfare agency, a religious association, as defined in s. 
157.061(15), Wis. Stats., an association, or a public agency, shall not be established 
within 2,500 feet of another such facility. An agent may apply for an exception to this 
requirement, and the town board at its discretion may grant the exception. 

2. State license. Prior to the establishment of a foster home or treatment foster home, the 
operator shall obtain a license from the state as provided for in s. 48.75 Wis. Stats., and 
maintain such license for the life of the use or until the state no longer requires such 
license. 

(d) Group day care center. An outdoor activity area associated with a group day care center shall 
not be located within 20 feet of an adjoining property in a residential zoning district. 

(e) Hospice care center. Prior to the establishment of a hospice care center, the operator shall 
obtain a license from the state as provided for in s. 50.92 Wis. Stats., and maintain such 
license for the life of the use or until the state no longer requires such license. 

(f) Nursing home. 
1. Required green space. A minimum of 30 percent of the gross site area shall be green 

space. 
2. Parking lot screening. When an off-street parking lot is located within 20 feet of a property 

in a residential zoning district landscaping, fencing, a berm, or any combination thereof 
shall be used to effectively screen the parking area from the residential property. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 59 

3. Setbacks. Principal buildings shall be located at least 35 feet from a property in a 
residential zoning district. 

(g) Retirement home. 
1. Required green space. A minimum of 30 percent of the gross site area shall be green 

space. 
2. Parking lot screening. When an off-street parking lot is located within 20 feet of a property 

in a residential zoning district, landscaping, fencing, a berm, or any combination thereof 
shall be used to effectively screen the parking area from the residential property. 

3. Setbacks. Principal buildings shall be located at least 35 feet from a property in a 
residential zoning district. 

(5) Group Accommodations. 
(a) Boardinghouse. The property owner or a property manager shall reside on the premises. 
(b) Campground. 

1. Generally. In addition to the other applicable design and improvement requirements 
contained in this Chapter, a campground shall comply with the provisions of this section 
and applicable state law. 

2. Minimum lot area. The minimum lot area for a campground is 5 acres. 
3. Continuing maintenance. The owner of the campground shall maintain the campground in 

a clean and sanitary manner. 
4. Accessory facilities. Accessory facilities (e.g., laundry and food sales) may be allowed as 

a service to the occupants of the campground but shall be designed, operated, and 
located to inhibit use by non-occupants.  

5. Density. The density shall not exceed 25 campground spaces per acre (gross).  
6. Recreation area. At least 8 percent of the gross site area or 2,500 square feet, whichever 

is greater, shall be dedicated for on-site recreational purposes and shall be easily 
accessible from all camping spaces.  

7. Access. Campground spaces shall be arranged to permit the safe and practical placement 
and removal of vehicles from a private roadway internal to the development.  

8. Setbacks from property boundary line. A campground space shall be no closer than 40 
feet to the perimeter property boundary line of the site.  

9. Solid waste collection. An off-street area for the collection of solid waste shall be provided 
within a campground.  

10. Limitation on addition of features. Storage sheds, decks, patios, and similar structures, 
whether permanent or temporary, shall not be permitted within a camping space. 
Structural additions to a recreational vehicle, whether permanent or temporary, shall not 
be permitted.  

11. State license. Prior to the establishment of a campground, the operator shall obtain a 
license from the Wisconsin Department of Health and Family Services as required by 
state law and maintain such license for the life of the use or until the state no longer 
requires such license. 

12. Local license. Prior to the establishment of a campground, the operator shall obtain a 
license from the Winnebago County Health Department and maintain such license for the 
life of the use or until the department no longer requires such license. 

(c) Group recreation camp. 
1. Generally. In addition to the other applicable design and improvement requirements 

contained in this Chapter, a group recreation camp shall comply with the provisions of this 
section and applicable state law. 

2. Minimum lot area. The minimum lot area for a group recreation camp is 5 acres. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 60 

3. Continuing maintenance. The owner of the group recreation camp shall maintain the 
group camp in a clean and sanitary manner. 

4. Accessory facilities. Accessory facilities (e.g., laundry and food sales) may be allowed as 
a service to the occupants of the group recreation camp but they shall be designed, 
operated, and located to inhibit use by non-occupants. 

5. Density. If campground spaces are provided, the density shall not exceed 25 campground 
spaces per acre (gross). 

6. Access. If campground spaces are provided, they shall be arranged to permit the safe and 
practical placement and removal of vehicles from a private roadway internal to the 
development. 

7. Setbacks from property boundary line. If campground spaces are provided, they shall be 
no closer than 40 feet to the perimeter property boundary line of the site. 

8. Solid waste collection. An off-street area for the collection of solid waste shall be provided 
within a group recreation camp. 

9. Limitation on addition of features. Storage sheds, decks, patios, and similar structures, 
whether permanent or temporary, shall not be permitted within a camping space. 
Structural additions to a recreational vehicle, whether permanent or temporary, shall not 
be permitted. 

10. State license. Prior to the establishment of a group recreation camp, the operator shall 
obtain a license from the Wisconsin Department of Health and Family Services as 
required by state law and maintain such license for the life of the use or until the state no 
longer requires such license. 

11. Local license. Prior to the establishment of a group recreation camp, the operator shall 
obtain a license from the Winnebago County Health Department if so required and 
maintain such license for the life of the use or until the department no longer requires 
such license. 

(d) Overnight lodging. 
1. Local license. Prior to the establishment of overnight lodging, the operator shall obtain a 

license from the Winnebago County Health Department and maintain such license for the 
life of the use or until the department no longer requires such license. 

2. Location of customer entrance. No customer entrance to the building shall be located 
within 100 feet of a property in a residential zoning district. 

(e) Resort.  
1. A resort in the B-2 zoning district must be located on a lake or on one of the following: Fox 

River, Rat River, or Wolf River. 
2. Minimum lot area. The minimum lot area for a resort is 5 acres. 

(6) Food and Beverage Sales. 
(a) Brewpub. 

1. Local license. Prior to the establishment of a brewpub, the operator shall obtain a license 
from the county, as may be required, and maintain such license for the life of the use or 
until the county no longer requires such license. 

2. State license. Prior to the establishment of a brewpub, the operator shall obtain a license 
from the state, as may be required, and maintain such license for the life of the use or 
until the state no longer requires such license. 

3. Limitation on floor area devoted to production. No more than 40 percent of the floor area 
shall be devoted to the production of fermented malt beverages, including storage of raw 
materials and finished products. 

4. Limitation on production. Not more than 10,000 barrels (310,000 gallons) of fermented 
malt beverages may be manufactured in a calendar year. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 61 

(b) Restaurant. Prior to the establishment of a restaurant, the operator shall obtain a license from 
the Winnebago County Health Department and maintain such license for the life of the use or 
until the department no longer requires such license. 

(c) Tavern. 
1. Local license. Prior to the establishment of a tavern, the operator shall obtain a license 

from the town in which the use is located and maintain such license for the life of the use 
or until the license is no longer required. 

2. Compliance with state requirements. A tavern shall comply with requirements as may be 
adopted by the state of Wisconsin. 

(7) Vehicle Rental Sales and Service. 
(a) Heavy vehicle sales and rental. Outdoor display areas and other activity areas shall be located 

at least 50 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 25 feet from a property in a 
commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(b) Truck stop. 
1. Minimum lot area and location. A truck stop established after the effective date of this 

Chapter shall be located on a parcel containing at least 10 acres that is located within 
2,000 feet of a U.S. highway or a state highway. 

2. Access. Each access to the parcel with a truck stop shall be off of a road classified as an 
arterial or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a supplemental map. 

3. Restroom facilities. If a truck stop provides restroom facilities, the door to each restroom 
shall be accessed from within the interior of the building in which they are located. 

4. Pump island canopies. Pump island canopies shall not exceed 22 feet in height. 
5. Location of parking areas. Areas designated or used for truck parking and other similar 

activity areas shall be designed and located so that noise levels at the property boundary 
line of a property in a residential zoning district do not exceed 60 decibels as measured 
on a dB(A) scale between the hours of 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. 

(c) Vehicle fuel station. 
1. Restroom facilities. If a vehicle fuel station provides restroom facilities, the door to each 

restroom shall be accessed from within the interior of the building in which they are 
located. 

2. Pump island canopies. Pump island canopies shall not exceed 22 feet in height. 
3. Special setbacks. The following setbacks shall apply to a vehicle fuel station: 

a. A fuel pump shall be located at least 50 feet from a property in a residential zoning 
district and at least 30 feet from a property in a nonresidential zoning district. 

b. A pump island canopy shall be located at least 18 feet from all property boundary 
lines. 

(d) Vehicle repair shop. 
1. Work area. Motor vehicles shall not be serviced or repaired outside of the principal 

structure intended for such use, except when located in an industrial zoning district. 
2. Vehicle storage. When a vehicle repair shop is located in a commercial zoning district, no 

more than 10 motor vehicles shall be stored out-of-doors overnight. When located in an 
industrial zoning district, there is no limitation on the number of motor vehicles that can be 
stored out-of-doors overnight. Storage of unlicensed vehicles is prohibited. 

(e) Vehicle sales and rental. 
1. Show room. An indoor vehicle display area shall be provided that is at least 12 feet by 20 

feet. If only motorcycles are sold, the indoor vehicle display area shall be large enough to 
display at least 3 motorcycles. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 62 

2. State license. Prior to the establishment of this use, the operator shall obtain a license 
from the state as required by state law and maintain such license for the life of the use or 
until the state no longer requires such license. 

3. Setback for display area. Display areas and other activity areas shall be located at least 
30 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 10 feet from a property in a 
commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(f) Vehicle storage yard. 
1. Buffer yard. In addition to the buffer yard requirements in article 9 of this Chapter, the 

reviewing authority may, as part of the site plan review process, require additional buffer 
yard requirements deemed necessary to provide adequate screening between this use 
and adjoining properties. 

2. Setback requirements. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be located at 
least 40 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 20 feet from a property in a 
commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

3. Fence. A 6-foot solid fence, subject to approval by the reviewing authority, shall be 
located around the perimeter of the area used to store the motor vehicles. 

4. Fence plan. As part of the site plan review application, the applicant shall submit a fence 
plan which specifies construction materials and specifications. 

(8) General Sales. 
(a) General retail sales, large format. 

1. The Town Board makes the following finding relating to large-format retail sales: 
Abandoned buildings are a blighting influence on the community and large vacant stores 
are especially detrimental. 

2. Purpose. The provisions of this section are intended to prevent urban blight due to large 
vacant stores. 

3. Development agreement. Prior to issuance of a building permit for a large-format retail 
store, the property owner shall enter into a development agreement with the county, to run 
with the land, that includes all of the following: 
a. A provision that prevents the owner from prohibiting or otherwise limiting, through 

contract or other legal device, the reuse of the building for retail or other legitimate 
purpose. 

b. A provision requiring long-term maintenance of the property including landscaping if 
the building is vacated. 

c. A provision requiring the preparation of an adaptive reuse plan or a demolition plan 
by the property owner acceptable to the Plan Commission within 12 months of 
vacation. 

d. A provision stating that the property owner within 24 months of vacation shall either 
begin demolishing the building and restoring the site consistent with the approved 
demolition plan and continue in good faith to completion or begin implementing the 
approved adaptive reuse plan and continue in good faith to completion. 

e. Other provisions deemed necessary by the Plan Commission to address the 
particular circumstances related to the project. 

4. Vacation of existing buildings. When a large-format store is proposed as a replacement 
for another retail store already located in the county, the applicant shall not prohibit or 
otherwise limit, through contract or other legal device, the reuse of its former building. 

(b) Outdoor sales. Items offered for sale shall not be located within the setbacks established for 
the zoning district in which the use is located. 

(9) General Services. 
(a) Adult-oriented establishment. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 63 

1. Findings. The Town Board makes the following findings regarding adult-oriented 
establishments: 
a. Adult-oriented establishments are frequently used for unlawful sexual activities, 

including prostitution and sexual liaisons of a causal nature, which may have a 
deleterious effect on the existing and planned commercial and residential uses in the 
surrounding area and result in a downgrading of property values as well as causing 
an increase in criminal activity. The serving or presence of alcohol within an adult-
oriented establishment is likely to heighten the potential occurrence of such 
deleterious effects on the surrounding area. 

b. The establishment of adult-oriented establishments within 600 feet of each other can 
create especially deleterious effects on existing and planned commercial and 
residential uses in the surrounding area. 

c. The establishment of an adult-oriented establishment within 600 feet of certain land 
uses, including schools, worship facilities, libraries, parks, and other places where the 
public and especially children congregate, can conflict with those uses. 

d. Concern over sexually transmitted diseases is a legitimate health concern of the 
Town of Winchester, which demands reasonable regulation of adult entertainment 
businesses in order to protect the health and wellbeing of the citizens. 

e. The Town of Winchester desires to minimize and control these adverse secondary 
effects and thereby protect the health, safety and welfare of the citizenry, protect the 
citizens from increased crime, preserve the quality of life, preserve the property 
values and character of surrounding neighborhoods, and deter the spread blight. 

f. It is not the intent of this section to suppress any speech activities protected by the 
First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution but to enact regulations that address the 
negative secondary effects of adult-oriented establishments.  

g. It is not the intent of the Town of Winchester to condone or legitimize the distribution 
of obscene material.  

h. It is in the best interests of the Town of Winchester to minimize and control any 
adverse secondary effects of adult-oriented establishments within the Town while 
preserving the right of free speech and protecting First Amendment rights to all 
citizens and recognizing the rights of citizens to patronize and operate adult-oriented 
establishments. 

2. Purpose. This section is intended to regulate adult-oriented establishments in order to 
promote the health, safety, and general welfare of citizens of the Town of Winchester, and 
to establish reasonable and uniform regulations to prevent the deleterious location and 
concentration of adult-oriented establishments within the county. The provisions of this 
section have neither the purpose nor effect of imposing a limitation or restriction on the 
content of any communicative materials, including sexually oriented materials. Similarly, it 
is neither the intent nor effect of this section to restrict or deny access by adults to 
sexually-oriented materials protected by the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, or 
to deny access by the distributors and exhibitors of adult-oriented entertainment to their 
intended market. Neither is it the intent nor effect of this section to condone or legitimize 
the distribution of obscene material. 

3. Applicability. Upon any of the following events, an adult-oriented establishment shall 
comply with the provisions of this section: 
a. The opening or commencement of an adult-oriented establishment. 
b. The conversion of an existing business, whether or not a adult-oriented 

establishment, to an adult-oriented establishment. 
c. The addition of an adult-oriented establishment to an adult-oriented establishment. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 64 

d. The relocation of an adult-oriented establishment. 
e. The sale, lease, or sublease of an adult-oriented establishment. 
f. The transfer of securities which constitute a controlling interest in an adult-oriented 

establishment, whether by sale, exchange, or similar means. 
g. The establishment of a trust, gift, or other similar legal device that transfers the 

ownership or control of an adult-oriented establishment, except for transfer by 
bequest or other operation of law upon the death of the person possessing the 
ownership or control. 

4. Exclusions. This section does not apply to theaters, performing arts centers, civic centers, 
and dinner theaters where: 
a. Live dance, ballet, music, and dramatic performances of serious artistic merit are 

offered on a regular basis. 
b. The predominant business or attraction is not the offering of entertainment which is 

intended for sexual interests or titillation of customers. 
c. The establishment is not distinguished by an emphasis on or the advertising or 

promotion of nude or semi-nude performances. While expressive live nudity may 
occur within these establishments, this section seeks only to minimize and prevent 
the secondary effects of adult entertainment businesses on the community. Negative 
secondary effects have not been associated with the aforementioned establishments 
listed in this part. 

5. Proximity to another establishment of the same kind. An adult-oriented establishment 
shall not be located within 600 feet of another adult-oriented establishment. 

6. Proximity to specified zoning districts. An adult-oriented establishment shall not be located 
within 600 feet of a parcel of land in a residential zoning district or a planned development 
district that allows residential uses. 

7. Proximity to other specified land uses. 
a. An adult-oriented establishment shall not be located within 600 feet of any of the 

following: 
i. Public library. 
ii. Public playground or park, including nature trails, pedestrian/bicycle paths, 

wilderness areas, or other public lands open for recreational activities. 
iii. Educational facility, including K-12 and post-secondary, but not including facilities 

used primarily for another purpose and only incidentally at a school. 
iv. State licensed family day care home, group day care home, or day care center. 
v. Worship facility. 
vi. Any youth-oriented establishment. 
vii. Tavern. 
viii. Any commercial business, other than a tavern, holding a valid liquor license. 
ix. Farm dwelling. 

b. If one of these specified uses locates within this area of separation after the adult-
oriented establishment has been granted a building permit or occupancy permit, the 
adult-oriented establishment shall not be required to relocate. 

8. Measurement of distances. For the purpose of this section, specified distances are 
measured in a straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the 
nearest portion of the building or structure containing the adult-oriented establishment, to 
the nearest property boundary line of the parcel with the specified use or to the specified 
zoning district. If an adult-oriented establishment is located in a multi-tenant building (e.g., 
shopping center), the measurement shall be taken from the outer boundary of such space 
(i.e. from the outer edge of the party wall or the outer wall). The presence of a city, village, 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 65 

county, or other political subdivision boundary shall be irrelevant for purposes of applying 
the separation requirements of this section. 

9. Sale of alcohol. An adult-oriented establishment shall not sell, distribute, or allow 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises, unless the town in which it is 
located has passed a resolution allowing alcohol in such establishments and has sent a 
certified copy of the same to the Town Clerk. 

10. Building standards. All building openings, entries, and windows shall be located, covered, 
or screened in such manner so as to prevent the interior of such premise from being 
viewed from outside the establishment. An entry with a double set of doors may be used 
to meet this standard. Further, there shall be no display windows. 

11. Special provisions for adult cabarets. An adult cabaret shall close no later than the closing 
time as may be established for taverns by the town in which this use is located. 

12. Special provisions for adult motion picture theaters. An adult motion picture theater shall 
close no later than the closing time as may be established for taverns by the town in 
which this use is located. The viewing screen shall not be visible from a public park, road, 
street, highway, or residence. The premises shall be surrounded by a solid fence at least 
8 feet in height. All theaters shall be in compliance with s. 134.46, Wis. Stats. 

13. Prohibitions. The property owner and the operator of an adult-oriented establishment shall 
ensure that minors, as defined by state law (s. 990.01(20), Wis. Stats.), are not permitted 
on the premises. Solicitation for purposes of prostitution shall be strictly prohibited on the 
premises. 

14. Physical contact with an entertainer. During a performance, an entertainer shall not have 
physical contact with another individual. To prevent such physical contact, performances 
shall occur on a stage or on a table that is elevated at least 18 inches above the 
immediate floor level and shall not be less than 3 feet from any areas occupied by any 
patron. Patrons shall not be closer than 5 feet to an entertainer during a performance, 
including, but not limited to, during the payment of a tip or gratuity. An adult-oriented 
establishment existing before the effective date of this Chapter shall not have to 
reconstruct existing stages and tables to meet this requirement, but shall adhere to the 
prohibition against physical contact. 

15. Signage. Signs advertising an adult-oriented establishment shall conform with article 12 of 
this Chapter with the exception, however, that no tower or portable signs or billboards 
shall be permitted on the premises, and with the further exception that signs will not depict 
specified sexual activities, specified anatomical areas, or both and provided further that 
there shall be no flashing or traveling lights located outside of the building. 

16. Special provisions related to review of application. As part of the review of a conditional 
use application for an adult-oriented establishment, the Plan Commission shall conduct an 
inventory of the surrounding area and population along with a study of the proposed 
development and plans for the area so as to enable the Plan Commission to make 
appropriate findings relating to the effect of the establishment of an adult-oriented 
establishment in that area. 

(b) Body-piercing establishment. 
1. Locational standards. A body-piercing establishment shall not be located within 600 feet 

of another body-piercing establishment or a tattoo establishment. For the purpose of this 
section, such distance shall be measured in a straight line, without regard to intervening 
structures or objects, from the nearest portion of the exterior wall of the building 
containing the body-piercing establishment to the outer wall of the building containing the 
other specified land use. If one or both of the specified land uses are located in a multi-
tenant building (e.g., shopping center), the measurement shall be taken from the outer 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 66 

boundary of such space (i.e. from the outer edge of the party wall or the exterior wall). 
The presence of a city, county, or other political subdivision boundary shall be irrelevant 
for purposes of applying the separation requirements of this section. 

2. Sale of alcohol. A body-piercing establishment shall not also sell, distribute, or allow 
consumption of alcoholic beverages on the premises. 

3. Building standards. A patron who is being pierced shall not be visible from the exterior of 
the building through a window or entrance to the building. 

4. State license. Prior to the establishment of a body-piercing establishment, the operator 
shall obtain a license from the state as required by state law and maintain such license for 
the life of the use or until the state no longer requires such license. In addition, each 
practitioner shall obtain a license from the state as required by state law and maintain 
such license while at the establishment or until the state no longer requires such license. 

(c) Commercial stable. 
1. Minimum lot area. The minimum lot area for a commercial stable is 5 acres. 
2. Review parameters. As part of the review of the site plan and operation plan, the handling 

and disposal of animal waste generated by this use shall be addressed along with 
required setbacks from adjoining properties and the maximum number livestock that may 
be kept on the premise. 

(d) Equipment rental, large. Outdoor display and storage areas and other activity areas shall be 
located at least 50 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 10 feet from a 
property in a commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(e) Financial services. A payday loan business or auto title loan business shall not be located 
within 1,500 feet of another payday loan business or auto title loan business or within 150 feet 
of a single-family or two-family residential zoning district. For the purpose of this section, such 
distance shall be measured in a straight line, without regard to intervening structures or 
objects, from the nearest portion of the exterior wall of the building containing the payday loan 
business or auto title loan business to the outer wall of the building containing the other 
specified land use or, as appropriate, to the nearest property boundary line of a parcel in the 
specified zoning district. The presence of a city, county, or other political subdivision boundary 
shall be irrelevant for purposes of applying the separation requirements of this section. If a 
payday loan business or auto title loan business is operating on the effective date of this 
Chapter and does not comply with the locational standards in this section, such business may 
continue to operate at that location. 

(f) General repair. All activities related to this use shall occur within a building, except when the 
parcel of land is located in an industrial zoning district. 

(g) Health care center. 
1. Access requirements. The primary access to a health care center shall be off of a road 

classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 

2. Transition when allowed as a conditional use. When a health care center is allowed as a 
conditional use, an appropriate transition shall be required between this use and an 
adjoining use. 

(h) Landscape business. Outdoor work areas, parking areas, and storage of equipment and 
materials related to a landscape business shall not be located within the setbacks established 
for the zoning district in which the use is located. 

(i) Tattoo establishment. 
1. Locational standards. A tattoo establishment shall not be located within 600 feet of 

another tattoo establishment or a body-piercing establishment. For the purpose of this 
section, such distance shall be measured in a straight line, without regard to intervening 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 67 

structures or objects, from the nearest portion of the exterior wall of the building 
containing the tattoo establishment to the outer wall of the building containing the other 
specified land use. If one or both of the specified land uses are located in a multi-tenant 
building (e.g., shopping center), the measurement shall be taken from the outer boundary 
of such space (i.e. from the outer edge of the party wall or the outer wall). The presence 
of a political subdivision boundary shall be irrelevant for purposes of applying the 
separation requirements of this section. 

2. Sale of alcohol. A tattoo establishment shall not also sell, distribute, or allow consumption 
of alcoholic beverages on the premises. 

3. Building standards. A patron who is being tattooed shall not be visible from the exterior of 
the building through any window or entrance to the building. 

4. State license. Prior to the establishment of a tattoo establishment, the operator shall 
obtain a license from the state as required by state law and maintain such license for the 
life of the use or until the state no longer requires such license. In addition, each 
practitioner shall obtain a license from the state as required by state law and maintain 
such license while at the establishment or until the state no longer requires such license. 

5. County license. Prior to the establishment of a tattoo establishment, the operator shall 
obtain a license from the Winnebago County Health Department and any other county 
department as may be required and maintain such license for the life of the use or until 
the county no longer requires such license. 

(j) Veterinary clinic, general. The standards applicable to animal shelters apply to general 
veterinary clinics. 

(k) Veterinary clinic, small animal. The standards applicable to animal shelters apply to small 
animal veterinary clinics. 

(10) Recreation and Entertainment. 
(a) Golf course. Club houses and maintenance buildings shall be located at least 300 feet from a 

property in a residential zoning district. 
(b) Outdoor entertainment. 

1. Hours of operation. The reviewing authority may establish hours of operation for this use 
when the operation may negatively affect surrounding properties. 

2. Site design considerations. The site shall be designed to minimize the effects of outdoor 
lighting and noise on surrounding properties. 

(c) Outdoor recreation. 
1. Hours of operation. The Plan Commission may establish hours of operation for this use 

when the operation may negatively affect surrounding properties. 
2. Site design considerations. The site shall be designed to minimize the effects of outdoor 

lighting and noise on surrounding properties. 
(d) Outdoor shooting range. 

1. Hours of operation. An existing or new outdoor shooting range shall not operate between 
the hours of 11:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m., except that this use restriction shall not apply to: 
a. A law enforcement officer as defined in s. 165.85(2), Wis. Stats. 
b. A member of the U.S. armed forces. 
c. A private security person as defined in s. 440.26(1m), Wis. Stats., who meets all of 

the requirements under s. 167.31(4)(a)4, Wis. Stats. 
2. Incidental sales. An outdoor shooting range may offer items for sale or rental as listed in 

this subsection provided the totality of such sales and/or rental activity is clearly incidental 
to the overall operation of the shooting range. The following may be offered for retail sale: 
a. Targets. 
b. Ammunition. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 68 

c. Devices for hearing and eye protection. 
d. Other items directly related to the shooting of firearms on the premises. 
e. Pre-packaged food and drink items. 

3. The following may be offered for rental for use on the premises: 
a. Devices for hearing and eye protection. 
b. Guns. 
c. Other items directly related to the shooting of firearms on the premises. 

(11) Government and Community Services. 
(a) Animal shelter. 

1. Confinement of animals. All animals shall be continuously confined within an enclosed 
building. In an industrial zoning district or in an agricultural zoning district, this use may 
also include a fenced exercise area provided: 
a. It is at least 200 feet from a property in a residential zoning district or a mixed-use 

zoning district. 
b. No animal shall be allowed in the exercise area from sunset to sunrise. 

2. Noise control. The building shall be designed and operated so that noise from the animals 
at the facility cannot be heard beyond the property boundary line of the parcel of land on 
which it is located. 

(b) Cemetery. 
1. Minimum size. A cemetery shall be at least 3 acres. 
2. Location of burial plots. Burial plots shall not be located within 50 feet of a public street 

right-of-way, in a designated floodplain, or in a wetland area, nor shall internment occur 
below the groundwater table. 

3. Marker required. A permanent marker stating the name of the deceased and the birth and 
death dates, if known, shall identify the location of each occupied burial plot, unless the 
Plan Commission allows an unmarked grave due to exceptional circumstances. 

4. Casket required. The deceased shall be enclosed in a casket or other durable container. 
5. Name required. The cemetery shall have a formal name, which shall be placed on a 

permanent sign located by the main entrance to the cemetery. 
6. Financial guarantee. Prior to the establishment of this use, the property owner shall 

submit a financial guarantee to the town in which the use is located, consistent with any 
requirement the town board may adopt. This financial guarantee shall relate to the long-
term upkeep and maintenance of the cemetery. 

(c) Civic use facility. The primary access to a civic use facility with 600 seats or more shall be off 
of a road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 

(d) Community center. The primary access to a community center with 600 seats or more shall be 
off of a road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map 
or a supplemental map. 

(e) Community cultural facility. The primary access to a community cultural facility with 600 seats 
or more shall be off of a road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on 
the zoning map or a supplemental map. 

(f)  
(g) Maintenance garage. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be located at least 

50 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 25 feet from a property in a 
commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(h) Worship facility. The primary access to a worship facility with 600 seats or more shall be off of 
a road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 69 

(12) Utilities, not including Mobile Towers. 
(a) Solar energy system. This section is reserved. 

1. The Town of Winchester Zoning Ordinance will conform in all respects with State 
Regulations Relating to Solar and Wind Energy Systems, 66.0410, Wis. Stats. 

(b) Telecommunications facility, concealed. 
1. Applicability. The provisions of this section apply to all telecommunication facilities, except 

for the following: 
a. Supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems for water, flood alert, 

traffic control devices and signals, stormwater facilities, pump stations, and similar 
facilities with heights not exceeding 35 feet. 

b. Antennas or towers located on property owned, leased or otherwise controlled by the 
governing authority, provided a license or lease authorizing such antenna or tower 
has been approved by the governing authority. 

c. Amateur radio antennas and support structures that are less than 70 feet in height. 
d. An antenna or tower that is installed on an existing structure (such as a tower, 

building, sign, light pole, water tower, electric transmission and distribution structure, 
or other free-standing nonresidential structure), and provided the antenna or tower 
adds no more than 20 feet to the height of the structure. 

e. Portable antennas that are used in broadcasting public information coverage of news 
events of a temporary nature. 

f. Hand held devices such as cell phones, business-band mobile radios, walkie-talkies, 
cordless telephones, garage door openers, and similar devices. 

g. Mobile Towers, as described in Chapter 17.48. 
2. Federal requirements. A telecommunication facility shall comply with all applicable 

requirements of the Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Aviation 
Administration, and other federal agency with authority to regulate telecommunication 
facilities. In the event of a conflict between federal law and this section, federal law shall 
prevail. 

3. Equipment buildings. The exterior of equipment buildings, shelters, and cabinets 
exceeding 200 cubic feet shall be covered with building materials typically used on 
buildings found in the area. 

(c) Telecommunication facility, unconcealed. 
1. Purpose. This section promotes the public health, safety, and welfare, while at the same 

time not unduly restricting the development of needed telecommunications facilities, and 
is intended to accomplish the following purposes, to the full extent permitted by law: 
a. Protect the visual character of the county from the potential adverse effects of 

telecommunication facilities. 
b. Ensure against the creation of visual blight within or along the county’s scenic 

corridors and ridgelines. 
c. Retain local responsibility for and control over the use of public right-of-ways to 

protect citizens and enhance the quality of their lives. 
d. Ensure that a competitive and broad range of telecommunications services and high 

quality telecommunications infrastructure are provided. 
e. Create and preserve telecommunication facilities that will serve as an important and 

effective part of the county’s emergency response network. 
2. Applicability. The provisions of this section apply to all telecommunication facilities, except 

for the following: 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 70 

a. Supervisory control and data acquisition (SCADA) systems for water, flood alert, 
traffic control devices and signals, stormwater facilities, pump stations, and similar 
facilities with heights not exceeding 35 feet. 

b. Antennas or towers located on property owned, leased or otherwise controlled by the 
governing authority, provided a license or lease authorizing such antenna or tower 
has been approved by the governing authority. 

c. Amateur radio antennas and support structures that are less than 70 feet in height. 
d.  An antenna or tower that is installed on an existing structure (such as a tower, 

building, sign, light pole, water tower, electric transmission and distribution structure, 
or other free-standing nonresidential structure), and provided the antenna or tower 
adds no more than 20 feet to the height of the structure. 

e. Portable antennas that are used in broadcasting public information coverage of news 
events of a temporary nature. 

f. Hand held devices such as cell phones, business-band mobile radios, walkie-talkies, 
cordless telephones, garage door openers, and similar devices. 

g. Temporary antennas that are specifically related to a special event of regional 
significance. 

h. Mobile Towers, as described in Chapter 17.48. 
3. Required agreement. If the tower operator does not also own the property on which the 

tower is to be located, the property owner shall submit a copy of a signed agreement 
between the tower operator and the property owner with the application. Such agreement 
shall be binding on future property owners and future operators and shall address the 
requirements for termination of approval as specified in this section. 

4. Federal requirements. A telecommunication facility shall comply with all applicable 
requirements of the Federal Communications Commission, the Federal Aviation 
Administration, and other federal agency with authority to regulate telecommunication 
facilities. In the event of a conflict between federal law and this section, federal law shall 
prevail. 

5. Location of tower on property. The tower shall be located on the property so the entire fall 
zone of the tower is contained on the subject property. 

6. Yard setbacks. A tower or antenna and support facilities shall not be located in the yard 
setback established for the zoning district in which the parcel is located. 

7. Tower type. A tower established after the effective date of this Chapter shall be a 
monopole. Lattice towers and guy-wire supported towers are specifically prohibited except 
when used for public safety or for radio towers. 

8. Security fencing. A tower and all related structures, such as equipment buildings, shelters, 
and cabinets, shall be enclosed by a security fence. 

9. Color and finish. The exterior surface of a tower and an antenna shall be non-reflective 
and may be painted blue, white, gray, or other neutral color as approved by the Plan 
Commission. 

10. Lighting. A tower or antenna shall not be artificially lighted, except when specifically 
required by a state agency, the Federal Aviation Administration, or another federal 
authority. Such required lighting shall be the least obtrusive to the surrounding views. 

11. Equipment buildings. The exterior of equipment buildings, shelters, and cabinets 
exceeding 200 cubic feet shall be covered with building materials typically used on 
buildings found in the area. 

12. Required signage on towers. A sign no larger than 18 inches by 24 inches shall be placed 
in a visible location near the base of the tower that lists the following information: 
a. The name of the tower owner. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 71 

b. The Federal Communications Commission identification number. 
c. A telephone number to contact in case of an emergency. 

13. Accommodation of other users on new towers (collocation). A tower that is approved after 
the effective date of this Chapter, along with the tower site and all support facilities and 
appurtenances, shall accommodate at least two additional users, unless the Plan 
Commission determines that evidence presented by the tower operator demonstrates it is 
not technically feasible to do so. Further, the tower operator and their successors in 
interest shall allow other users to use the tower, the tower site, support facilities, and 
appurtenances at fair market rates as negotiated by those parties. If the Plan Commission 
determines the tower operator has made access to the tower and tower site unfeasible, 
the Plan Commission shall notify the tower operator via registered mail of such 
determination. If the tower operator does not take corrective action within 45 days of such 
determination, the permit for that tower shall become null and void and the tower shall be 
removed and the site restored within 90 days of such determination. 

14. Availability of suitable existing towers or other structures. No new unconcealed tower shall 
be permitted after the effective date of this Chapter, unless the property owner 
demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the reviewing authority that no existing or 
planned tower or structure can accommodate the applicant's proposed antenna.  
a. Such evidence may consist of any of the following: 

i. No existing or planned towers or structures are located within the geographic 
area required to meet the applicant's engineering requirements. 

ii. Existing or planned towers or structures are not of sufficient height to meet 
applicant's engineering requirements and cannot be made taller. 

iii. Existing or planned towers or structures do not have sufficient structural strength 
to support applicant's proposed antenna and related equipment and cannot be 
modified to support the additional load. 

iv. The applicant's proposed antenna would cause electromagnetic interference with 
the antenna on an existing or planned tower or structure, or the antenna on an 
existing or planned tower or structure would cause interference with the 
applicant's proposed antenna. 

v. The fees, costs, or contractual provisions required by the owner in order to share 
an existing or planned tower or structure or to adapt an existing or planned tower 
or structure for sharing are unreasonable. Costs that exceed the cost of 
establishing a new tower are presumed to be unreasonable. 

vi. The applicant demonstrates that there are other limiting factors that render 
existing and planned towers and structures unsuitable. 

b. If such evidence is submitted, the Plan Commission may, at the applicant’s expense, 
hire a qualified expert in the field to review the documentation to provide an 
independent analysis. 

15. Financial security for removal of tower. Prior to the issuance of a building permit 
authorizing construction of a tower, the property owner shall provide a financial guarantee 
in a form and in an amount acceptable to the Plan Commission. Such financial guarantee 
shall be maintained until the tower is removed and the site restored or at such time that is 
mutually agreeable to the property owner and the Plan Commission. If the county 
exercises its right to use the financial guarantee and the amount of the financial guarantee 
does not cover the cost of removing the tower and restoring the site, the balance shall 
constitute a lien against the property as authorized by state law. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 72 

16. Unsafe conditions. If the Plan Commission determines that a tower is unsafe or otherwise 
defective, the administrator shall follow the procedure outlined in Sec. 17.53 of this 
Chapter relating to unsafe conditions. 

17. Termination of approval. If the Plan Commission determines that all of the antennas on a 
tower have not been operated for a continuous period of 12 months, the administrator 
shall follow the procedure outlined in Sec. 17.54 of this Chapter relating to termination of 
the approval. 

18. Review requirements for antennas. Antennas placed on a tower as a collocation and 
related ground facilities may occur with the review and approval of a building plan, site 
plan, and plan of operation. 

19. Antenna upgrades. Antennas on an existing tower may be upgraded without special 
approval provided the new antennas do not exceed the number or size of the existing 
antennas and are generally placed where the existing antennas are located. 

20. Nonconformity. Towers that are constructed and antennas that are installed in accordance 
with the provisions of this section shall not be deemed to constitute an expansion of a 
nonconforming use or structure. 

(d) Utility installation, minor. A minor utility installation that also includes a security fence is 
considered a major utility installation. 

(e) Utility maintenance yard. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be located at 
least 100 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 50 feet from a property in a 
commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(13) Transportation Facilities. 
(a) Airport. All buildings, outdoor airplane or helicopter storage areas, and other activity areas 

shall be located at least 100 feet from the perimeter of the airport property. 
(b) Bus storage facility. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be located at least 50 

feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 25 feet from a property in a commercial 
or mixed-use zoning district. 

(c) Mass transit terminal. The primary access to a mass transit terminal shall be off of a road 
classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 

(d) Off-site parking lot. 
1. Access requirements. The primary access to an off-site parking lot shall be off of a road 

classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 

2. Cut-through traffic. Access and vehicular circulation shall be designed so as to discourage 
cut-through traffic. 

(e) Parking structure. Snow chutes shall be placed in a location causing the least amount of 
impact on surrounding properties. 

(f) Park-and-ride lot. The primary access to a park-and-ride lot shall be located in close proximity 
to a road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 

(14) General Storage. 
(a) Boat yard. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall not be located within a yard 

setback for the zoning district in which the use is located. 
(b) Personal storage facility. 

1. Minimum lot area. The lot on which a personal storage facility is located shall be at least 
one acre in size. 

2. Access. The access to a cubicle shall not open directly onto a public road right-of-way. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 73 

3. Surfacing of travelways. Driveways, interior aisles, and walkways shall be concrete or 
asphaltic concrete, except as may be allowed in this subsection. The Plan Commission 
may allow gravel surfaces as a special exception and require, as a condition of approval, 
additional buffer yard and landscaping requirements deemed necessary to provide 
adequate screening between this use and adjoining properties. 

4. Storage of prohibited substances. No cubicle shall be used to store explosives, toxic 
substances, hazardous materials, or radioactive materials. 

5. Uses. Only uses that are accessory to storage shall occur. No portion of the site shall be 
used for fabrication, repair, or any similar use or for human habitation. 

6. Design. The personal storage facility shall be designed so as to minimize adverse visual 
impacts on nearby properties. The color, exterior materials, and orientation of proposed 
buildings and structures shall complement existing and anticipated development in the 
surrounding area. A personal storage facility in a commercial zoning district shall meet the 
architectural requirements of this Chapter.  

7. Fencing of outdoor storage area. An area used for outdoor storage of operational 
vehicles, watercraft, and the like shall be enclosed by a security fence.  

8. Setback of outdoor storage area. Outdoor storage areas shall comply with the building 
setback standards for the zoning district in which the use is located. 

(c) Truck terminal. 
1. Setback of outdoor storage area. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be 

located at least 100 feet from a property in a residential zoning district. 
2. Control of fugitive dust. As part of the building, site, and operation plan review process, 

the control of fugitive dust generated by this use shall be addressed. 
(d) Warehouse. 

1. Setback of outdoor storage area. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be 
located at least 100 feet from a property in a residential zoning district. 

2. Control of fugitive dust. As part of the building, site, and operation plan review process, 
the control of fugitive dust generated by this use, if any, shall be addressed. 

(15) Industrial Uses. 
(a) Artisan shop. When an artisan shop is located in a commercial or mixed-use zoning district, all 

materials and activities, except loading and unloading, shall be conducted entirely within the 
confines of a building. 

(b) Batching plant associated with a nonmetallic mine. 
1. Prerequisite use. A batching plant in this instance shall only be allowed as an ancillary 

use to a nonmetallic mine that was previously approved under this Chapter. 
2. Setback requirements. A batching plant shall be located at least 300 feet from a property 

in a residential zoning district and 200 feet from a property in a commercial or mixed-use 
zoning district. 

3. Termination of approval. If the Plan Commission determines that the nonmetallic mine 
with which the batching plant is associated is permanently closed, it shall follow the 
termination of approval procedure outlined in this Chapter.  

4. Restoration plan. As part of the review process, the applicant shall prepare and submit a 
restoration plan and obtain the approval of the same. Such restoration plan shall identify 
those areas of the property that will be disturbed and how those areas will be restored 
following the cessation of the batching plant. 

5. Financial guarantee. Prior to the establishment of a batching plant, the property owner 
shall submit a financial guarantee in a form acceptable to the Plan Commission and in an 
amount equal to 110 percent of the estimated cost of site restoration identified in the 
restoration plan that is approved for the project. If the county exercises its right to use the 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 74 

financial guarantee to restore the property and the amount of the financial guarantee does 
not cover such costs, the difference between the amount of the guarantee and the actual 
cost shall constitute a lien against the property as authorized by state law. 

(c) Biofuels production plant. 
1. Access. The primary point of access to the subject property with a biofuels production 

plant shall be off of a public road classified as an arterial or a higher classification. 
2. Fugitive dust. Primary internal roads, as determined by the reviewing authority, shall be 

paved. Secondary internal roads, as determined by the reviewing authority, shall be 
treated to minimize the amount of fugitive dust generated on site. 

3. Fuel storage tanks. All fuel storage tanks shall be located within an impermeable 
containment levee system as may be required by state or federal rule or regulation. 

(d) Construction equipment repair. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas related to this 
use shall be located at least 30 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 10 feet 
from a property in a commercial or mixed-use zoning district. When allowed in a commercial 
zoning district, all repair work shall occur within an enclosed building. When allowed in an 
industrial zoning district, repair work may be conducted out-of-doors. 

(e) Construction equipment sales and rental. Display areas and other activity areas related to this 
use shall be located at least 30 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 10 feet 
from a property in a commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(f) Contractor yard. 
1. Lot area requirements. There are no minimum lot area requirements for a contractor yard. 
2. Limitations on equipment. There are no limitations on the number of trucks, trailers, or 

other heavy equipment. 
3. Storage of material. When a contractor yard is located next to a property in a residential, 

mixed-use, or commercial zoning district, exterior storage of construction materials, 
wastes, and the like shall be screened with a solid, 6-foot high fence and such materials 
shall not be placed higher than the height of the fence. 

(g) Industrial, heavy. 
1. Distance to specified features. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas related to 

this use shall be located at least 50 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 
25 feet from a property in a commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

2. Material storage. No materials shall be stacked or otherwise stored so as to be visible 
over buffer yard screening elements from a property in a residential zoning district. 

(h) Industrial, light. 
1. Location of materials and activities. All materials and activities, except loading and 

unloading, shall be conducted entirely within the confines of a building. 
2. Material storage. No materials shall be stacked or otherwise stored so as to be visible 

over buffer yard screening elements from a property in a residential or mixed-use zoning 
district. 

(i) Nonmetallic mine. 
1. Exemptions. The following activities shall not be considered a nonmetallic mine: 

a. Operations affecting less than 5 acres and for the exclusive on-site use of the 
property owner. 

b. Pre-mining activities, such as site surveying, coring, mapping and other functions 
necessary solely for proper preparation of the permit application. 

c. Excavation in conjunction with a utility installation, which is to be backfilled. 
d. Excavation within the limits of a public right-of-way in conjunction with road 

construction or reconstruction, when construction plans have been approved by the 
Wisconsin Department of Transportation or other governmental authority. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 75 

e. Excavation which by nature is of limited duration, such as graves, septic tanks, and 
swimming pools. 

f. Agricultural drainage work incidental to agricultural operations and irrigation/stock 
watering ponds, if no material is removed from the property. 

g. Excavation for structures and parking areas. 
h. Stripping of up to 1.5 feet of topsoil for the development of subdivisions, following 

subdivision approval. 
i. Regrading of property for aesthetic purposes that does not affect existing drainage, if 

no material is removed from the property. 
j. Dredging operations under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers or 

other governmental authority. 
k. Ponds developed for wildlife purposes in conjunction with the Natural Resources 

Conservation Service or the Winnebago County Land and Water Conservation 
Department. 

l. Excavation related to sod farming. 
m. Any mining operation, the reclamation of which is required in a permit obtained under 

ss. 144.80—144.94, Wis. Stats., pertaining to metallic mining. 
n. Activities conducted at a solid or hazardous waste disposal site required to prepare, 

operate, or close a solid waste disposal facility under ss. 144.435—144.445, Wis. 
Stats., or a hazardous waste disposal facility under ss. 144.60—144.74, Wis. Stats., 
for the exception of mineral extraction operations conducted for the purpose of lining, 
capping, or covering such disposal site. 

o. Any other use determined to be exempt by the Plan Commission. 
2. Air quality. The operator of a nonmetallic mine shall comply with ch. NR 415, Wis. Admin. 

Code, with regard to particulate emissions. 
3. Blasting. The operator of a nonmetallic mine shall comply with ch. Comm. 7, Wis. Admin. 

Code, when explosives are used for blasting. 
4. Reclamation. The operator of a nonmetallic mine shall comply with Chapter 20 of the 

general code of Winnebago County. 

5. Minimization of noise, dust, and vibrations. Roads, machinery, and equipment shall be 
located, constructed, and used in such a manner as to minimize noise, dust, and 
vibrations. 

Exhibit 17.1: Permissible hours of operation for a nonmetallic mine.  
Proximity of Site to 
Specified Uses  

Day Standard Hours of 
Operation 

Extended Hours of Operation 
With Approval of Plan 

Commission 
Property boundary line of 
the site is located within 
500 feet of a residence 
or commercial 
establishment open to 
the public  

Monday through Friday  From 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 
p.m.  

From 6:00 p.m. to 10:00 p.m.  

Saturday From 6:00 a.m. to 2:00 
p.m.  

From 2:00 p.m. to 7:00 p.m.  

Property boundary line of 
the site is not located 
within 500 feet of a 
residence or commercial 
establishment open to 
the public  

Monday through Friday  From 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 
p.m.  

From 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.  

Saturday  From 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 
p.m.  

From 6:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 76 

6. Hours of operation. A nonmetallic mine shall not be operated on Sunday and may be 
operated Monday through Saturday during the standard hours of operation specified in 
Exhibit 8-8 based on the proximity of the site to a residence or commercial establishment 
open to the public. Upon written request, the Plan Commission may authorize specific 
activities past the standard hours or operation but no later than the hour specified in 
Exhibit 17.1 for limited or temporary periods taking into account the proximity and nature 
of adjoining uses and the extent of noise, dust, and vibration associated with the activity. 
Such approval shall be in writing and shall specify the time period the extended hours of 
operation are in effect, the activities that are permitted, and conditions, if any, the Plan 
Commission may impose to address off-site effects.  

7. Setbacks. The following setback requirements shall apply to a nonmetallic mine: 
a. No operations or activities, including berm construction, shall be conducted within 200 

feet of any right-of-way line or within 200 feet of any exterior boundary of the site 
where a residence is located within 500 feet of the perimeter of the site. 

b. The Plan Commission may authorize berm construction and related site preparation 
as a temporary activity, for a specific time period, to within 25 feet of the perimeter of 
the site for those operations lawfully existing before the effective date of this Chapter. 
Exemptions may be authorized by the Plan Commission for berms located closer 
than 25 feet from the perimeter of the site for those operations lawfully existing before 
the effective date of this Chapter.  

c. The Plan Commission may authorize continued vertical removal of materials to within 
50 feet of the perimeter of the site for those operations lawfully existing before the 
effective date of this Chapter. 

d. In no event shall any operations or activities, except berm construction and related 
site preparation activities, be conducted within 50 feet of the perimeter of the site. In 
exercising their authority under this subsection, the Plan Commission may impose 
reasonable conditions including more stringent hours of operation, landscaping, and 
fencing. 

e. The Plan Commission may authorize a reduction in the 200-foot or the 50-foot 
setback requirement where the extraction will not go below either the grade of the 
adjacent road, or the adjoining property boundary line, and where blasting is not 
used. In applying the provisions of this section, the Plan Commission may reduce the 
setbacks as deemed appropriate, and may impose other operational requirements 
necessary to offset any potential effect of the reduced setback. 

f. When a nonmetallic mine adjoins another nonmetallic mine, a setback as provided in 
this part is not required along the common property boundary line when both 
operators agree in writing and such agreement is submitted to and approved by the 
Plan Commission as to form and content. 

8. Plan of operation. A nonmetallic mine, including those that existed before the effective 
date of this Chapter, shall prepare a plan of operation for the site that includes the 
following: 
a. A statement of ownership of the parcel and control of the operations. 
b. A site plan, drawn to scale, showing the lateral extent of existing and proposed 

excavations; the location and width of all easements and right of way on or abutting 
the site; existing water bodies, water courses and drainageways and proposed 
modifications; estimated direction of flow or groundwater; the location of existing and 
proposed buildings, structures, machinery and equipment; and the location of all 
existing and proposed storage and stockpiling areas. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 77 

c. Cross sections of the site, drawn to scale, that show the vertical extent of existing and 
proposed excavations. 

d. The estimated volume of materials to be removed from the site. 
e. A description of the methods and equipment that will be used to extract, process, or 

otherwise handle earth materials. 
f. The location and operation of proposed processing and storage areas. 
g. The purpose and locations of any on-site ponds. 
h. A phasing plan, if the mine operation and reclamation will be completed in phases. 

9. Term of permit. A permit shall be issued for a term of 6 years, renewable for terms of 6 
years. Any activity conducted in compliance with a current permit which subsequently 
becomes noncompliant during the term of the permit by reason of surrounding 
development may continue for the remainder of the term of the current permit. 

10. Transfer of permit. When an operator succeeds to the interest of another in an 
uncompleted site, the Town of Winchester shall release the present operator of the 
responsibilities imposed by the permit only if: 
a. Both operators are in compliance with the requirements and standards of this section. 
b. The new operator assumes the responsibility of the former operator's permit 

requirements. 
11. Special requirements for nonmetallic mines in “Arsenic Area.” When a nonmetallic mine is 

entirely or partially located within the area denoted as “Arsenic Area” on the zoning map, 
or a supplemental map, and mining activities are planned to occur below the water table, 
the following requirements shall apply: 
a. The mine operator shall submit a written report to the Town Clerk that describes the 

proposed pumping activities. 
b. The mine operator shall submit a monitoring plan, as prepared by a state-certified 

hydrogeologist, to the Plan Commission for review and approval. Such plan shall be 
designed to establish baseline conditions related to the proposed pumping activities 
and to monitor the potential negative effects of the activities on groundwater and 
surface water once pumping commences. At least three monitoring wells shall be 
used to determine baseline and future conditions, including such parameters as 
groundwater elevation, direction of flow, levels of arsenic in the groundwater, and 
other related attributes.  

c. The state-certified hydrogeologist, or another person approved by the Plan 
Commission, shall collect data from the approved well sites for at least 3 years prior 
to the proposed pumping activity and submit a written report (“baseline report”) 
containing such data to the Plan Commission.  

d. The state-certified hydrogeologist, or another person approved by the Plan 
Commission, shall submit quarterly reports to the Plan Commission that are prepared 
consistent with the approved monitoring plan.  

e. If the Plan Commission determines that data in the baseline report or other 
documentary evidence, or both indicates that the proposed pumping is likely to have 
an unacceptable negative effect on groundwater or surface water, the pumping shall 
not be allowed. If the Plan Commission authorizes the pumping, but later determines 
that data in one or more of the quarterly reports or other documentary evidence, 
shows that the pumping is having an unacceptable effect on groundwater or surface 
water, the Plan Commission shall have the authority to withdraw his or her prior 
approval and require cessation of the pumping or require the mine operator to make 
changes in the way the water is pumped, collect additional monitoring data related to 
the pumping, or both. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 78 

12. Potential impacts to certain water wells. If a mine operation adversely impacts an off-site 
water supply well, the mine operator shall repair or replace the well to provide the same 
quantity and quality of groundwater obtained from the well prior to the mining operation. 
This requirement applies to all water wells located within 1,320 feet of the outer extent of 
the excavation area which were completed prior to the approval of the mine operation or 
any expansion thereof. If an eligible property owner believes that the operation of the 
mine is having an adverse impact on his or her water well (hereafter referred to as the 
“claimant”), the claimant shall provide written notice to the mine operator and the Plan 
Commission explaining the nature and the extent of the alleged impact. Within 30 days of 
such notice, the mine operator shall send a written response to the claimant and the Plan 
Commission that either provides evidence rejecting the claimant’s assertion of adverse 
impact resulting from the mine operation or an amount of financial compensation for 
repairing or replacing the well to provide the same quantity and quality of groundwater 
obtained from the well prior to the mining operation. The claimant shall have 7 days to 
accept or reject the mine operator’s response including the amount of compensation, if an 
amount was offered. If the claimant rejects the mine operator’s response, he or she may 
submit a written response to the mine operator and the Plan Commission that includes 
evidence supporting his or her assertion of adverse impact and the amount for repairing 
or replacing the well to provide the same quantity and quality of groundwater obtained 
from the well prior to the mining operation. If the claimant provides such response, the 
Plan Commission shall review the materials submitted by both the mine operator and the 
claimant at a public meeting within 45 days of receiving the claimant’s response, and 
render a decision within 30 days of such meeting. If the Plan Commission determines that 
the mine operations are having an adverse impact on the claimant’s well, it shall establish 
a cost for repairing or replacing the well to provide the same quantity and quality of 
groundwater obtained from the well prior to the mining operation. If the mine operator 
does not provide the specified amount of compensation in a timely manner, the county 
may utilize the financial guarantee as required under this section for such purposes. 

13. Financial guarantee. Prior to the commencement of any on-site work, the mine operator 
shall provide a financial guarantee to the county in a form acceptable to the Plan 
Commission and in an amount equal to $3,200 for each domestic well that is located 
within 1,320 feet of the area to be mined and the estimated replacement cost for each 
nondomestic water well that is located within 1,320 feet of the area to be mined. If the 
county exercises its right to use the financial guarantee for the work authorized in this 
section and the amount of the financial guarantee does not cover such costs, the 
difference between the amount of the guarantee and the actual cost shall constitute a lien 
against the property as authorized by state law. 

14. Supplemental application materials. In addition to the materials typically submitted for site 
plan review, the following shall be provided as part of the application: 
a. A topographic map of the subject property and the surrounding area, having a 

contour interval of 4 feet or less. 
b. A map depicting vegetation, soils, and existing conditions including on-site structures. 
c. A map depicting property boundary lines within 1,600 feet of the area to be mined 

and water supply wells within 1,320 of the area to be mined including the type of well 
(e.g., domestic, industrial, or agricultural), well depth, static water level if known, and 
owner name. 

d. One or more cross-sections showing the extent of the nonmetallic deposits to be 
mined, the proposed depth of removal, and the location of the water table. 

(j) Salvage yard. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 79 

1. Proximity to other specified property. All buildings, structures, and outdoor storage areas 
and any other activity areas shall be located at least 600 feet from a property in a 
residential, mixed-use, or commercial zoning district. 

2. Hazardous materials. Hazardous materials shall not be stored or handled. 
3. Buffer yard. In addition to the buffer yard requirements in article 9 of this Chapter, the 

reviewing authority may, as part of the site plan review process, require additional buffer 
yard requirements deemed necessary to provide adequate screening between this use 
and adjoining properties. 

4. Fence. A 6-foot solid fence, subject to approval by the reviewing authority, shall be 
located around the perimeter of the area used to store salvage materials. 

5. Fence plan. As part of the site plan review application, the applicant shall submit a fence 
plan which specifies construction materials and specifications. 

6. Compliance with state law. A salvage yard located within 1,000 feet of a right-of-way of an 
interstate or primary highway shall comply with the requirements of s. 84.31, Wis. Stats., 
and any administrative rule adopted pursuant to that section. 

(16) Solid Waste Facilities. 
(a) Composting facility. 

1. Licensing. A composting facility shall comply with all county, state, and federal 
regulations. 

2. Distance to specified features. A composting facility shall not be located within 600 feet of 
a residential zoning district, a mixed-use zoning district, an educational facility, a worship 
facility, or any other place where the public congregates. 

3. Setbacks. All buildings, structures, and activity areas shall be located at least 100 feet 
from the perimeter of the site. 

(b) Recycling center. When located in an I-1 zoning district, all materials and activities, except 
loading and unloading, shall be conducted entirely within the confines of a building. 

(c) Solid waste landfill. 
1. Road access requirements. The primary access to a solid waste landfill shall be off of a 

road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning map or a 
supplemental map. 

2. Compliance with other regulations. A solid waste landfill shall comply with all applicable 
state and federal rules and regulations governing this use. 

(d) Solid waste transfer station. 
1. Road access requirements. The primary access to a solid waste transfer station shall be 

off of a road classified as a collector or a higher classification as depicted on the zoning 
map or a supplemental map. 

2. Location of materials and activities. All materials and activities, except loading and 
unloading, shall be conducted entirely within the confines of a building. 

3. Distance to specified features. A solid waste transfer station shall not be located within 
600 feet of a residential zoning district, a mixed-use zoning district, an educational facility, 
a worship facility, or any other place where the public congregates. 

(17) Live/work Units. 
(a) Any use permitted in the zoning district applicable to the property is permitted in the live/work 

unit. 
(b) Live/work units at street level are prohibited where single-purpose residential structures are 

prohibited. 
(c) Where permitted, live/work units located at street level are subject to the following 

development standards: 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 80 

1. A minimum of 80% of a structure's street front facade at street level shall be occupied by 
nonresidential uses. 

2. A minimum of 51% of the portion of a structure's street front facade that contains required 
nonresidential use shall be at or above sidewalk grade. 

3. In districts where live/work units are permitted at street level, the live/work unit shall have 
a minimum floor-to-floor height of thirteen feet. 

4. In districts where live/work units are permitted at street level, parking for live-work units on 
neighborhood commercial streets and in mixed-use zones is prohibited in front of the 
building. 

5. Live/work units must have at least two exits. 
6.  Within each live/work unit, the living area shall not exceed one-third of the total floor area 

of the unit. 
(d) At least one resident in each live/work unit shall maintain a valid business license for any 

business otherwise requiring a license in the Town of Winchester. 
(e) Parking. See Chapter 17.53(10). 

 
17.46 Accessory Use Standards for Zoning Districts. The following accessory use standards shall apply unless 

otherwise noted. All maps shall be consistent with the Town of Winchester ‘Map Guidelines.’ 
 

(1) Adult Family Home. Prior to the establishment of an adult family home, the operator shall obtain a 
license from the state as required by state law and maintain such license for the life of the use or 
until the state no longer requires such license. 

(2) Amateur Radio Antenna. 
(a) The Town Board makes the following findings regarding amateur radio antennas: 

1. The placement of amateur radio station antennas and support structure of unregulated 
height and type could have a negative impact on surrounding properties and especially on 
the smallest of lots allowed in the county. 

2. Pursuant to s. 59.69(4f), Wis. Stats., the regulations in this section constitute the least 
restrictive measures needed to promote community aesthetics, public health, and safety 
while allowing amateur radio communications. 

(r) Number. Antennas shall be placed on no more than one support structure, such as a tower or 
on top of a building. 

(s) Type of tower. An antenna may be placed on a monopole or lattice tower. 
(t) Anti-climbing measures required. If a tower is used to support the antenna, the tower shall 

have anti-climbing measures to prevent unauthorized climbing. 
(u) Setback. An antenna shall not be located in a street yard. 
(v) Setback requirements. The center of the antenna shall be no closer than 110 percent of the 

total height of the antenna to a property boundary line and overhead electric lines. 
(3) Automated Teller Machine (ATM). 

(a) Security. An ATM shall be readily visible so as to maintain a proper level of safety for patrons. 
(b) Lighting. Proper lighting levels shall be maintained 24 hours a day for security purposes. 
(c) Location. An ATM shall not be located within a yard setback or buffer yard. 

(4) Backyard Chickens. 
(a) Number. No more than 4 chickens may be kept. 
(b) Roosters. The keeping of roosters is prohibited. 
(c) Slaughter of chickens prohibited. The slaughter of chickens on the premises is prohibited. 
(d) Enclosure requirements. Chickens shall be provided with a covered enclosure and must be 

kept in the covered enclosure or a fenced enclosure at all times. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 81 

(e) Setback requirements. The enclosure housing chickens shall be located at least 25 feet from 
any residential structure on an adjacent lot. 

(f) Registration required. The owner, operator, or tenant shall register the premise where 
chickens are kept with the Wisconsin Department of Agriculture, Trade and Consumer 
Protection as required by state law and maintain such registration for so long as may be 
required. 

(5) Bed and Breakfast. 
(a) Local license. Prior to the establishment of a bed and breakfast, the operator shall obtain a 

license from the Winnebago County Health Department and maintain such license for the life 
of the use or until the department no longer requires such license. 

(b) State license. Prior to the establishment of a bed and breakfast, the operator shall obtain a 
license from the state as may be required by state law and maintain such license for the life of 
the use or until the state no longer requires such license. 

(c) Type of dwelling. A bed and breakfast shall only occur within a single-family dwelling. 
(d) Number of allowable guest rooms. No more than 6 guest rooms shall be offered. 
(e) Residency requirement. The operator of a bed and breakfast shall reside within the single-

family dwelling during the time period when rooms are offered. 
(f) Exterior character of the dwelling unit. The exterior appearance of the building shall not be 

altered from its single-family appearance. 
(g) Food preparation. No food preparation or cooking shall be allowed in guest rooms. 
(h) Meals. Meals shall only be offered to overnight guests. 
(i) Maximum stay. The maximum stay for any occupants shall be 14 consecutive days. 
(j) Record of guests. The operator shall keep a listing showing the names of all guests. This list 

shall be kept on file for a period of one year. Such list shall be available for inspection by 
county officials at any time upon request. 

(k) Compliance. Bed and breakfast establishments in the Town of Winchester shall comply in all 
respects with the requirements of Wisconsin DHS 197: Bed and Breakfast Establishments. 

(6) Boat Dock. 
(a) A boat dock shall comply with all rule and regulations established in state statutes and 

administrative rules established pursuant to those statutes. 
(7) Boathouse. 

(a) Other permits. The property owner shall obtain all necessary permits from the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources, United States Army Corps of Engineers, and other 
regulatory agencies as may be required. 

(b) Allowable uses. The use of a boathouse is limited to the storage of watercraft and related 
equipment. A boathouse shall not be used for human habitation. 

(c)  Yard setbacks. A boathouse may be located within a shore yard setback, but shall be no 
closer than 5 feet to the ordinary high-water mark of the stream, lake, pond, or wetland on 
which it fronts. A boathouse shall not be closer than 3 feet to a side property boundary line. 

(d) Number. No more than one boathouse shall be located on a parcel of land.  
(e) Maximum floor area. The floor area of a boathouse shall not exceed 500 square feet.  
(f) Access door. A boathouse shall have a garage-type door at least 7 feet wide for primary 

access on the side of the building facing the water. Where water frontage is all marsh and 
access to open water is not possible, the zoning administrator may waive this requirement at 
the time of permitting and approve an alternative location for the door.  

(g) Decks and similar features. Decks and screened in areas are prohibited.  
(h) Plumbing fixtures. A boathouse may contain plumbing for 2 sinks and one toilet, provided such 

fixtures are connected to an approved wastewater system.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 82 

(i) Use of flat roof. If the boathouse has a flat roof, the rooftop area may be used as an outdoor 
living area, provided the roof is designed for such use and otherwise meets applicable building 
codes (e.g., safety railing). The top of the railing shall not be higher than the maximum height 
for accessory buildings in the zoning district in which it is located.  

(j) Construction standards. A boathouse shall be placed on a continuous perimeter foundation 
that extends below the frost line or on a concrete slab. 

(8) Commercial Truck Parking. No more than one licensed commercial vehicle, along with one 
equipment trailer for ancillary equipment (e.g., skid steer, back-hoe), shall be stored out-of-doors 
on a residential lot. Examples of commercial vehicles include school buses, dump trucks, cargo 
trucks, and tractor-trailers (cab and trailer). Such vehicles and equipment trailers shall be fully 
operative and in active commercial use. 

(9) Electric Vehicle Infrastructure. 
(a) Intent. The intent of this section is to facilitate the use of electric vehicles and to expedite the 

establishment of a convenient, cost-effective electric vehicle infrastructure that such use 
necessitates. 

(b) Definitions. For the purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply: 
1. Accessible electric vehicle charging station. Means an electric vehicle charging station 

where the battery charging station is located within accessible reach of a barrier-free 
access aisle and the electric vehicle. 

2. Battery charging station. Means an electrical component assembly or cluster of 
component assemblies designed specifically to charge batteries within electric vehicles. 

3. Battery electric vehicle. Means any vehicle that operates exclusively on electrical energy 
from an off-board source (generally, the electric grid) that is stored in the vehicle’s 
batteries, and produces zero tailpipe emissions or pollution when stationary or operating. 

4. Charging levels. Means the standardized indicators of electrical force, or voltage, at which 
an electric vehicle’s battery is recharged. The terms 1, 2, and 3 are the most common 
charging levels, and include the following specifications: 
a. Level-1: Voltage from 0 through 120; considered slow charging. 
b. Level-2: Voltage from 120 through 240; considered medium charging. 
c. Level-3: Voltage greater than 240; considered fast or rapid charging. 

5. Electric vehicle. Means any vehicle that is licensed and registered for operation on public 
and private highways, roads, and streets; either partially or exclusively, on electrical 
energy from the grid, or an off-board source (generally, the electric grid, that is stored on-
board via a battery for motive purpose. Electric vehicle includes: 
a. A battery electric vehicle. 
b. A plug-in hybrid electric vehicle. 

6. Electric vehicle charging station. Means a public or private parking space that is served by 
battery charging station equipment that has as its primary purpose the transfer of electric 
energy (by conductive or inductive means) to a battery or other energy storage device in 
an electric vehicle.  

7. Electric vehicle charging station – private restricted use. Means an electric vehicle 
charging station that is (1) privately owned and restricted access (e.g., single-family 
home, executive parking, designated employee parking) or (2) publicly owned and 
restricted (e.g., fleet parking with no access to the general public). 

8. Electric vehicle charging station – public use. Means an electric vehicle charging station 
that is: 
a. Publicly owned and publicly available (e.g., Park & Ride parking, public library parking 

lot, on-street parking). 
b. Privately owned and available to visitors of the use (e.g., shopping center parking). 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 83 

9. Electric vehicle infrastructure. Means conduit/wiring, structures, machinery, and 
equipment necessary and integral to support an electric vehicle, including battery 
charging stations and rapid charging stations. 

10. Electric vehicle parking space. Means any marked parking space that identifies the use to 
be exclusively for the parking of an electric vehicle. 

11. Non-electric vehicle. Means any motor vehicle that does not meet the definition of electric 
vehicle. 

12. Plug-in hybrid electric vehicle. Means an electric vehicle that: 
a. Contains an internal combustion engine and also allows power to be delivered to 

drive wheels by an electric motor. 
b. Charges its battery primarily by connecting to the grid or other off-board electrical 

source (generally, the electric grid). 
c. May additionally be able to sustain battery charge using an on-board internal-

combustion-driven generator. 
d. Has the ability to travel powered by electricity. 

(c) Permitted locations. 
1. Level-1 and Level-2 electric vehicle charging stations are permitted in every zoning 

district, when accessory to the primary permitted use. Such stations located at one-family, 
multiple-family, and mobile home park dwellings shall be designated as private restricted 
use only. 

2. Level-3 electric vehicle charging stations are permitted in the A-1, A-2, B-1, B-2, B-3, I-1, 
and I-2 districts, when accessory to the primary permitted use. 

3. Level-3 electric vehicle charging stations require a conditional use permit in the M-1 
district. 

4. If the primary use of the parcel is the retail electric charging of vehicles, then the use shall 
be considered a gasoline service station for zoning purposes. Such a use shall be located 
in zoning districts that permit gasoline service stations and shall require a conditional use 
permit. 

(d) General requirements for M-1, B-1, B-2, B-3, I-1, and I-2 parking. 
1. An electric vehicle charging station space may be included in the calculation for any 

minimum required parking spaces. 
2. Public electric vehicle charging stations are reserved for parking and charging electric 

vehicles only. 
3. Electric vehicles may be parked in any space designated for public parking, subject to the 

restrictions that would apply to any other vehicle that would park in that space. 
(e) Lighting. Site lighting shall be provided where an electric vehicle charging station is installed, 

unless charging is for daytime purposes only. 
(f) Equipment Standards and Protection. 

1. Battery charging station outlets and connector devices shall be no less than 36 inches 
and no higher than 48 inches from the surface where mounted. Equipment mounted on 
pedestals, lighting posts, bollards, or other devices shall be designed and located as to 
not impede pedestrian travel or create trip hazards on sidewalks. 

2. Adequate battery charging station protection, such as concrete-filled steel bollards, shall 
be used. Curbing may be used in lieu of bollards, if the battery charging station is setback 
a minimum of 24 inches from the face of the curb. 

3. The property owner is not restricted from collecting a service fee for the use of an electric 
vehicle charging station made available to visitors of the property. 

(g) Usage Fees. Information shall be posted identifying voltage and amperage levels and any time 
of use, fees, or safety information related to the electric vehicle charging station. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 84 

(h) Signage. 
1. Each electric vehicle charging station space shall be posted with signage indicating the 

space is only for electric vehicle charging purposes. For purposes of this subsection, 
“charging” means that an electric vehicle is parked at an electric vehicle charging station 
and is connected to the battery charging station equipment. Restrictions shall be included 
on the signage, if removal provisions are to be enforced by the property owner. 

2. When a sign provides notice that a parking spaces a publicly designated electric vehicle 
charging station, no person shall park or stand any non-electric vehicle in a designated 
electric vehicle charging station space. Further, no person shall park or stand an electric 
vehicle in a publicly designated electric vehicle charging station space when not 
electrically charging or parked beyond the days and hours designated on the regulatory 
signs posted. For purposes of this subsection, “charging,” means an electric vehicle is 
parked at an electric vehicle charging station and is connected to the charging station 
equipment. 

(i) Maintenance. Electric vehicle charging stations shall be maintained in all respects, including 
the functioning of the equipment. A phone number or other contact information shall be 
provided on the equipment for reporting when it is not functioning or other problems are 
encountered. 

(10) Exterior Communication Device (receive-only antenna). 
(a) Number. No more than 2 exterior communication devices shall be located on a parcel of land. 
(b) Requirements for satellite dish. A satellite dish shall not be larger than 36 inches in diameter. If 

ground mounted, the satellite dish shall not be mounted higher than 6 feet above the ground 
surface. If a satellite dish is mounted on a building, it shall not extend more than 6 feet above 
the roof line. 

(c) Requirements for radio/television antenna. A ground-mounted radio/television antenna shall 
not exceed a height of 25 feet as measured from the ground surface. A building-mounted 
radio/television antenna shall not extend more than 15 feet above the roofline. 

(11) Family Day Care Home. Prior to the establishment of a family day care home, the operator shall 
obtain a license from the state as may be required by state law and maintain such license for the 
life of the use or until the state no longer requires such license. 

(12) Farm Building Storage. 
(a) Expansion. The building housing this use may not be enlarged to increase the storage area. 
(b) Alteration of building. The building may not be altered to accommodate this use, except as 

may be specifically permitted by the reviewing authority as part of the conditional use process. 
(c) Exterior storage prohibited. All storage shall occur within the farm building (i.e., no outside 

storage). 
(13) Farm Residence. A farm residence shall comply with the standards for single-family dwellings in 

this Chapter. 
(14) Fence. 

(a) Applicability. The requirements of this section apply to a fence more than 30 inches in height 
constructed or rebuilt after the effective date of this Chapter and which are located in a 
planned development district or on a parcel, wholly or partially, located in one of the following 
base zoning districts: 
1. R-1 Rural Residential. 
2. R-2 Suburban Residential. 
3. Two-Family Residential. 
4. R-4 Multi-Family Residential. 
5. Manufactured/Mobile Home Community. 
6. M-1 Mixed Use. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 85 

7. B-1 Local Services. 
8. B-2 Community Business. 
9. B-3 General Business. 
10. I-1 Light Industrial. 
11. I-2 Heavy Industrial. 
12. PDD Planned Development District. 

(b) Measurement of fence height. The height of a fence shall be measured from the adjoining 
ground surface to the top of the fence material (i.e., not the fence post, pole, or column). 

(c) General construction specifications. A fence shall meet the following construction 
specifications: 
1. Width. With the exception of vertical supports, the width of a fence shall not exceed 14 

inches. 
2. Height. The top of a fence shall not exceed the height listed in Exhibit 17.2, provided a 

fence used to enclose horses shall not exceed a height of 5 feet. Where a fence is located 
on a slope and is stepped, each section shall not be wider than 10 feet and the height 
shall be measured in the middle of the stepped section (Exhibit 17.3). The Plan 
Commission may approve as a conditional use a fence in a commercial zoning district that 
is higher than the height specified in Exhibit 17.2, but no more than 10 feet. The Plan 
Commission may allow a fence that does not meet the height requirements in this section 
when placed around a utility installation, telecommunication tower, or similar facility when 
required for security or related purposes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
3. Orientation. All non-decorative posts, horizontal supports, cross-members, and the like 

shall be oriented inward to the lot on which the fence is located. 
4. Materials. A fence shall be constructed of building materials commonly used for fence 

construction in the region, except for those specifically prohibited in this section. A fence 
located in a street yard shall 
have a maximum opacity of 50 
percent. All other fences may 
be solid from the ground to the 
maximum height. Snow fences 
constructed of wood or plastic 
shall be permitted only as 
temporary fences. 

5. Vertical supports. A vertical 
support, such as a post or 
column, shall not exceed 24 
inches in width or extend more than 24 inches above the top of the highest point of the 
adjoining fence. 

6. Arbors. An arbor may extend above a pedestrian walkway provided it is not taller than 9 
feet, wider than 5 feet, or deeper than 3 feet. 

Exhibit 17.2: Maximum Fence Height. 
Location Residential 

Districts 
Mixed-

Use 
District 

Business 
Districts 

Industrial 
Districts 

Street yard 4 ft. 4 ft. 4 ft. 10 ft. 
Side yard 6 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 
Rear yard 6 ft. 6 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 

Exhibit 17.3: Special standards for a stepped fence. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 86 

7. Trellises. A trellis may be incorporated into the overall design of a fence provided no part 
is taller than 8 feet and does not extend for more than 10 percent of the length of the side 
on which it is located. 

(d) Location specifications. A fence shall meet the following locational specifications: 
1. A fence shall not be located in a shore yard setback. 
2. A fence may be placed up to a property boundary line, except that a fence shall not be 

closer than 2 feet to a public road right-of-way or other property boundary line when 
adjoining a public pedestrian walkway or the like. 

3. A fence may be placed within a utility easement, unless prohibited by the easement 
holder, with the understanding that the utility authority may remove such fence at the 
property owner’s expense, is not liable for any damage to the fence, and is not 
responsible for the reconstruction of the fence. 

4. A fence shall not be located within a drainage easement. Upon written petition, the Plan 
Commission may allow a fence in a drainage easement when it can be shown that the 
fence will not restrict the flow of stormwater and the easement holder does not object. 

(e) Special standards for fencing around a swimming pool. A fence may be located around a 
swimming pool provided it meets the standards in the most current edition of ANSI/IAF-8 as 
promulgated by the American National Standards Institute and Association of Pool and Spa 
Professionals that relate to barriers and fencing. 

(f) Special standards for fencing around a sport court. A fence may be located around a sport 
court, provided it meets the following standards: 
1. The fence shall not exceed 12 feet in height. 
2. The fence shall not be located within a setback line. 
3. Any portion of the fence above 6 feet in height shall be an open woven wire. 

(g) Special standards for temporary fencing. A temporary fence may be placed around a 
construction site for the duration of the construction project with a valid building permit. 
1. Modification of stormwater flow. A fence shall not impede the natural flow of stormwater. 

(h) Barbed wire fencing. Barbed wire fencing is prohibited except as follows: 
1. Three or fewer courses of barbed wire may be installed above the top line of a 6-foot high 

chain link fence when located in an industrial zoning district. 
2. Barbed wire may be used to contain livestock as may be allowed in the zoning district. 

(i) Electric fencing. An electric fence is prohibited except when used to contain livestock as may 
be allowed in the zoning district. 
1. Electric fences may only be used between agricultural and residential properties when 

agreeable to both parties. 
2. Fences adjoining residential parcels must be screened by a non-electric fence with no 

less than two (2) feet of space separating the fences. 
(j) Maintenance. A fence shall be maintained in a structurally sound manner. 

(15) Foster Home and Treatment Foster Home (operated as an accessory use). Prior to the 
establishment of a foster home or treatment foster home, the operator shall obtain a license from 
the state as provided for in s. 48.75, Wis. Stats., and maintain such license for the life of the use or 
until the state no longer requires such license. 

(16) Garage, Nonresidential. 
(a) Size. The footprint of the garage, whether attached or detached, shall not be larger than the 

gross floor area of the first floor of the building containing the primary use. 
(b) Type of construction. A garage shall be of conventional wood-frame, metal-frame, or masonry 

construction. Soft-sided structures and canopies are specifically prohibited. 
(c) Exterior materials. Exterior materials shall be the same as, or substantially the same as, those 

used on the principal building. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 87 

(17) Garage, Off-site Residential. 
(a) The Town Board makes the following findings regarding off-site residential garages: 

1. There are pre-existing residential lakefront lots in the Town that are too small or too 
narrow to allow the construction of a two-car garage. 

2. While not necessarily desirable, necessity dictates that special provisions should be made 
to allow the construction of an off-site garage so long as all of the standards in this section 
can be met. 

(b) Minimum requirements for establishment of an off-site residential garage. An off-site 
residential garage may be established only if each of the following initial standards can be met: 
1. The lakefront lot is too small or too narrow to accommodate a two-car garage of 

approximately 576 square feet (24 feet by 24 feet). 
2. The lot with the off-site residential garage is located on the road providing access to the 

lakefront lot and is generally located across from the lakefront lot. 
(c) Limitation on number of off-site residential garages associated with a lakefront lot. A lakefront 

lot shall not be associated with more than one off-site residential garage. 
(d) Reduction of permissible accessory buildings on lakefront lot. The floor area of accessory 

buildings on the lakefront lot and the floor area of the off-site residential garage shall not 
exceed the total floor area of accessory buildings otherwise permitted on the lakefront lot. 
Furthermore, the number of accessory buildings on the lakefront lot and the off-site residential 
garage shall not exceed the total number of accessory buildings otherwise permitted on the 
lakefront lot. 

(e) Deed restriction required. Prior to the issuance of a zoning permit authorizing the construction 
of an off-site residential garage, the property owner shall file an agreement and deed 
restriction with the register of deeds for Winnebago County, as approved by the Plan 
Commission, that prohibits the sale of the lot with the off-site residential garage separately 
from the lakefront lot to which it is associated (i.e., both lots must be sold together). 

(f) Outdoor storage prohibited. No items or material of any kind shall be stored out-of-doors on a 
lot with an off-site residential garage.  

(g) Use as part of a home occupation. No portion of an off-site residential garage shall be used for 
a home occupation except to store related motor vehicles.  

(h) Accessory buildings prohibited. No additional buildings may be located on a lot with an off-site 
residential garage. 

(18) Garage, Residential. 
(a) Location. A garage may be attached to the residence or detached. A garage is permissible 

only in the rear yard or side yard in a residential zoning district. 
(b) Type of construction. A garage shall be of conventional wood-frame, metal-frame, or masonry 

construction. Soft-sided structures and canopies are specifically prohibited. 
(c) Exterior materials. Exterior materials shall be the same as, substantially the same as, or 

complement those materials used on the building that houses the residential use. 
(19) Greenhouse. A greenhouse may be established subject to limitations generally applicable to 

accessory buildings. 
(20) Home Occupation, Major. 

(a) Validity of use. The individual primarily responsible for operation of the major home occupation 
shall reside in a dwelling unit on the parcel. 

(b) Location and space limitation. The major home occupation may occur within the dwelling unit 
or within an accessory building located on the lot, or both. The space specifically designated 
for use of the major home occupation shall occupy no more than 25 percent of the total floor 
area of the dwelling unit. A major home occupation may also be located in a residential garage 
located on the lot, provided at least one bay is reserved for parking a full-size motor vehicle. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 88 

The establishment of a major home occupation does not authorize the property owner to 
construct a garage or other accessory building that does not otherwise comply with this 
Chapter. 

(c) Exterior character of building. The exterior character of the building housing the major home 
occupation shall not be altered to accommodate such use.  

(d) Storage of materials. Exterior storage of materials or equipment is allowed, but shall be 
screened from view from adjoining residentially-zoned properties.  

(e) Limitation on number of on-site workers. The number of individuals working on-site shall be 
limited to those individuals living in the dwelling unit and one individual not living in the 
dwelling unit.  

(f) Retail sales. Items produced on site may be sold at retail.  
(g) Limitations on business vehicles. The use shall not involve the use of a commercial vehicle for 

more than occasional delivery of materials to or from the premises.  
(h) Nuisance. A major home occupation shall not create smoke, odor, glare, noise, dust, vibration, 

fire hazard, small electrical interference, or any other nuisance not normally associated with 
the typical residential use in the zoning district.  

(i) Prohibited uses. The following uses do not qualify as a major home occupation: veterinary 
services, medical offices, animal boarding or grooming, barber or hair care with 3 or more 
chairs, restaurant, vehicle repair, motor vehicle body work, or other similar activities.  

(j) Special exception for an operator with a disability. The Plan Commission may approve an 
exception to any of the requirements in this section when the operator has a temporary or 
permanent disability and the major home occupation is or would be his or her primary 
livelihood and such deviation is needed to facilitate the operation of the major home 
occupation in a reasonable manner.  

(k) Multiple home occupations. Multiple home occupations may be permitted on a single lot 
provided all of the general requirements set forth in this section can be met based on an 
accumulation of activities. 

(21) Home Occupation, Minor. 
(a) Validity of use. The individual primarily responsible for operation of the minor home occupation 

shall reside in the dwelling unit on the parcel. 
(b) Location and space limitation. The minor home occupation shall occur entirely within the 

dwelling unit. The space specifically designated for use of the minor home occupation shall 
occupy no more than 25 percent of the total floor area of the dwelling unit. 

(c) Exterior character of building. The exterior character of the building housing the minor home 
occupation shall not be altered to accommodate such use.  

(d) Storage of materials. Exterior storage of materials or equipment is prohibited.  
(e) Limitation on number of on-site workers. The number of individuals working on-site shall be 

limited to those individuals living in the dwelling unit.  
(f) Retail sales. On-site retail sale of merchandise is prohibited.  
(g) Limitations on business vehicles. The use shall not involve the use of a commercial vehicle for 

more than occasional delivery of materials to or from the premises.  
(h) Nuisance. A minor home occupation shall not create smoke, odor, glare, noise, dust, vibration, 

fire hazard, small electrical interference, or any other nuisance not normally associated with 
the typical residential use in the zoning district.  

(i) Prohibited uses. The following uses do not qualify as a minor home occupation: veterinary 
services, medical offices, animal boarding or grooming, barber or hair care with 3 or more 
chairs, restaurant, vehicle repair, motor vehicle body work, or other similar activities.  

(j) Special exception for an operator with a disability. Consistent with the procedures and 
requirements of article 7 of this Chapter, the Plan Commission may approve a special 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 89 

exception to any of the requirements in this section when the operator has a temporary or 
permanent disability and the minor home occupation is or would be his or her primary 
livelihood and such deviation is needed to facilitate the operation of the minor home 
occupation in a reasonable manner.  

(k) Multiple home occupations. Multiple home occupations may be permitted on a single lot 
provided all of the general requirements set forth in this section can be met based on an 
accumulation of activities. 

(22) Hot Tub. 
(a) A hot tub shall not be located in a street yard or in a setback of a side yard. 
(b) Decking. Decking is considered an integral part of a hot tub and shall comply with all setback 

requirements. 
(c) Draining of water. Water that is drained out of a hot tub shall not flow onto adjoining property, 

into a wetland, or into a sewer without the approval of the public works director or equivalent.  
(d) Area. The area occupied by a swimming pool and hot tub shall not exceed 30 percent of the 

area of the parcel of land.  
(e) Design specifications. A hot tub shall meet the most current standards published by the 

National Spa and Pool Institute (NSPI) and the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) 
including those for plumbing, electrical service, sanitation, fencing, security, and safety. 

(23) Household Livestock. 
(a) Minimum lot area. No livestock shall be kept on a lot less than 2.5 acres. 
(b) Number of animals. The maximum number of animals allowed on any given parcel shall be set 

by the Winnebago County Land and Water Conservation Department in compliance with 
Chapter 13 of the general code of Winnebago County. 

(c) Building setback requirements. New barns, stables, and other similar buildings used to house 
or otherwise confine livestock shall observe the building setback standards established for the 
zoning district in which it is located plus an additional 10 feet. 

(d) Enclosure required. Livestock shall be confined within a fence or other suitable enclosure. 
(24) Indoor Sales Incidental to Storage or Light Industrial Use. 

(a) Maximum floor area. The total floor area devoted to indoor sales shall not exceed 25 percent 
of the total floor area of the building. 

(b) Required separation. The area devoted to retail sales shall be physically separated from those 
areas used for industrial purposes by an interior wall. 

(25) Keeping of Bees. 
 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, Bees may be kept in the A-1 Agribusiness 
District and A-2 General Agricultural District as a permitted use and in the R-1 Rural 
Residential District and R-2 Suburban Residential District upon approval of a conditional use 
permit under Chapter 17.53. 

(b) Any person found in violation of this Section shall be subject to enforcement procedures and 
penalties under Chapter 17.55 and Chapter 17.58. 

(c) The keeping of Bees shall comply in all respects with the following: 
1. No Bees shall be intentionally kept and maintained other than Mason Bees or Honey 

Bees. 
2. No hive shall exceed 20 cubic feet in volume. 
3. An ever-present supply of water shall be provided for all hives. 
4. The Town Clerk shall be notified immediately if a hive swarms. The Owner is responsible 

for tracking and managing the swarm and notifying affected landowners. 
5. On R-1 and R-2 lots: 

a. No more than two hives may be kept on a residential zoning lot. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 90 

b. Hives shall not be located on vacant lots. 
c. Hives shall be located in the back or rear yard in a sunny location. 
d. No hive shall be located closer than ten feet from any property line of a residential 

district lot. 
e. No hive shall be located closer than ten feet from a public sidewalk or 25 feet from a 

principal building on an abutting lot in different ownership. 
f. The area around the hive(s) shall be kept clean of hive scrapings to avoid attracting 

wasps, nuisance insects, and animals. 
g. Signage shall be posted informing that Bees are kept on the property. Such signage 

shall conform to the following: 
i. Signs shall be no smaller than 7” x 10” and printed in a font size clearly legible to 

the general public.  
ii. Signs shall be placed at location(s) visible to all adjoining parcels. 
iii. Signs shall be posted to a fence or semi-permanent post at a height no lower 

than 4’ and no higher than 6’. 
iv. Signs shall be made of aluminum, heavy-duty plastic, or vinyl laminate. 
v. Signs shall be composed of black writing on a yellow background. 
vi. Signs shall include the words ‘Caution’ or ‘Warning’ in large block letters at the 

top and ‘Bees’, ‘Honeybees’, ‘Beehives’, or similar below. 
h. A flyway barrier at least six feet in height shall shield any part of a property line of a 

lot in different ownership that is within 25 feet of a hive. The flyway barrier must 
effectively direct Bees to fly up and over the barrier when flying in the direction of the 
barrier. The flyway barrier shall consist of a wall, fence, dense vegetation, or 
combination thereof, and it shall be positioned to transect both legs of a triangle 
extending from an apex at the hive to each end point of the part of the property line to 
be shielded. The barrier shall further comply with Chapter 17.46(13) if located on or 
adjacent to the property line. 

(26) Kennel, Hobby. 
(a) Location. A hobby kennel shall not be located in the setback of a street yard. 
(b) Number of animals allowed. There is no limitation on the number of dogs that may be kept in a 

hobby kennel. 
(27) Kennel, Private. 

(a) Location. A private kennel shall not be located in the setback of a street yard. 
(b)  Number of animals allowed. No more than 3 dogs over the age of 6 months shall be kept in a 

private kennel. 
(28) Light Industrial Use Incidental to Indoor Sales/Service. 

(a) Maximum floor area. The total floor area devoted to the light industrial activity shall not exceed 
15 percent of the total floor area of the building, or 5,000 square feet, whichever is less. 

(b) Required separation. The area devoted to the light industrial activity shall be physically 
separated by a wall or partition from other activity areas. 

(29) Outdoor Display Incidental to Indoor Sales. 
(a) Maximum size of service area. The size of the display area shall not be more than 25 percent 

of the gross floor area of the principal building. 
(b) Location of display area. The display area shall be located on the same parcel of land as the 

indoor sales or on an adjoining parcel. The display service area shall not be located in a public 
right-of-way, a required landscape area, a buffer yard, or the setback of a street yard, side 
yard, shore yard, or rear yard. 

(30) Outdoor Food and Beverage Service. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 91 

(a) Maximum size of service area. The size of the outdoor service area shall not be more than 50 
percent of the floor area of the restaurant or tavern. 

(b) Location of service area. The outdoor service area shall be located on the same parcel of land 
as the restaurant or tavern or on an adjoining parcel. The outdoor service area shall not be 
located in a public right-of-way, a required landscape area, a buffer yard, or the setback of a 
street yard, side yard, shore yard, or rear yard. 

(c) Special restrictions when adjacent to a residentially-zoned parcel. If the outdoor service area is 
in close proximity to a property in a residential zoning district, the following restrictions apply: 
1. Alcoholic beverages. Alcoholic beverages shall only be served with a meal. 
2. Hours of use. No person shall occupy the outdoor service area after 9:30 p.m. 

(d) Consistency with state liquor license. No alcoholic beverages shall be served or consumed 
within the outdoor service area unless the liquor, beer, or wine license, whichever is 
applicable, as issued by the town, explicitly states that consumption is permitted within the 
outdoor service area. 

(e) Entrance to service area if alcoholic beverages are served. If alcoholic beverages are served, 
the entrance or entrances to the outdoor service area shall be exclusively through the 
restaurant or tavern, and a barrier such as a rope or fence shall be erected to prevent entry to 
the outdoor service area by any other means. 

(f) Restroom requirements. The restroom facilities in the restaurant or tavern shall be of sufficient 
capacity to serve both the indoor and outdoor patrons. Temporary toilet facilities are not 
permitted. 

(31) Outdoor Furnace. 
(a) Placement. An outdoor furnace shall not be placed closer than 50 feet to the property 

boundary line of the parcel of land on which it is located or within a yard setback. Furthermore, 
an outdoor furnace shall not be located in the street yard. 

(b) Minimum standard. An outdoor furnace installed after insert effective date of Chapter, shall be 
rated as a Phase I appliance based on criteria established by the U.S. Environmental 
Protection Agency. 

(c) Subsequent change in zoning designation. If a property owner submits an application to 
change the zoning designation of a parcel of land with an outdoor furnace to another 
designation that does not allow an outdoor furnace and the Town Board approves the 
requested change, the outdoor furnace shall cease to operate upon enactment of the 
ordinance changing the designation. 

(32) Parking Lot (on-site). A parking lot shall comply with all setback requirements as may be 
established for the zoning district in which it is located. 

(33) Play Structure. A play structure shall not be located in a street yard. 
(34) Rural Accessory Structure. The property owner shall comply with all requirements for an accessory 

structure as may be established for the zoning district in which it is located. 
(35) Service Window, Drive-up. 

(a) Crosswalks. A pedestrian crosswalk shall be marked on the pavement when the lane for a 
drive-up service window is situated between on-site parking and a building entrance. 

(b) Length of queue lane. The lane leading up to a drive-up service window shall be of sufficient 
length so that at the anticipated customer peak, all motor vehicles waiting in queue will be 
entirely on the premises. 

(c)  Curbing. Menu boards, canopy supports, and the like shall be separated from the vehicle use 
area by a raised curb.  

(d) Location. A drive-up service window shall only be located to the side or rear of the building in 
which it is located and at least 60 feet from a property in a residential zoning district. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 92 

(36) Service Window, Walk-up. A walk-up service window shall not be located within 8 feet of a setback 
of a street yard, side yard, shore yard, or rear yard. 

(37) Solar Energy System, Building-mounted. 
(a) This section is reserved. 
(b) The Town of Winchester Zoning Ordinance will conform in all respects with State Regulations 

Relating to Solar and Wind Energy Systems, 66.0410, Wis. Stats. 
(38) Solar Energy System, Free-standing. 

(a) This section is reserved. 
(b) The Town of Winchester Zoning Ordinance will conform in all respects with State Regulations 

Relating to Solar and Wind Energy Systems, 66.0410, Wis. Stats. 
(39) Storage Container. 

(a) Location. A storage container on a commercially-zoned parcel of land shall: 
1. Not be located in a parking area required by this Chapter. 
2. Only be located between the back of the building and rear property boundary line. 
3. Observe the setback requirements for the zoning district in which it is located, and  
4. Not be located in a buffer yard as may be required by this Chapter.  

(b) Stacking prohibited. Storage containers shall not be stacked one on top of another. 
(c) Character. A storage container shall be structurally sound and in good repair. 
(d) Signage. A storage container shall not be used for signage. 

(40) Swimming Pool. 
(a) Location. A swimming pool shall not be located in a street yard or in the setback for the side 

yard, rear yard, or shore yard. 
(b) Decking. Decking is considered an integral part of a swimming pool and shall comply with all 

setback requirements. 
(c) Draining of water. Water that is drained out of a swimming pool shall not flow onto adjoining 

property, into a wetland, or into a sewer without the approval of the public works director or 
equivalent. 

(d) Area. The area occupied by a swimming pool and hot tub shall not exceed 30 percent of the 
area of the parcel of land. 

(e) Design specifications. A swimming pool shall meet the most current standards published by 
the National Spa and Pool Institute (NSPI) and the American National Standards Institute 
(ANSI) including those for plumbing, electrical service, sanitation, fencing, security, and safety. 

(41) Utility Cabinet. 
(a) Number limited. No more than 4 utility cabinets shall be located on a parcel of land. Five or 

more utility cabinets on a parcel of land shall be considered a minor utility installation. A utility 
cabinet is considered an accessory use in all situations and may be placed on private property 
and public property, such as a public right-of-way. 

(b) Setbacks. A utility cabinet is exempt from yard setback standards as may be established for 
the zoning district in which this use is located. 

(c) Placement on public property. Prior to establishing a utility cabinet on public property under 
the jurisdiction of a town, Winnebago County, or the state of Wisconsin, the operator shall 
obtain all approvals as may be required by the governmental entity having jurisdiction.  

(d) Placement on private property. Prior to establishing a utility cabinet on private property, the 
operator and property owner shall establish a proper lease or easement governing the use of 
the property for this purpose and submit the same to the zoning administrator for his or her 
approval.  

(e) Placement in a stormwater easement. Prior to establishing a utility cabinet within a stormwater 
management easement under the jurisdiction of a town, the county, or the state, the operator 
shall obtain all approvals as may be required by the governmental entity having jurisdiction.  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 93 

(42) Yard shed. No more than one yard shed shall be placed on a parcel of land. 
 
17.47 Temporary Use Standards for Zoning Districts. The following temporary use standards shall apply 

unless otherwise noted. All maps shall be consistent with the Town of Winchester ‘Map Guidelines.’ 
 

(1) Agricultural Product Sales, Off-site. 
(a) Size limitation. If a structure or building is used, the ground area shall not exceed 100 square 

feet. 
(b) Hours of operation. The sale of items shall not occur before 9:00 a.m. or after 30 minutes past 

sunset. 
(c) Number. No more than one stand is allowed on any one premises. 

(2) Agricultural Product Sales Retail, On-site. 
(c) Limitation on sales. Products offered for sale shall be produced on the premises. 
(d) Use of structure. A structure may be used to store or display products and for sales, provided 

the following conditions are met: 
1. Term of use. The structure is only used from April 1 through November 30 and is removed 

no later than December 10. 
2. Floor area. The floor area of the structure shall not exceed 500 square feet. 
3. Structure height. The height of the structure shall not exceed 12 feet. 
4. Location. The structure shall be located at least 100 feet from a property in a residential 

zoning district. The structure may be located within the front yard setback area, but no 
closer than 15 feet to the front property boundary line. 

(3) Earth Materials Stockpile. 
(a) Hours of operation. When the earth materials stockpile is located in a residential zoning 

district, equipment used to load, move, or process materials shall only be used between the 
hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. 

(b) Term of use. As part of the building, site, and operation plan review, the reviewing authority 
may establish the maximum length of time this use may operate. 

(4) Farmers Market. 
(a) Hours of operation. The display of products and sales shall only occur between the hours of 

8:00 a.m. and 30 minutes past sunset. 
(b) Removal and clean up. Within 24 hours following the close of the farmers market, all features 

solely associated with the farmers market shall be removed and all trash and debris shall be 
removed. 

(5) General Outdoor Sales. 
(a) Duration of use. A parcel of land shall be used for general itinerant outdoor sales for no more 

than 12 days in a calendar year. 
(b) Hours of operation. The display of products and sales shall only occur between the hours of 

9:00 a.m. and 30 minutes past sunset. 
(c) Removal and clean up. Within 24 hours following the termination of the sale, all features 

associated with the sale shall be removed and all trash and debris shall be removed. 
(6) Model Home. 

(a) Generally. A model home may be established when the residential project is developed by a 
single developer and the project will have more than 25 dwelling units available for sale in the 
first two phases. 

(b) Appearance. The building used as a model home shall be of the same type and character as 
the dwelling units being offered for sale within the development. 

(c) Duration of use. The model home shall be closed when 80 percent of the dwelling units of the 
entire development have been sold. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 94 

(d) Limitation on use. The model home is intended to facilitate the sale of residential housing units 
in the development in which it occurs and off-site sales activity shall be clearly incidental. The 
sales staff shall be limited to 2 licensed real estate agents and one support staff. The model 
home may be furnished but shall not be occupied as a residence. 

(7) Off-site Construction Yard. 
(a) Site restoration. As part of the review process, the applicant shall prepare and submit a 

restoration plan and obtain the approval of the same. Such restoration plan shall identify those 
areas of the property that will be disturbed and how those areas will be restored following the 
cessation of this temporary use. 

(b) Setback requirements. Outdoor storage areas and other activity areas shall be located at least 
40 feet from a property in a residential zoning district and 20 feet from a property in a 
commercial or mixed-use zoning district. 

(c) Financial guarantee. Prior to the establishment of an off-site construction yard, the property 
owner shall submit a financial guarantee in a form acceptable to the zoning administrator and 
in an amount equal to 110 percent of the estimated cost of site restoration identified in the 
restoration plan that is approved for the project. If the county exercises its right to use the 
financial guarantee to restore the property and the amount of the financial guarantee does not 
cover such costs, the difference between the amount of the guarantee and the actual cost 
shall constitute a lien against the property as authorized by state law. 

(8) On-site Construction Office. 
(a) Generally. An on-site construction office may be established for commercial and industrial 

construction projects and for a multifamily building of 8 or more dwelling units. 
(b) Duration of use. An on-site construction office shall be removed within 10 days after the date 

of issuance of the last occupancy permit for the building under construction. 
(c) Location. An on-site construction office shall be placed in a location with the least impact to 

adjoining property owners. 
(d) Limitation on use. The use of an on-site construction office shall be limited to construction 

management activities associated with the construction activities occurring on the parcel of 
land on which it is located. 

(9) On-site Construction Yard. 
(a) Generally. An on-site construction yard may be established for commercial and industrial 

construction projects and for a multifamily building of 8 or more dwelling units. 
(b) Duration of use. On-site project material storage shall be removed within 10 days after the 

date of issuance of the last occupancy permit for the building under construction. 
(c) Location. On-site project material storage shall be placed in a location with the least impact to 

adjoining property owners. 
(d) Size limitations. The area dedicated for on-site project material storage shall not exceed 10 

percent of the gross area of the parcel. 
(10) Portable Storage Container. 

(a) Duration. A portable storage container shall not be located on a parcel of land for more than 
90 days during any 9-month period. 

(b) Location. A portable storage container shall not be located in the front or side yard setback 
established for the zoning district in which this use occurs, except when placed in a driveway. 

(c) Maximum floor area. The cumulative floor area of one or more portable storage containers 
shall not exceed 250 square feet. 

(d) Limitation on use. When located in a residential zoning district, a portable storage container 
shall only be used to store household goods during an on-site construction/remodeling project 
or when used to move household goods to another location. 

(11) Relocatable Building. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 95 

(a) Location. A relocatable building shall conform to all setback requirements. 
(b) Building code. A relocatable building shall conform to all applicable building code 

requirements. 
(c) Architectural review. A relocatable building shall not be subject to the architectural standards 

in division 8 of this Chapter. 
(12) Seasonal Product Sales. 

(a) Duration of use. Merchandise shall not be sold any sooner than 30 days prior to the date of the 
seasonal event. Cleanup and removal of all related items shall be completed within 2 days 
following the date of the seasonal event. 

(b) Removal and clean up. Within 24 hours following the termination of the sale, all features 
associated with the sale and trash and debris of all kinds shall be removed from the site. 

(13) Snow Disposal site. Snow shall not be stored within 100 feet of a navigable waterbody or within 75 
feet of a wetland that is mapped on the county’s online mapping system. 

(14) Special Event. 
(a) Sanitation. The operator shall comply with sanitation requirements as may be established by 

the Winnebago County Health Department. 
(b) Setbacks. No portion of the property within the setbacks established for the zoning district 

shall be used for a special event. 
(15) Special Event Camping. 

 
(a) Applicability. Special event camping shall only occur with a special event of regional 

significance as recognized by the Plan Commission. 
(b) Duration of use. Special event camping shall be permitted no more than 5 days prior to the 

official start of the special event of regional significance and no later than 5 days after the 
official close of the event. 

(c) Sanitation. The operator shall comply with sanitation requirements as may be established by 
the Winnebago County Health Department. 

(d) Setbacks. No portion of the property within the setbacks established for the zoning district 
shall be used for camping purposes. 

(e) Removal and clean up. Within 24 hours following the termination of this use, all features 
associated with this use and trash and debris of all kinds shall be removed from the site. 

(16) Special Event Concessions. 
(a) Applicability. Special event concessions shall only occur with a special event of regional 

significance as recognized by the Plan Commission. 
(b) Duration of use. Special event concessions shall be operated no more than 8 hours prior to 

the official start of the special event of regional significance and no later than 8 hours after the 
official close of the event. 

(c) Sanitation. The operator shall comply with sanitation requirements as may be established by 
the Winnebago County Health Department. 

(d) Setbacks. No activity related to special event concessions, including food preparation or 
service, seating areas, and sanitation, shall occur within the setbacks established for the 
zoning district in which this use is located. 

(e) Removal and clean up. Within 24 hours following the termination of this use, all features 
associated with this use and trash and debris of all kinds shall be removed from the site. 

(17) Special Event Parking. 
 

(a) Applicability. Special event parking shall only occur with a special event of regional 
significance as recognized by the Plan Commission. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 96 

(b) Duration of use. Special event parking shall be permitted no more than one day prior to the 
official start of the special event of regional significance and no later than one day after the 
official close of the event. 

(c) Setbacks. No portion of the property within the setbacks established for the zoning district 
shall be used for parking purposes. 

(d) Removal and clean up. Within 24 hours following the termination of this use, all features 
associated with this use and trash and debris of all kinds shall be removed from the site. 

(18) Wind Test Tower. Pursuant to s. 66.0401(3), Wis. Stats., there are no standards or requirements 
for the establishment of a wind test tower or similar testing facility. If the Plan Commission, County 
Board of Supervisors, or the town in which the wind test tower is located determines that the 
anticipated or actual testing is detrimental to the public health, safety, or welfare, such bodies may, 
individually or jointly, submit a written petition to the Public Service Commission requesting the 
imposition of reasonable restrictions on such use. 

(19) Yard sale. A yard sale shall not be operated for more than 3 consecutive days. There shall be at 
least 60 days between the last day of a yard sale and the first day of a subsequent yard sale. 

 
17.48 Mobile Tower Siting Regulations 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of this Section is to regulate by zoning permit: 
(a) The siting and construction of any new mobile service support structure and facilities. 
(b) With regard to a class 1 collocation, the substantial modification of an existing support 

structure and mobile service facilities. 
(c) With regard to a class 2 collocation, collocation on an existing support structure which does 

not require the substantial modification of an existing support structure and mobile service 
facilities. 

(2) Authority. The Town Board has the specific authority under Chapters 60.61 and 66.0404, Wis. 
Stats., to adopt and enforce this Chapter. 

(3) Definitions. All definitions contained in Chapter 66.0404(1), Wis. Stats., are hereby incorporated by 
reference. 

(4) Siting and Construction of Any New Mobile Service Support Structure and Facilities. 
(a) Application Process. 

1. A permit is required for the siting and construction of any new mobile service support 
structure and facilities. The siting and construction of any new mobile service support 
structure and facilities is a conditional use in the Town obtainable with this permit. 

2. A written permit application must be completed by any applicant and submitted to the 
Town. The application must contain the following information: 
a. The name and business address of, and the contact individual for, the applicant. 
b. The location of the proposed or affected support structure. 
c. The location of the proposed mobile service facility. 
d. If the application is to substantially modify an existing support structure, a 

construction plan which describes the proposed modifications to the support structure 
and the equipment and network components, including antennas, transmitters, 
receivers, base stations, power supplies, cabling, and related equipment associated 
with the proposed modifications. 

e. If the application is to construct a new mobile service support structure, a construction 
plan which describes the proposed mobile service support structure and the 
equipment and network components, including antennas, transmitters, receivers, 
base stations, power supplies, cabling, and related equipment to be placed on or 
around the new mobile service support structure. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 97 

f. If an application is to construct a new mobile service support structure, an 
explanation as to why the applicant chose the proposed location and why the 
applicant did not choose collocation, including a sworn statement from an individual 
who has responsibility over the placement of the mobile service support structure 
attesting that collocation within the applicant’s search ring would not result in the 
same mobile service functionality, coverage, and capacity; is technically infeasible; or 
is economically burdensome to the mobile service provider. 

3. A permit application will be provided by the Town upon request to any applicant. 
4. If an applicant submits to the Town an application for a permit to engage in an activity 

described in this Chapter, which contains all of the information required under this 
Chapter, the Town shall consider the application complete. If the Town does not believe 
that the application is complete, the Town shall notify the applicant in writing, within 10 
days of receiving the application, that the application is not complete. The written 
notification shall specify in detail the required information that was incomplete. An 
applicant may resubmit an application as often as necessary until it is complete. 

5. Within 90 days of its receipt of a complete application, the Town shall complete all of the 
following or the applicant may consider the application approved, except that the applicant 
and the Town may agree in writing to an extension of the 90 day period: 
a. Review the application to determine whether it complies with all applicable aspects of 

the Town’s building code and, subject to the limitations in this section, zoning 
ordinance. 

b. Make a final decision whether to approve or disapprove the application. 
c. Notify the applicant, in writing, of its final decision. 
d. If the decision is to disapprove the application, include with the written notification 

substantial evidence which supports the decision. 
6. The Town may disapprove an application if an applicant refuses to evaluate the feasibility 

of collocation within the applicant’s search ring and provide the sworn statement 
described under Section 17.48(4)(a)2.f of this Chapter. 

7. If an applicant provides the Town with an engineering certification showing that a mobile 
service support structure, or an existing structure, is designed to collapse within a smaller 
area than the set back or fall zone area required in a zoning ordinance, the zoning 
ordinance does not apply to such a structure unless the Town provides the applicant with 
substantial evidence that the engineering certification is flawed. 

(b) Upon submittal of a complete application, payment of a fee as set forth in the Town Fee 
Schedule. 

(5) Class 1 Collocation. 
(a) Application Process. 

1. A Conditional Use Permit is required for a Class 1 collocation. 
2. An application for a Conditional Use Permit must be completed by any applicant and 

submitted to the Town. The application must contain the following information: 
a. The name and business address of, and the contact individual for, the applicant. 
b. The location of the proposed or affected support structure. 
c. The location of the proposed mobile service facility. 
d. If the application is to substantially modify an existing support structure, a 

construction plan which describes the proposed modifications to the support structure 
and the equipment and network components, including antennas, transmitters, 
receivers, base stations, power supplies, cabling, and related equipment associated 
with the proposed modifications. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 98 

e. If the application is to construct a new mobile service support structure, a construction 
plan which describes the proposed mobile service support structure and the 
equipment and network components, including antennas, transmitters, receivers, 
base stations, power supplies, cabling, and related equipment to be placed on or 
around the new mobile service support structure. 

f. If an application is to construct a new mobile service support structure, an 
explanation as to why the applicant chose the proposed location and why the 
applicant did not choose collocation, including a sworn statement from an individual 
who has responsibility over the placement of the mobile service support structure 
attesting that collocation within the applicant’s search ring would not result in the 
same mobile service functionality, coverage, and capacity; is technically infeasible; or 
is economically burdensome to the mobile service provider. 

3. A permit application will be provided by the Town upon request to any applicant. 
4. If an applicant submits to the Town an application for a permit to engage in an activity 

described in this Chapter, which contains all of the information required under this 
Chapter, the Town shall consider the application complete. If the Town does not believe 
that the application is complete, the Town shall notify the applicant in writing, within 10 
days of receiving the application, that the application is not complete. The written 
notification shall specify in detail the required information that was incomplete. An 
applicant may resubmit an application as often as necessary until it is complete. 

5. Within 90 days of its receipt of a complete application, the Town shall complete all of the 
following or the applicant may consider the application approved, except that the applicant 
and the Town may agree in writing to an extension of the 90 day period: 
a. Review the application to determine whether it complies with all applicable aspects of 

the Town’s building code and, subject to the limitations in this section, zoning 
ordinance. 

b. Make a final decision whether to approve or disapprove the application. 
c. Notify the applicant, in writing, of its final decision. 
d. If the decision is to disapprove the application, include with the written notification 

substantial evidence which supports the decision. 
6. The Town may disapprove an application if an applicant refuses to evaluate the feasibility 

of collocation within the applicant’s search ring and provide the sworn statement 
described under Section 17.48(4)(a)2.f of this Chapter. 

7. If an applicant provides the Town with an engineering certification showing that a mobile 
service support structure, or an existing structure, is designed to collapse within a smaller 
area than the set back or fall zone area required in the zoning ordinance, the zoning 
ordinance does not apply to such a structure unless the Town provides the applicant with 
substantial evidence that the engineering certification is flawed. 

(b) Upon submittal of a complete application, payment of a fee as set forth in the Town Fee 
Schedule. 

(6) Class 2 Collocation. 
(a) Application Process. 

 
1. A zoning permit is required for a Class 2 collocation. A class 2 collocation is a permitted 

use in the Town but still requires the issuance of the zoning permit. 
2. An application must be completed by any applicant and submitted to the Town. The 

application must contain the following information: 
a. The name and business address of, and the contact individual for, the applicant. 
b. The location of the proposed or affected support structure. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 99 

c. The location of the proposed mobile service facility. 
3. A permit application will be provided by the Town upon request to any applicant. 
4. A Class 2 collocation is subject to the same requirements for the issuance of a building 

permit to which any other type of commercial development or land use development is 
subject as per the Town Code. 

5. If an applicant submits to the Town an application for a permit to engage in an activity 
described in this Chapter, which contains all of the information required under this 
Chapter, the Town shall consider the application complete. If any of the required 
information is not in the application, the Town shall notify the applicant in writing, within 5 
days of receiving the application, that the application is not complete. The written 
notification shall specify in detail the required information that was incomplete. An 
applicant may resubmit an application as often as necessary until it is complete. 

6. Within 45 days of its receipt of a complete application, the Town shall complete all of the 
following or the applicant may consider the application approved, except that the applicant 
and the Town may agree in writing to an extension of the 45 day period: 
a. Make a final decision whether to approve or disapprove the application. 
b. Notify the applicant, in writing, of its final decision. 
c. If the application is approved, issue the applicant the relevant permit. 
d. If the decision is to disapprove the application, include with the written notification 

substantial evidence which supports the decision. 
(b) Upon submittal of a complete application, payment of a fee as set forth in the Town Fee 

Schedule. 
(7) Penalty Provisions. Any person, partnership, corporation, or other legal entity that fails to comply 

with the provisions of this Chapter shall, upon conviction, pay a forfeiture of not less than $250.00 
nor more than $500.00, plus the applicable surcharges, assessments, and costs for each violation. 
Each day a violation exists or continues constitutes a separate offense under this Chapter. In 
addition, the Town Board may seek injunctive relief from a court of record to enjoin further 
violations. 

 
17.49 Transitional Residential Overlay 
 

(1) Purpose. The purpose of the Transitional Residential Overlay (TRO) is to implement the 
Transitional Residential land use category as shown on the Town of Winchester Comprehensive 
Plan Future Land Use Map adopted in September 2016 and as amended from time to time. 

(2) General. The TRO is intended to preserve rural character, natural resource areas, farmland, and 
other large areas of open land, while allowing for market-based residential development. The TRO 
area, as defined on the future land use map, creates a gradual transition from the more densely 
developed Town core area to the predominantly agriculture and scattered residential development 
throughout the remainder of the township. 

(3) Permitted uses. The following uses are permitted in the TRO: 
(a) Any use permitted in the R-1 Rural District. 

(4) Permitted Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses are permitted in the TRO: 
(a) Any accessory use permitted in the R-1 District. 

 
(5) Permitted Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses are permitted in the TRO: 

(a) Any temporary use permitted in the R-1 District. 
(6) Conditional Uses. The following uses require a conditional use permit in the TRO: 

(a) Any use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-1 District. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 100 

(7) Conditional Accessory Uses. The following accessory uses require a conditional use permit in the 
TRO: 
(a) Any accessory use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-1 District. 

(8) Conditional Temporary Uses. The following temporary uses require a conditional use permit in the 
TRO: 
(a) Any temporary use requiring a conditional use permit in the R-1 District. 

(9) Regulations and Standards. 
(a) Conservation subdivisions. All residential subdivision development within the TRO shall 

conform with the conservation design standards as presented in S.12 of Ordinance 27: Town 
of Winchester Land Division Regulations. 

(b) Dimensional standards. 
1. Minimum lot size – 21,500 sq. ft. for unsewered lot; 12,000 sq. ft. for sewered lot. 
2. Minimum lot width – 100 ft. for unsewered lot; 85 feet for sewered lot. 
3. Minimum road frontage – 33 ft. 
4. Minimum separation between detached buildings – 10 ft. 

(c) Minimum setback – 30 ft. 
(d) Maximum building height. 

1. Principal building – 35 ft. 
2. Accessory building – 18 ft. to the midway point of the roof pitch permitted; in excess of 18 

ft. but no greater than 35 ft. maximum peak height as a conditional use. 
(e) Floor area. 

1. Principal building – 1,000 sq. ft. 
2. Accessory building – 1,500 sq. ft. permitted; in excess of 1,500 sq. ft. as a conditional use. 

(f) Number of detached accessory buildings – no limitation. 
 
17.50 Site Plan Review 
 

(1) Purpose. The Town Board recognizes that zoning, by itself, does not guarantee that new 
development will integrate into the community. Often, a legally-allowable use may, nonetheless, be 
incompatible with its proposed environment due to various design factors. Site plan review 
provides the Town with an opportunity to regulate development to ensure that structures and sites 
fit harmoniously into the surrounding environment. 
(a) Permit Required. A site plan permit is required for any activity listed in sec. 17.50(2) of this 

Chapter. 
(2) Applicability. Except for buildings and accessory structures consistent with agricultural uses, a site 

plan permit shall be required for any of the following activities: 
(a) New construction of a building or other structure within the following zoning districts: 

1. R-4 Multi-Family Residential. 
2. R-8 Manufactured/Mobile Home Community. 
3. B-1 Local Services. 
4. B-2 Community Business. 
5. B-3 General Business. 
6. I-1 Light Industrial. 
7. I-2 Heavy Industrial. 
8. PDD Planned Development (Overlay) District. 

(b) Expansion of an existing use in any of the above named zoning districts that involves a floor 
space increase of 20% or more within any 10-year period. 

(c) Change of business or other activity that requires an increase of 10% or more in the number of 
off-street parking spaces. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 101 

(d) Alteration or expansion of an existing parking lot that affects greater than 10% of the total 
number of parking spaces. 

(e) Remodel or exterior alteration of any building or other structure, the cost of which exceeds five 
(5) percent of the structure’s total fair market value as determined by the Permit Issuer. 

(3) Initiation of Process: Payment of Fee. The site plan review process shall be initiated prior to the 
commencement of any site disturbing activities such as grading, filling, vegetation removal, etc. 
associated with the proposed activity. Payment of the appropriate fee, as set forth by the Town 
Board’s schedule of fees, shall be made at the time of the preapplication conference. 

(4) Pre-application Conference. To assist the Town and the applicant in the site plan review process, 
an applicant for site plan review may arrange for a preapplication conference with the Town Board 
Chair, Permit Issuer, and/or selected Planning Commissioners by submitting forms and sketch 
plans as prescribed by the Permit Issuer prior to submission of a formal application. A 
preapplication conference need not include extensive field inspection or correspondence. The 
purposes of the preapplication conference are to bring about an informal discussion regarding a 
proposed project, and to assist the applicant by identifying the following: 
(a) Requirements for submittal, including any other types of permits necessary to complete the 

proposal. 
(b) Applicable community plans, goals, policies, codes or guidelines and possible revisions to the 

proposed project that will enhance the proposal with respect to these requirements. 
(c) Required plans, studies, reports, and/or other materials specific to the proposal that will 

provide necessary information for staff to review the project. 
(d) The discussion at the preapplication conference shall not bind or prohibit the community’s 

future enforcement or application of its codes and ordinances. 
(5) Formal Application. Application for site plan review shall include the documents described under 

‘Submission Requirements’ below as may be required by the Planning Commission at its 
discretion. The site plan shall be consistent with the Town of Winchester ‘Guidelines for 
Bufferyards and Landscaping.’ All maps shall be consistent with the Town of Winchester ‘Map 
Guidelines.’ A copy of the site plan shall be given by the applicant to the Town Clerk to be kept on 
file for public inquiry. After the application is determined to be complete for purposes of further 
processing, the Commission may transmit copies of the site plan documents to the Permit Issuer, 
Plan Commission or other consultant(s), official(s) as deemed necessary, in order to solicit 
comments. The reviewing officials shall then submit written comments to the Commission within 21 
days concerning the potential impacts of the proposed development on the objectives listed under 
“Standards of Review” below, and any recommended conditions or remedial measures to 
accommodate or mitigate these expected impacts. Failure of any of the aforementioned parties to 
respond within the allotted time shall be interpreted as approval of the site plan as proposed. 

(6) Submission Requirements. A site plan shall be prepared on standard 24” x 36” sheets, with 
continuation on 8 1/2” x 11” sheets as necessary for written narrative. The Permit Issuer or other 
decision-making body may require any of the following items as part of the formal site plan 
submission: 
(a) Name of the project, boundaries, and location maps showing the site’s location in the 

community, date, north arrow and scale of the plan. 
(b) Name and address of the owner of record, developer, and seal of the engineer, architect or 

landscape architect. 
(c) Names and addresses of all owners of record of abutting parcels and those within 300 feet of 

the property line. 
(d) All existing lot lines, easements, and rights-of-way. Include area in acres or square feet, 

abutting land uses and the location and use of structures within 300 feet of the site. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 102 

(e) The location and use of all existing and proposed buildings and structures within the 
development. Include all dimensions of height and floor area, and show all exterior entrances, 
and all anticipated future additions and alterations. 

(f) The location of all present and proposed public and private ways, parking areas, driveways, 
sidewalks, ramps, curbs, fences, paths, landscaping walls and fences. 

(g) Location, type, and screening details for all waste disposal containers shall also be shown. 
(h) The location, height, intensity and coverage area of all external lighting fixtures. 
(i) The direction of illumination and methods to eliminate glare onto adjoining properties must 

also be shown. 
(j) The location, height, size, materials, and design of all proposed signage. 
(k) The location of all present and proposed utility systems including sewage system; water 

supply system; telephone, cable and electrical systems; storm drainage system including 
existing and proposed drain lines, culverts, catch basins, headwalls, endwalls, hydrants, 
manholes and drainage swales. 

(l) Soil logs, percolation tests and storm runoff calculations for large or environmentally sensitive 
developments. 

(m) Plans to prevent the pollution of surface or groundwater, erosion of soil both during and after 
construction, excessive runoff, excessive raising or lowering of the water table, and flooding of 
other properties as applicable. 

(n) Existing and proposed topography at two-foot contour intervals. If any portion of the parcel is 
within the 100-year floodplain, the area shall be shown and base flood elevations given. 
Indicate areas within the proposed site and within 50 feet of the proposed site, where ground 
removal or filling is required, and give its approximate volume in cubic yards. 

(o) A landscape plan showing all existing natural land features, trees, forest cover and water 
sources, and all proposed changes to these features including size and type of plant material. 
The Town will encourage the use of regionally native plant species. Water sources will include 
ponds, lakes, brooks, streams, wetlands, floodplains and drainage retention areas. 

(p) Zoning district boundaries within 500 feet of the site’s perimeter shall be drawn and identified 
on the plan. 

(q) Traffic flow patterns within the site, entrances and exits, loading and unloading areas, curb 
cuts on the site and within 100 feet of the site. 

(r) For new construction or alterations to any existing building, a table containing the following 
information: 
1. Area of building to be used for a particular use such as retail operation, office, storage, 

etc. 
2. Maximum number of employees. 
3. Maximum seating capacity, where applicable. 
4. Number of parking spaces existing and required for the intended use. 
5. Elevation plans for all exterior facades of the proposed structure(s) and/or existing 

facades, plus addition(s) showing design features and indicating the type and color of 
signs to be used. 

(7) Procedure. For proposals not requiring a Conditional Use Permit, the Commission shall issue its 
decision on the application within 30 days after the determination that the application is complete. 
For proposals also requiring a Conditional Use Permit, the Commission shall issue its decision on 
the site plan application no later than 7 days after the hearing held by the Board of Appeals on the 
proposed Conditional Use Permit if such Conditional Use Permit is granted. 

(8) Decision of Plan Commission. The Plan Commission’s decision shall consist of either: 
(a) Approval of the site plan. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 103 

(b) Approval of the site plan subject to any conditions, modifications or restrictions as imposed by 
the Commission. 

(c) Disapproval of the site plan. 
(9) Criteria for Review. During the site plan review process, the Commission shall review the site plan 

and supporting documents to assess the reasonable fulfillment of the following listed objectives: 
(a) Legal. Conformance with the provisions of the ordinances and rules of the State of Wisconsin, 

Winnebago County and the Town of Winchester. 
(b) Traffic. Convenience and safety of both vehicular and pedestrian movement within the site and 

in relationship to adjoining ways and properties. 
(c) Parking. Provisions for the off-street loading and unloading of vehicles incidental to the normal 

operation of the establishment, adequate parking, adequate lighting, and internal traffic 
control. 

(d) Services. Reasonable demands placed on community services and infrastructure. 
(e) Pollution Control. Adequacy of methods for sewage and refuse disposal, and the protection 

from pollution of both surface waters and groundwater. This includes minimizing soil erosion 
both during and after construction. 

(f) Nuisances. Protection of adjacent and neighboring properties and community amenities from 
any undue disturbance caused by excessive or unreasonable noise, fumes, smoke, dust, 
odors, glare, stormwater runoff, etc. 

(g) Existing Vegetation. Minimizing the area over which existing vegetation is to be removed, 
unless vegetation to be removed has been identified as invasive or noxious by the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources. Where tree removal is required, special attention shall be 
given to planting of replacement trees. 

(h) Amenities. The applicant’s efforts to integrate the proposed development into the existing 
landscape through design features such as consistent and complimentary architectural design, 
vegetative buffers and/or the retention of open space. 

(i) Character. The building setbacks, area and location of parking, architectural compatibility, 
signage and landscaping of the development, and how these features harmonize with the 
surrounding built environment and natural landscape. 

 
17.51 Signs. Signs within all zoning districts shall comply with the Town of Winchester Sign Ordinance, as 

adopted and periodically amended. 
 
17.52 Parking and Loading. 
 

(1) Purpose. This subsection establishes the standards for the amount, location, and development of 
motor vehicle parking, and standards for on-site loading areas. Other Town Ordinances may 
regulate other aspects of parking and loading. The regulations controlling parking have the 
following specific objectives:  
(a) Provide safe, efficient circulation and movement of motor vehicles. 
(b) Direct traffic in parking areas. 
(c) Shade and cool parking areas. 
(d) Provide a pedestrian access that is protected from auto traffic. 
(e) Improve and soften the appearance of parking areas. 
(f) Reduce the visual impact of parking areas from sidewalks, streets, and especially from 

adjacent residential zones. 
(g) Decrease airborne and waterborne pollution. 

(2) Applicability. The regulations of this Section apply to all parking areas in all zones. Occupancy. All 
required parking areas must be completed and landscaped prior to occupancy of any structures. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 104 

(3) Use of Required Parking Spaces. Required parking spaces must be available for the use of 
residents, customers, or employees of the use. Required parking spaces may not be assigned in 
any way to a use on another site, except for joint parking situations when specifically allowed by 
this Chapter. Required parking spaces may not be used for the storage of goods or inoperable 
vehicles. 

(4) Proximity of Parking to Use. Required parking spaces for residential uses must be located on the 
site of the use. Required parking spaces for nonresidential uses must be located on the site of the 
use or in parking areas whose closest point is within 300 feet of the site. 

(5) Required Parking Spaces. The minimum or maximum number of parking spaces for all use 
categories is listed in the Town of Winchester “Guidelines for Parking Standards.” These standards 
apply unless specifically superseded by other portions of this Chapter. Alternative standards may 
be accepted if the applicant demonstrates that such standards better reflect local conditions. Uses 
not specifically listed in the “Guidelines for Parking Standards” shall be treated as a listed use of a 
similar nature. Since the purpose of required off-street parking spaces is to provide enough on-site 
parking to accommodate the majority of traffic generated by the range of uses that might locate at 
the site over time, the required parking numbers correspond to broad use categories, not specific 
uses, in response to this long-term emphasis. 
(a) The number of parking spaces is computed based on the primary use of the site except as 

stated in Paragraphs (a) and (b) below. 
(b) When there are two or more separate uses on a site (such as a home occupation), the 

required parking for the site is the sum of the required parking for the individual uses. 
(c) When a use has more than twenty (20) percent of its floor area in a distinct function (i.e. office, 

warehouse, or retail), required parking is calculated separately for each function. An example 
would be a 40,000 square foot use with a 10,000 square foot office area and a 30,000 square 
foot warehouse. The required parking would be computed separately for the office and 
warehouse. 

(6) Joint Use Parking. Joint use of required parking spaces may occur where two or more uses on the 
same or adjacent sites are able to share the same parking spaces because their parking demands 
occur at different times. Joint use of required nonresidential parking spaces is allowed if the 
following documentation is submitted in writing to the Permit Issuer as part of a Building Permit 
application or Occupancy Permit application: 
(a) The names and addresses of the uses and of the owners or tenants that are sharing the 

parking. 
(b) The location and number of parking spaces that are being shared. 
(c) An analysis showing that the peak parking times of the uses occur at different times and that 

the parking area will be large enough for the anticipated demands of both uses. 
(d) A legal instrument such as an easement or deed restriction that guarantees access to the 

parking for both uses. 
(7) Residential Driveway Parking. Driveway surface areas shall count as off-street parking spaces for 

the unit served by the driveway if there is an open surface area measuring at least one hundred-
eighty (180) square feet and no portion of an automobile parked in the area will extend into public 
right-of-way. 

(8) Enlargement of Use. Whenever a non-residential structure or use is enlarged by twenty-five (25) 
percent or more of the unit used to calculate parking spaces (e.g. gross floor area, seats, 
employees, etc.) such new parking space requirements must be met. 

(9) Parking Development Standards. The following development standards promote vehicle areas that 
are safe and attractive for motorists and pedestrians. These standards apply to all vehicle areas 
whether required or excess parking. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 105 

(a) Parking Space Dimensions. The minimum size of a required parking space is 9 feet by 18 feet. 
Where nonrequired parking is provided on a site, at least one nonrequired parking space must 
meet the minimum size for required spaces. A portion of a standard parking space may be 
landscaped instead of paved. The landscaped area may be up to 2 feet of the front of the 
space as measured from a line parallel to the direction of the bumper of a vehicle using the 
space. Landscaping must be ground cover plants. 

(b) Disabled Parking. The following disabled person parking standards and access standards are 
regulated through Uniform Building Code as adopted by the Town: 
1. Dimensions of disabled person parking spaces and access aisles. 
2. The minimum number of disabled person parking spaces required. 
3. Location of disabled person parking spaces and circulation routes. 
4. Curb cuts and ramps including slope, width and location. 
5. Signage and pavement markings. 

(c) Parking Aisle Dimensions. Minimum with of aisles providing access to stalls for one-way traffic 
shall be 11 feet for 30° angle parking and 20 feet for 90° parking. Minimum with of aisles 
providing access to stalls for two-way traffic shall be 24 feet. 

(d) Surfacing. All driveways and parking areas, other than those for residential and agricultural 
use, must be surfaced with a durable surface consisting of concrete or asphalt or of 
compacted gravel or crushed stone. 

(e) Access. All parking areas must be designed to allow vehicles to enter and exit the roadway in 
a forward motion. However, this does not apply to parking areas with one or two spaces and 
whose only access is on a local service street. 

(f) Setbacks and Perimeter Landscaping. Perimeter landscaping for all commercial, industrial, 
and multi-family uses must be approved by the Plan Commission as part of the site plan. 
Parking areas must meet the setback requirements of the underlying zoning district. 

(g) Parking Area Interior Landscaping. All hard-surfaced parking areas with more than 10 spaces 
must provide interior landscaping complying with one or a mix of both the Options stated 
below. Trees and shrubs must be protected from potential damage by vehicles through the 
use of bollards, curbs, wheel stops, or other physical barriers. Interior parking area 
landscaping must be dispersed throughout the parking area. Some trees may be grouped, but 
the groups must be dispersed. Perimeter landscaping may not substitute for interior 
landscaping. Parking areas that are 30 feet or less in width, and all non-hard surfaced parking 
areas may locate their interior landscaping around the edges of the parking area. Interior 
landscaping placed along an edge is in addition to any required perimeter landscaping. 
1. Option 1. Interior landscaping must be provided at the rate of 10 square feet per stall. At 

least one tree must be planted for every 200 square feet of landscaped area. Ground 
cover must completely cover the remainder of the landscaped area. 

2. Option 2. One tree must be provided for every 6 parking spaces. If surrounded by cement, 
the tree planting area must have a minimum dimension of 4 feet. If surrounded by asphalt, 
the tree planting area must have a minimum dimension of 3 feet. 

(10) Live/work Units. 
(a) For live/work units of 2,500 sq. ft. in floor area or less, one parking space is required for each 

unit. 
(b) For live/work units greater than 2,500 square feet in floor area, required parking will be based 

on the applicable parking standard for the nonresidential use or the closest similar use as 
determined by the zoning administrator. 

 
  



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 106 

17.53 Conditional Uses. 
 

(1) Definition. A conditional use is a use which is necessary or desirable for public welfare, but which is 
potentially incompatible with the uses normally permitted in the zoning district established herein. It 
is hereby declared the policy and purpose of this Chapter to employ the conditional use as a 
flexible means of permitting certain exceptions to the districts established and the rules and 
regulations adopted herein, in cases where the public benefit of such uses outweighs the potential 
harm, and under such conditions imposed as are necessary to protect the public health, safety, 
welfare, and individual property rights. 

(2) Application. Applications for conditional use permits shall be made to the Town on forms furnished 
by the Town Clerk and shall include the following: 
(a) Fifteen copies of the completed application materials. 
(b) A map which complies with the Town of Winchester Map Guidelines and drawn to a scale of 

not less than 100 ft. to 1 inch. 
(c) The names and complete mailing addresses, including zip codes, of the owners of all 

properties within 300 ft. of any part of the land included in the proposed use. 
(d) Additional information as may be required by the Town Board, Plan Commission, or zoning 

administrator. 
(e) A fee, as may be established and periodically modified in the Town of Winchester Fee 

Schedule, shall accompany each application. Such fee shall be paid by cash, check, or money 
order to the Town Treasurer. Costs incurred by the Town in obtaining legal, planning, 
engineering and other technical and professional advice in connection with the review of the 
conditional use and preparation of conditions to be imposed shall be charged to the applicant. 

(f) Where necessary to comply with the certain Wisconsin Statutes, an application will be 
submitted to the Department of Natural Resources. 

(g) The site plan and plan of operation form furnished by the Town shall be submitted to the Town 
Clerk prior to scheduling a Plan Commission or Town Board meeting. 

(3) Review. Upon receipt of a complete application for a conditional use permit, the Town Clerk shall 
provide copies of the complete application packet to the Town Board, Plan Commission, and 
zoning administrator. 
(a) Within 15 days of receipt of the complete application packet, the zoning administrator shall 

review the application and provide a recommendation to the Plan Commission to approve, 
approve with conditions, or deny the conditional use permit. 

(b) Such recommendation shall be based upon, and consistent with, the Town Zoning Ordinance, 
Town Subdivision Ordinance, Town Comprehensive Plan, other Town Ordinances, and any 
relevant County, State, or Federal rules regulations or requirements. 

(4) Staff Report Content. The staff report shall contain the following: 
(a) Preliminary findings based upon the decision criteria listed in this Chapter. 
(b) A recommendation to approve the application, approve the application with conditions, or deny 

the application. 
(c) A preliminary list of conditions of approval regardless of whether the zoning administrator 

recommendation is for approval or denial. 
(d) Other information deemed necessary by the administrator. 

(5) Public Hearing. Upon receipt of the application, foregoing data and fees, the Clerk shall establish a 
date for a public hearing and shall publish notice of the hearing once each week for 2 consecutive 
weeks in the official newspaper for a Class 2 notice per Wisconsin Statute 985. Notice of the public 
hearing shall be given to the owners of all lands within 300 ft. of any part of the land included in 
such conditional use by mail at least 10 days before such public hearing. A copy of the notice of 
public hearing along with pertinent information relative to the specific nature of the matter (copy of 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 107 

application and map) shall be transmitted to the Plan Commission and Town Board. The staff 
report submitted by the zoning administrator shall be read into the record as official testimony. 
Testimony of all other interested parties will be heard at the public hearing and the Plan 
Commission will forward to the Town Board a recommendation to approve, approve with 
conditions, or deny the application. 

(6) Authorizing Conditional Use Permits. Conditional use permits may be authorized by the Plan 
Commission when it appears: 
(a) That it is reasonably necessary for the public convenience at that location; or, 
(b) That it is so designed, located and proposed as to be operated so that it will not be injurious to 

the district in which it shall be located or otherwise detrimental to the public welfare, and that it 
conforms to the applicable regulations and standards and reserves the essential character of 
the district in which it shall be located; or, 

(c) That in the case of an existing nonconforming use will make such use more compatible with its 
surroundings. 

(7) Final Review and Approval. The Plan Commission shall review the proposal as submitted. Any 
conditions deemed necessary by the Plan Commission, Town Board, or other governmental 
agencies may be made an integral part of the permit. These conditions shall be complied with by 
the applicant, and any deviation or alteration of those conditions set forth in the permit shall 
constitute a violation of the terms of the conditional use permit. Such violation shall constitute a 
violation of this Chapter and will be subject to prosecution and penalties under the terms of this 
Chapter. 

(8) Determination. The Plan Commission, after due consideration, may deny the petition, approve the 
petition as submitted, or approve the petition subject to additional conditions and restrictions. The 
approval of a Conditional Use Permit shall be based upon and include as conditions thereto the 
building, site and operational plans for the development as approved by the Plan Commission. The 
conditions of approval or reasons for disapproval shall be stated in writing by the determining body 
and a copy made a permanent part of the minutes of such body.  

(9) Application for Changes and Additions. Any subsequent change or addition to the Conditional Use 
Permit, plans or uses shall first be submitted for approval to the Plan Commission through the 
procedure of application for conditional use permits detailed herein and if, in the opinion of the Plan 
Commission, such change or addition constitutes a substantial alteration of the original plan, a 
public hearing before the Plan Commission shall be required and notice thereof be given pursuant 
to the provisions of this Chapter. At the discretion of the Plan Commission and Town Board minor 
changes which are consistent with the approved Site Plan may be permitted without a public 
hearing. A minor change is one in which the proposed change does not significantly affect the 
overall character of the site or intensity of the use and is consistent or compatible with the Site Plan 
and Plan of Operations. All proposed changes, additions or alterations shall be submitted to the 
Town Board for approval. 

(10) Term of Approval. Unless otherwise specified a conditional use permit shall be continued as long 
as the operation is uninterrupted, and none of the approved conditions are violated or changed. 
Conditional use permits for structures shall be reviewed by staff annually. Annual review of the 
conditions for a conditional use permit, for other than structures, shall be required by the Plan 
Commission on the anniversary date of the approval, or as determined by the Plan Commission. 

(11) Revocation of Conditional Use. Conditional use permit will be revoked when, after public hearing, 
the Plan Commission and Town Board determine any of the following: 
(a) A permit applicant, his heirs or assigns, fails to comply with or to continue in conformity with 

the conditions of the permit issued by the Plan Commission. 
(b) A change in the character of the surrounding area or in the conditional use itself causes such 

use to be no longer compatible with surrounding uses. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 108 

(c) The conditional use has been discontinued or not utilized for a period of 12 consecutive or 18 
cumulative months in a 3-year period. A business of a seasonal nature shall not be deemed 
discontinued during periods in which it is normally inactive (i.e., summer camps, snowmobile 
courses, ski area, quarries, etc.)  Upon such determination, the owner of the premises shall be 
required to bring all such lands and buildings into conformity with the district regulations of the 
district in which such former conditional use is located, and all other provisions of this Chapter 
within 90 days from such determination. 

(12) Conditional Use Permits for Livestock Operations. Conditional use permits for livestock operations 
of 500 or more animal units shall be reviewed and decided upon consistent with the requirements 
of Subchapter III of ATCP 51, Wis. Stats. 

(13) An accessory structure exceeding the maximum floor area allowable under the terms of this 
Chapter approved by the Town Board and Plan Commission via the issuance of a conditional use 
permit prior to amendments to the Chapter resulting from the passage of 2017 Wisconsin Act 67 
shall, for the purposes of this Chapter, be deemed a permitted use and shall retain all the rights 
granted thereof. 

 
17.54 Zoning Board of Appeals. Under the provisions of Section 62.23 (7) (e) Wisconsin Statutes, there is 

hereby established a Board of Appeals. 
 

(1) Organization of Board of Appeals. The Board of Appeals shall consist of 7 members, 5 regulars, 
and 2 alternates, appointed by the Town Chairman and subject to confirmation of the Town Board, 
for terms of 3 years, except that of those first appointed, 1 shall serve for 1 year, 2 for 2 years and 
2 for 3 years. The members of the Board shall serve at such compensation to be fixed by 
ordinance. The Town Chairman shall designate one of the members chairman. Vacancies shall be 
filled for the unexpired terms of members whose terms become vacant. 

(2) Meetings of the Board of Appeals. The Board shall adopt rules in accordance with the provisions of 
this section. Meetings of the Board shall be held at the call of the chairman and at such other times 
as the board may determine. Such chairman, or in his absence, the acting chairman, may 
administer oaths and compel the attendance of witnesses. All meetings of the board shall be open 
to the public. The board shall keep minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each member 
upon each question, or if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact, and shall keep records of its 
examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in the office of the 
board and shall be a public record. 

(3) Power of the Board of Appeals. The Board of Appeals shall have the following powers: 
(a) To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, requirement, 

decision or determination by an administrative official in the enforcement of this Chapter. 
(b) Appeals to the Board of Appeals may be taken by any person aggrieved or by any officer of 

the town affected by any decision of the Plan Commission. Such appeal shall be taken within 
20 days by filing with the Plan Commission and with the Board of Appeals a notice of appeal 
specifying the grounds thereof. The Plan Commission shall forthwith transmit to the Board of 
Appeals all the papers constituting the record upon which the actions appealed from was 
taken. 

(c) The Board of Appeals shall fix a reasonable time for the hearing of the appeal or other matter 
referred to it and give public notice thereof by a Class 1 notice under Chapter 985 Wisconsin 
Statutes, in an official paper or a paper of general circulation in the Town of Winchester and by 
posting notices in 3 public places as well as due notice to the parties in interest, and decide 
the same within a reasonable time. Upon the hearing any party may appear in person or by 
agent or by attorney.  

(d) To permit the extension of a district where the boundary line of a district divides a lot in single 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 109 

ownership as shown of record. 
(e) To interpret the provisions of this Chapter where the street layout on the ground differs from 

the Official Zoning Map.  
(f) To authorize upon appeal in specific cases, a variance from the standards of the ordinance as 

will not be contrary to the public interest. Variations for uses shall not be granted by the board. 
A variance for the purpose of this Chapter shall not be granted unless: 
1. A written application for a variance is submitted demonstrating:  

a. That special conditions exist which are peculiar to the land or structure involved which 
are not applicable to other lands or structures in the same district. 

b. That literal enforcement or the provisions of this Chapter would deprive the applicant 
of rights commonly enjoyed by other lands or structures in the same district under the 
terms of this Chapter.  

c. That the special conditions and circumstances do not result from the actions of the 
applicant.  

d. That the granting of the variance request will not confer on the applicant any special 
privilege that is denied by this Chapter to other lands or structures in the same 
district.  

e. No non-conforming use of neighboring lands or structures in the same district, and no 
permitted use of land or structures in other districts shall be considered grounds for 
the issuance of a variance.  

2. The application is in proper form and a fee as specified in the Town Fee Schedule has 
been paid. The board shall hold a public hearing on such matter. Reasonable special 
conditions and safeguards for the protection of the public health, safety, and welfare may 
be imposed by the board if it grants the application for variance.  

(g) Public Hearing. Upon receipt of the application, foregoing data and fees, the Clerk shall 
establish a date for a public hearing and shall publish notice of the hearing once each week for 
2 consecutive weeks in the official newspaper for a Class 2 notice per Wisconsin Statute 985. 
Notice of the public hearing shall be given to the owners of all lands within 300 ft. of any part of 
the land included in such conditional use by mail at least 10 days before such public hearing. 
A copy of the notice of public hearing along with pertinent information relative to the specific 
nature of the matter (copy of application and map) shall be transmitted to the Zoning Board of 
Appeals, Plan Commission, and Town Board. Testimony of all interested parties will be heard 
at the public hearing and the Zoning Board of Appeals will issue a final ruling. 

(4) Exercise of Power. 
(a) In exercising the above mentioned powers, such board may, in conformity with the provisions 

of such section, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, 
decision or determination appealed from, and may make such order, requirement, decision or 
determination as ought to be made, and to that end shall have all the powers of the officer 
from whom the appeal is taken, and may issue or direct the issue of a permit. 

(b) The concurring vote of 4 members of the board shall be necessary to reverse any order, 
requirement, decision or determination of any such administrative official, or to decide in favor 
of the applicant on any matter upon which it is required to pass under this Chapter, or to effect 
any variation in such ordinance. The grounds of every such determination shall be stated. 

17.55 Enforcement.  
 

(1) It shall be the duty of the Building Inspector to enforce the provisions of this Chapter. 
(2) The Building Inspector shall prepare a record of all buildings structures and mobile homes situated 

within the setback lines as established by this Chapter, or any amendments thereto, which shall 
include the distances of such buildings, mobile homes or structures from the centerline of the 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 110 

adjacent highway, their size, type of construction and use, the quarter section in which they are 
situated, the names and addresses of the owner and occupant of the premises and the date upon 
which the record is made. Such record shall be kept current with the Town Clerk and shall show 
any such buildings, structures or mobile homes that may be removed or damaged to the extent that 
their reconstruction will be contrary to this Chapter. 

(3) No building or structure shall hereafter be created, moved or structurally altered, except as herein 
after provided, until a permit therefor shall be applied for and issued. No permit shall be issued until 
the Building Inspector has satisfactory proof that the premises are in full compliance with the Town 
of Winchester Winnebago Subdivision Ordinance and the Winnebago County Shoreland Zoning 
Ordinance, and that a Winnebago County Sanitary Permit for the installation of a private sewage 
system to serve the premises has been issued, except that lots served by public sewer shall not 
require a sewer permit. 

(4) No land use permit shall be required for farm buildings and structures having a ground area of less 
than 300 square feet, not permanently fixed to the ground and readily removable in their entirety, 
but this exemption shall not apply to roadside stands used for the sale of farm products or other 
goods or services. 

(5) All applications for a land use permit shall be accompanied by plans in duplicate, drawn to scale, 
showing the location, actual shape and dimensions of the lot to be built upon, the exact size and 
location on the lot of the proposed or existing building and accessory building, the lines within 
which the building shall be erected, altered or moved, the existing and/or intended use of each 
building or part of a building, the number of families the building is intended to accommodate, and 
such other information with regard to the lot and neighboring lots or buildings as may be necessary 
to determine and provide for the enforcement of this Chapter. The above requirements as to plans 
shall not apply to roadside stands, nor to farm buildings having a ground area of less than 300 
square feet and not intended for human habitation. It shall be sufficient for the owner or his agent, 
in applying for a land use permit for such buildings, to furnish the Building Inspector with such 
information as is necessary to show compliance with the health, sanitary and safety provisions of 
the state codes and with the requirements of this Chapter. 

(6) All dimensions shown relating to the location and size of the lot shall be based upon an actual 
survey. The lot and the location of the building thereon shall be staked out on the ground before 
construction is started. 

(7) Certificate of Compliance. No vacant land shall be occupied or used and no building or mobile 
home hereafter erected, altered or moved shall be occupied until the certificate of compliance shall 
have been issued by the Building Inspector. Such certificate shall show that the building or 
premises or part thereof and the proposed use thereof are in conformity with the provisions of this 
Chapter. Such certificate shall be issued only when the building or premises and the proposed use 
thereof conform with all the requirements of this Chapter. 
(a) Under such rules and regulations as may be established by the Town Board, the Building 

Inspector may issue a temporary certificate of compliance for part of a building. 
(b) Upon written request from the owner, the Building Inspector shall issue a certificate of 

compliance for any building or premises existing at the time of the adoption of this Chapter, 
certifying after inspection, the extent and kind of use made of the building or premises and 
whether or not such use conforms to the provisions of this Chapter. 

 
17.56 Time Limit on Permits. 
 

(1) Building permits issued pursuant to this section are valid for a period of 12 months from the date of 
issuance. The permittee shall initiate substantial work or improvements prior to the termination of 
12 months from date of issuance. If substantial work or improvements have not begun prior to 12 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 111 

months from date of issuance, the building permit issued pursuant to this section shall lapse and 
the permittee shall be required to reapply as set forth above in this section. Consideration of 
"substantial work or improvements" shall include but is not limited to the following factors; amount 
of labor; expenditures; economic value of materials and labor; hardship to the owner; reasons for 
delay in construction; and such other factors as the building inspector deems relevant. The building 
inspector's decision on this matter may be appealed to the Board of Appeals.  

(2) A filing fee shall be required for each initial application, and a filing fee for each renewal 
application, as set forth in the Town Fee Schedule. 

(3) All existing mineral extraction operations lawfully operated and existing shall be considered non-
conforming uses and may be continued provided that they have worked prior to the date of the 
adoption of this provision of this Chapter, and that they be registered with the Building Inspector 
within 1 year of the date of this provision of this Chapter. 

 
17.57 Fees. 
 

(1) Fees are established annually by the Town Board. Permit fees may be changed by a vote of the 
Town Board. Reference the current Fee Schedule for appropriate fees. 

(2) Fees in an amount determined by the Town Board are required to be paid by the applicant for a 
building permit, Land Use Permit, Culvert Permit or Demolition Permit, or for a certificate of 
occupancy where no building permit was required. The fee shall be paid to the issuer of the permit. 

(3) A fee in an amount determined by the Town Board is required to be paid by the applicant for each 
application or appeal, which fee shall be paid to the town clerk and receipt therefore filed with the 
application. This fee shall not be required of any township officer acting in his official capacity. 

(4) A fee in an amount to be determined by the Town Board is required for any petition for the 
amendment of this zoning ordinance, which fee shall be paid to the town treasurer and receipt 
therefor filed with the amendment petition. In addition thereto, a petitioner shall be charged with the 
cost of the official newspaper publication of the notice of hearing. This provision shall not apply to 
amendments initiated by the Plan Commission.  

(5) An application for a building permit shall be made in conformity with the requirements of the 
building code ordinance of the Town of Winchester and shall include, for the purpose of proper 
enforcement of the regulations of this Chapter, the following data: 
(a) An accurate plat or survey of the lot drawn to a reasonable scale and properly dimensioned 

showing: 
1. The boundaries of the lot.  
2. The location of any existing structures on the lot. 
3.  The location of the proposed building or buildings on the lot.  
4. The location of the centerline and the existing and/or established grade of the abutting 

street or streets.  
5. The proposed floor elevation of the building or buildings to be erected.  
6. The high water line of any stream or lake on which said lot abuts.  
7. A plan of the proposed sewage disposal system, which is not connected to an approved 

municipal sewerage system, shall require the certification that the satisfactory sewerage 
disposal is possible for the proposed use of said lot.  

8. Satisfactory evidence that a safe and adequate supply of water is to be provided, and the 
location of any well for that purpose on the property.  

9. No culvert shall be constructed on a Town of Winchester road right-of-way without 
application for permission in writing to the Building Inspector and a permit issued as to 
location and size to conform to the requirements of the terrain, and all at the expense of 
the applicant. 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 112 

(6) Review Fees. The applicant shall be required to compensate the Town for the costs associated 
with any required review under this Chapter. Such reviews include: 
(a) Administrative. The applicant shall pay a fee equal to the cost of any legal or administrative 

work that may be undertaken by the Town in connection with the submitted application. 
(b) Planning and Engineering. The applicant shall pay a fee equal to the actual cost to the Town 

for all engineering, planning, surveying, or similar review work incurred by the Town in 
connection with the submitted application as the Town deems necessary to assure that the 
proposed action is consistent and compliant with the Town of Winchester Code of Ordinance, 
Town of Winchester Comprehensive Plan, and the ordinances, laws, regulations, and rules of 
any other relevant government authority. 

(c) The Applicant shall pay the fee within thirty days of receipt of billing by the Town Clerk. 
 
17.58 Violations and Penalties. 
 

(1) Any building, structure or mobile home hereafter erected, enlarged, altered, repaired or moved or 
any use hereafter established in violation of any of the provisions of this Chapter shall be deemed 
an unlawful building, structure or mobile home or use. The Building Inspector shall promptly report 
all such violations to the town.  

(2) Any person, firm, corporation or organization that violates, neglects or refuses to comply with or 
resists the requirement of this Chapter, shall upon conviction be punished by a fine of not less than 
$200.00 or more than $500.00 together with the costs of prosecution, including reasonable 
attorney’s fees, and in default of payment thereof by imprisonment in the County Jail of Winnebago 
County until such fine and costs are paid but not to exceed 30 days. Whenever a person shall have 
been notified by the Building Inspector or a member of the Town Board that he is in violation of the 
provisions of this Chapter, such person shall commence correction of all violations within 7 days 
after notice, and shall correct all violations within 30 days of notice, each day that a violation 
continues shall be considered a separate offense for purposes of determining the amount of the 
minimum fine. No person shall be issued or re-issued a building permit, a conditional use permit or 
any other permit under this Chapter if said person: 
(a) Fails to meet or comply with the building codes established by the town. 
(b) Fails to meet or comply with the provisions of the Town Zoning Ordinance. 
(c) Fails to comply with Winnebago County or State of Wisconsin Zoning and Building Code 

requirements. 
(d) Fails to pay all relevant fees for building permits and other charges imposed by the town. 
(e) Fails to comply with any special orders or conditions imposed by the Building Inspector, 

Building Permit Officer, Plan Commission or the Town Board. 
(3) In the event any building or structure is or is proposed to be erected, constructed, reconstructed, 

altered, converted or maintained, or any building, structure or land is or is proposed to be used in 
violation of this Chapter, the Town Board or any adjacent/neighboring property owner who would 
be damaged by such violation may, in addition to other remedies and fines provided herein, 
institute appropriate legal action or proceedings to prevent, restrain, correct or abate such violation 
to prevent the occupancy of said building, structure or land, or to prevent any illegal act, conduct, 
business or use in or about such premises. 

 
17.59 Changes and Amendments. 
 

(1) When any amendment of the district boundaries or of the regulations contained in this Chapter 
shall be petitioned for by any interested party or moved by the Town Board, the Town Board shall 
designate the Plan Commission to formulate a tentative draft of such amendment and recommend 



CHAPTER 17 
ZONING REGULATIONS 
TOWN OF WINCHESTER 

 
 

Chapter 17 - 113 

the same to the Town Board. Before adoption of such amendment by the Town Board, the Town 
Board shall give not less than 10 days notice of a public hearing on such amendment, specifying 
the time and place of such hearing. Such notice may be given by publication at least 2 times during 
the preceding 30 days in the official newspaper or in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county. The Town Board may direct the Plan Commission to report its recommendations at 
specified times of the year, but at least twice in any calendar year.  

(2) In case a protest is presented against such amendment, duly signed and acknowledged by the 
owners of 20% of more of the area of the land immediately adjacent extending 100 feet therefrom, 
or by the owners of 20% or more of land directly opposite thereto extending 100 feet from the 
street frontage of such opposite land, such amendment shall not become effective except by 
unanimous vote of the Town Board. 

 
17.60 Validity and Conflicts. Should any section, clause, or provisions of this Chapter be declared by courts to 

be invalid, the same shall not affect the validity of the Chapter as a whole, or any part thereof, other than the 
part so declared to be invalid. 

 
17.61 Adoption. This Chapter is a creation of the Zoning Ordinance for the said Township passed and adopted 

and all amendments thereto and the zoning map adopted with the adoption of this initial Chapter; it is 
hereby adopted and made a part of this Chapter as is the map referred to in this Chapter. Map entitled 
Zoning Map for the Town of Winchester, Winnebago County, Wisconsin.  

 
a. First passed and adopted by the Town Board of the Town of Winchester, Winnebago County, 

Wisconsin this 18th day of February, 2013. 
b. Amended and adopted the Town Board of the Town of Winchester, Winnebago County, Wisconsin 

this 20th day of August, 2018. 
 

 
 
Town Chairman  ___________________________________________  Date  ________________  
 
Supervisor  _______________________________________________  Date  ________________  
 
Supervisor  _______________________________________________  Date  ________________  
 
Town Clerk  ______________________________________________  Date  ________________  



CARY A. ROWE 
Zoning Administrator 

Winnebago County 
Zoning Department 
The Wave of the Future 

MEMO FOR P & Z MEETING AGENDA OF APRIL 5, 2019 

TO: Planning & Zoning Committee 

FM: Zoning Administrator Cf'f4-

RE: Review of Town Zoning Changes 

112 OTTER AVE .. PO BOX 2808 
OSHKOSH, WISCONSI]'; 54903-2808 

OSHKOSH (920) 232-3344 
FOX CITIES (920) 727-2880 

FAX (920) 232-3347 

zoningdepartment@co.winnebago wi.us 

1. JJJ2 LLC- Town Zoning Change (Tax ID No: 006-0895-06)- Town of Clayton. 

The town zoning change for JJJ2 LLC is consistent with Winnebago County's Land 
Use Plan. The Town of Clayton approved the zoning change from A-2 (General 
Agricultural District) to 1-1 (Light Industrial District) and The Town of Clayton's 
amended land use plan shows future land use as Light IndustriaL 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a motion to forward zone change to County 
Board for action. 

2. Culver- Town Zoning Change (Tax ID No: 024-0274 & 024-0284)- Town of Utica. 

The town zoning change for Culver is consistent with Winnebago County's Land 
Use Plan. The Town of Utica approved the zoning change from A2 (Agricultural 
District) toRR (Rural Residential Recreational Mixed Use) and Winnebago 
County's land use plan shows future land use as Agricultural and Rural under the 
extra-territorial jurisdiction of the City of Oshkosh. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a motion to forward zone change to County 
Board for action. 

pheise
Highlight



"'.,... -, _..., ( rr · · 

A"// ~ , f FLu· lk f!Pv~t, i>~ 
Town of Utica- Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk 'fC11-j'rC J.k ~ 

6570 Bradley Ave. Pickett, WI 54964- 920-410-0347- utica1730@gmail.com 

SUBMITIAL FORM 

Name of Property Owner: ..:..T=er:..:..rvL....:C-=u.:..:.lv.::.er:.,.__ ________________ _ 

Address of Owner: 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh WI 54904 

Name of Applicant: =sa=m..:.:.e=--=a=s-=a=b=ov.:..::e~------------------

Address of Applicant: :::;Sa::::..:m.:..:.:::.e~a~s~a~b~ov~e~-----------------

Legal Description of Area to be Rezoned (attach CSM, if applicable): 

024-0274: NE NW EXC 3.75 A N&Wof HWY & EXC HWY 31 .21 A 
024-0284: SE NW EXC S 47.04 RDS & EXC HWY 14.45 A 

Tax Parcel Number, if existing parcels: 024-0413-02. 024-0416-00. 024-0416-01, 

Section 14 Town17N Range R15E 

Existing Zoning: '-'A2=---- Name of District: Agricultural District (General Farming) 

Proposed Zoning: .... R .... R __ Name of District: Rural Residential Recreational Mixed Use 

Town Board Action: X Approval __ Denial 

Findings: 1) Does the Town have an adopted Land Use Plan? _!Y~e=s~-------
2) Does the request agree with the Plan?~Y~e~s:_ ______ ____ _ 
3) Other findings (List). approved by Town Board vote: 

Aporoved by the Town Board vote 3-0 

I, Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk of the Town of Utica, hereby certify that a public hearing was 
conducted on March 7. 2019 and that all required notices were posted and/or mailed as required 
by local ordinance. 

Signed: '91;1/1,-~~>!.!dl-
Date: ?J-ttf- d.o/9 



LISTING OF PARCELS SURROUNDING SUBJECT PARCEL FOR 
REZONING CHANGE 

Subject Parcels: 024-027 4 024-0284 

Owner: Terry Culver 

Applicant: same as above 

PARCEL OWNER(Sl MAILING ADDRESS CITY/STATE/ZIP 
024-0279-01 
024-0279-02 Germaine Nelson 5603 State Road 44 Oshkosh. WI 54904 

024-0282 Timothy & Grace Oliver 5595 State Road 44 Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0277-04 
024-0280 Family_ lucky 7 Farm LLC 18 Crescent Key Bellevue. WA 98006 

024-0277 Scott & Elizabeth KrinQs 1691 County Road FF Oshkosh. WI 54904 

024-0276 Gerald Rick SR 121 Havenwood Drive Pompano Beach. FL 33064-5253 
024-0209 
024-0209-03 
024-0275 
024-0275-02 Howard & Mar]or•e Christianson 5550 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. W I 54904 
024-0209-01-01 
024-0209-01-02 Carol Culver 5510 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0271 
024-0272-01 Lyle & Sandra Forsqren 5517 State Road 44 Oshkosh. WI 54904 

024-0204-01 James & Kathleen Stadler 5608 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0203 
024-0204 John & Diane Koerner 5628 Fisk Ave Oshkosh, WI 54904 
024-0274 
024-0284 Terry & Jill Culver 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 

024-0798 Daniel & linda Plotz 1727 Crown Drive Oshkosh. WI 54904 

i 
i 



TOWN OF UTlCA 
P1an Commission Meeting Agenda 

Notice is hereby given that a Town Plan Commission meeting in the Town of Utica, County of Winnebago, and 
State of Wisconsin for the transaction of business as is by law required or permitted to be transacted at such a 
meeting will be held at the Utica Town Hall, 1730 County Road FF in said Town. 

Thursday, March 7, 2019 

1. Call the Meeting to Order 

2. Take Roll Call: 
A. Members: Terry Beck, Darwin Briggs, Ralph Kalies, Tim Oliver, Ken Schmick, 

Grant Stettler. Tom Thiel 
B. Alternates: Chad Bowman, Eric Whiting 

3. Approve May 3, 2018 Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 

4. Affidavit of Posting/Publication- Secretary and Plan Chairman to sign 

5. Public Forum 

7:30pm 

6. Discuss/Recommend to the Town Board approving CSM to divide parcels: 024--0274, 024-0284 
currently zoned A2 and owned by Terry Culver 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh, WI 54904. Terry 
Culver would like to create a 5 acre single-family parcel with existing home to be zoned RR and 
leaving remaining land for agriculture to be zoned RR. Location of the property is east of County 
Road FF, south of Fisk Ave, and North and South of State Road 44; Lot 1 to be 5.012 acres, Lot 
2 to be 20.745 acres and Lot 3 to be 18.563 acres. 

7. Future Agenda Items 

8. Adjournment 
Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk 

Posted: 3/6/2019 

The Plan Commission meets as needed on the FIRST THURSDAY OF EACH MONTH AT 7:30PM (unless otherwise noted). 
All meetings are open to the public. Discussion and action may occur on any of the above agenda items. 

Any person wishing to attend Who, because of a disabilly, requires special accornmodation, should contact Plan Commission Chaimlan Tom Thiel at 
920-079-3025 at least twenty four (24) hours before the scheduled meeting time so appropriate arrangements can be made. 

This is a public meeting. As such, au members or a majority of the members of the Town Board may be in attendance. While a majority of the Town 
Board members or the majority of any given Town Board Corrmittee may be present, only the above committee will take o1'ficial action based on the 
above agenda. 

Posted at: townofutlca.org, Town HaH, Co-op, and Jasper's. To receive email updates, e-mail the Clerk at utica1730@gmail.com. 



TOWN OF UTICA 
P1an Commission Meeting - Minutes 
Thursday, March 7, 2019 7:.30 pm DRAFT 

1. Call the Meeting to Order 
This meeting was called to order by Chairman Tom Thiel at 7:30pm at the Utica Town Hall; 9 present 

2. Roll Call: 
A. Members Present: Terry Beck, Darwin Briggs, Ralph Kalies, Tim Oliver, Ken Schmick, Grant Stettler, Tom Thiel 
B. Alternates Present: Eric Whiting 
C. Alternates Absent: Chad Bowman 
D. Board Members Present: Leonard Schmick 
E. Board Members Absent: Chuck Kuhrt 

3. Approve May 3, 2018 Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 
Darwin Briggs motions to accept as presented, seconded by Tom Thiel. Carried 

r:These meeting minutes are only a 
draft of the minutes of the meeting. 
They have not been approved yet. 
They are subject to change and you 
may not rely on their accuracy. For 
more information plea~ contact the 
clem or a town board member." 

4. Affidavit of Posting/Publication- Secretary and Plan Chainnan to sign 

5. Public Forum 
Terry Culver is looking to sell the land, keep 5 acres with the home. and keep the rest ag There is an easement on 
one end to use for farm equipment. Jim Stadler asked what RR was and Tom Thiel said it is Rural Residential 
Recreational. Walter Whiting said by changing toRR, the intention of the proposed buyer would be to keep it fann 
land; concerned there could be multiple parcels for homes Tom Thiel said it could be done but it still needs to be 
brought before the Board to be divided up; can still plant crops as being zoned RR. Walt asked about the easement. 
Terry said it is for the farmers to use to drive along the State Road to get to the farm field. Eric Whiting mentioned 
looking into the future regarding the easement, any future buildings would need to measure setbacks from the 
easement. Len Schmick said there is currently a culvert there and this easement would be documented with the 
County. Any realtor would need to infonn the buyer of the easement. Tim Oliver suggested putting a driveway on the 
rounded corner of County Road FF and Fisk to prevent future issues. Public discussion closed. 

6. Discuss/Recommend to the Town Board approving CSM to divide parcels: 024-00274, 024-0284 
currently zoned A2 and owned by Terry Culver 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh, WI 54904. Terry Culver 
would like to create a 5 acre single-family parcel with existing home to be zoned RR and leaving 
remaining land for agriculture to be zoned RR. Location of the property is east of County Road FF, 
south of Fisk Ave, and North and South of State Road 44; Lot 1 to be 5.012 acres, Lot 2 to be 20.745 
acres and Lot 3 to be 18.563 acres. 
There was discussion about the current culvert location on State Road 44 being on Lot 1 and to create a new culvert 
access on Lot 2. 
Ralph Kalies recommends to approve the map and what they want to do as approved, seconded by Darwin Briggs. 
Terry Beck- Yes I Darwin Briggs- Yes I Ralph Kalies- Yes I Tim Oliver- No I Ken Schmick- Yes Grant Stettler
Yes I Tom Thiel- Yes. Approve 

7. Future Agenda Items 
Ken Schmick will want more land added to his lot on Bonnieview Road to build a house, will have a CSM soon. 

Grant received a call from a gentleman who grows crops and would like to buy a box off a refrigerator truck to store 
veggies until he takes them to the market, or build a shed to store it. 

Tom Thiel talked with a company who would like to run high-speed internet but he will need to consult the attorney. 

8. Adjournment 
Adjourned at 7:57pm 

Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk & Planning/Zoning Secretary 

Thomas Thiel, Plan Chainnan 

Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk & Planning/Zoning Secretary 



TOWN OF UTICA 
P1an Cotntnission Notice 

Notice is hereby given that a public meeting in the Town of Utica, County of Winnebago, and 
State of Wisconsin for the transaction of business as is by law required or permitted to be 
transacted at such a meeting will be held at the Utica Town Hall, 1730 County Road FF in said 
Town. Town Board members may be present. 

Thursday, March 7, 2019 7:30pm 

To hear testimony for approval of a CSM dividing parcel number 024-00274, 024-0284 currently 
zoned A2 and owned by Terry Culver 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh, WI 54904. Terry Culver would 
like to create a 5 acre single-family parcel with existing home to be zoned RR and leaving 
remaining land for agriculture to be zoned RR. Location of the property is east of County Road 
FF, south of Fisk Ave, and North and South of State Road 44; Lot 1 to be 5.012 acres, 
Lot 2 to be 20.745 acres and Lot 3 to be 18.563 acres. 

The properties within 300' for notification in the Town of Utica, Winnebago County, Wisconsin 
are: 

PARCEL OWNER(S} MAILING ADDRESS CITY/STATE/ZIP 
024-0279-01 
024-0279-02 Germaine Nelson 5603 State Road 44 Oshkosh, WI 54904 

024-0282 Timothy & Grace Oliver 5595 State Road 44 Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0277-04 
024-0280 Family Lucky 7 Farm LLC 18 Crescent Key Bellevue. WA 98006 

024-0277 Scott & Elizabeth Krinas 1691 County Road FF Oshkosh. WI 54904 

024-0276 Gerald Rick SR 121 Havenwood Drive Pompano Beach, FL 33064-5253 
024-0209 
024·0209-03 
024-0275 
024-0275-02 Howard & Marjorie Christianson 5550 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0209-01-01 
024-0209·01-02 Carol Culver 5510 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0271 
024-0272..01 Lyle & Sandra Forsgren 5517 State Road 44 Oshkosh. WI 54904 

I 024-0204-01 James & Kathleen Stadler 5608 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0203 
024-0204 John & Diane Koemer 5628 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 
024-0274 
024-0284 T erTV & Jill Culver 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904 

024-0798 Daniel & Linda Plotz 1727 Crown Drive Oshkosh. WI 54904 

Public testimony will be taken at the time of the hearing. All written testimony must be received 
prior to the hearing and can be sent to Thomas Thiel, 1209 County Road M Pickett, WI 54964. 
For further information, contact Thomas Thiel (920) 589-3005. 

Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk & Planning/Zoning Secretary 
Published: 2/21/2019 

Any pers011 ~ahtng lo attend who, because of a diSability, reQ\IIte.S spedalaccommodauon, ~hould contad P1an Chairman Tom Thiel at 
92()..579-3025 al loasltwenty four (24) hows berore 111e Kbedulecl meeting bme so appropriate arrangements can oo made 

Thi& I& a I)Ublic meeting As such, all members or a majority of the mem~rs of the Town Board may be tn aUendance While 11 majority of the Town 
Boa ref membel'l or the majooly of any given Town BoaJd Committee may be prennt, only the above committee wtn tal!e official actlcn 

Posted 11: townofutica.org Town Hau, Co-op, and Jasper's To receive email updates, e"!1ail the Clerk at utica1730@gmii!LaJ!TI 



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. - --· -- -_ 
PART OF THE NORTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHWEST 
1/4 AND PART OF THE SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE 
NORTHWEST 1/4, ALL IN SECTION 14, TOWNSHIP 17 
NORTH, RANGE 15 EAST, TOWN OF UTICA, 
WlNNEBAGO COUNTY, WISCONSIN. 

,-., 
"' ,.., 

,:; .. 
I 

.~ 
"' ....... 
I~ 
.~ 
,vs 

• 
- rl 
~ 

Cu~ 
1 
2 

S8'1''50'24•c - JS.OO' 

1.) 

:J 
~ 
~ -

0\ ~ 
~ 0 
~ ... -~ ... 

Rodiue O.llo 
262.00' 082' 13'09' 
267.00' 02T48'J9 ' 

LOT 2 
'JIIJ.640 '(l.FT 

:::0.1H\C. 

ll£J4MIGS <I>( fl{rtRfNC£0 TO THt: ""/o/OI£8JoGO 
COUNTY COIJRJ)INAT£ sY$7(11 ()I I ~(r997) 

~ 
~ 
~ 

rr. t 

~~ 
::J, 

" ' .:...i l 

::· :;• .... 
:.<.' 
;..:1 

"' ..; 
"' "' "' • 

!:; ... .., 
:>; 

"' u , 
.... 

/1" WHICH THE: ..ot/TH UHf: OF THE: NORTHWBT 1/ <, 
CIF SCCOON 14. BCARS 589' rQ'46't 

s 

H>~ ~J-~r.n;o_ _~NJl~ 81;., 
! I~. - "' -Q N ilU'HI'49' W l )()t I ~ 

. - - - - · ·~lf:t"11 73!6 · 0 
- · - ~ 

CLNT!:ll ..," 5ECTION 14. -~ 
ri7N -~1 !;f -$-
t'"\jl' •,J )N( MONU~ENT FOUND 

5UR\Ia FOR: 
rERRY CUL llf:R 
550!1 FISK AVC:NU£ 

WI 5490 4 

LEGEND 
Len¢h Chord 9oor1n9 Chord 
404.6 7' N 41'16' 10.5' E 370 .83' 
129.60' S BJ'42'55.5" E 128.3J' 

• 
0 
0 

1- 1/ < ' 0 0 IRON 1'11'{ SCT. r8' tONG • 
WfiCHINC r I.JO LBS. PCR UN. FOOT 

:I/ •' flf'S<R FOUND 

I · 1/•' 0 0 IRON PtPC FOJJNO 

Martenson & Eisele, Inc. 
~ CO'If:RNMfNT CORWCII FOUND 

( ) RCCOIIDCD AS 

101W.,.J M. f'I Sill"l 
• Onra, VII 54!153 
-mii'IMI~~ 

P 820.1115 .e2•0 F 820.&e.S.lD40 

PlilnnW!g 
Enllironmental 

S....CP,~ 
EAQWI~ 
~duN 

PRDJ£CT NO. 0-1J~ 1- 001 

FIL[ 2JfTOOICSM SHffT 1 OF J 



Certified Survey Map 
PART OF THE NORTHEAST J/ 4 OF' THE NOH'l'HWJ;,;<;T J/1 AND PART OF THE 

SOUTHEAST 1/4 OF THE NORTHWEST 1/ 1, ALL IN SECTiON 14. TOWNSHIP 17 
NORTH. HANCE 15 EAS7: TOWN OF UTfCA. WINNEBAGO COUNTY. WISCONSIN 

SUBVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE: 

I. James E Smith, Professional Land Sur\'eyor, do hereby certify: 

TIUit I have su.-veyed, divided and mapped, at the direction of Terry Culver, pan of the Northenst 1/4 of the 
Northwest 1/4 and part of the Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest J/4, all in Section 14, Townsh1p 17 North, Range 15 
East, Town of Utica, Winnebago County, Wisconsin. described as follows: 

Commencing at the North l/4 comer of said Section 14; d1ence South 00 deg~ees 13 minutes 20 seconds 
West 90.54 feet, along the East line of the said Northwest 1/4, to the point of beginning; thence South 00 degrees 
13 minutes 20 seconds West 2 I 8 86 feet. along the said East line; thence South 41 degrees 07 minutes 00 seconds 
West 120.23 feet, along the North right-of-way line ofS.T H "44''; thence North 48 degrees 53 minutes 00 seconds 
West 30 00 feet.. al011l! the twlld Nonh nglu-af·Wn) hne thence SuUih -l I degrees 07 minutes 00 lloCICOtlib We>~ 
1050.73 fcet.lllong lhe mJd NCitlh n~hl-or-v.11)' lmc:.lht'llce South 2q degrees 40 minutes 42 r.cconds Wen 151.28 
feet, alon(lthe sasd Nardi n~ll!-of-way lmc:, thence South ol I del!olect 07 minutes 00 seconds WC!tl S5•1 b'l feet, 
along the said North right-of-way line; thence North 54 degrees 19 minutes 55 seconds West 121.02 feet, along the 
said North right-of-way line; thence North 00 degrees 09 minutes 36 seconds East 1171 94 feet. along the West line 
of the said Southeast 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 and the Nonheast l /4 of the Northwest I /4; thence South 89 degrees 
50 minutes 24 seconds East 33 00 feet ; thence 404 67 feet along the arc of o. curve to the right, having a radius of 
282.00 feet and whose chord bears North 41 degrees 16 minutes 10 5 seconds East 370.83 feet, along the South 
right-of-way line of Fisk Avenue; thence North 82 degrees 22 minutes 45 seconds East 931 21 feet. along the said 
South right-of-way line; thence129.60 feet along the arc of a curve to the right, having a radius of267.00 feet and 
whose chord bears South 83 degrees 42 minutes 55~ seconds East 128.33 feet, to the point ofbeginning, and also 
including lands described as commencing at the North 114 comer of said Section 14; thence South 00 degrees 13 
minutes 20 seconds West 515.60 feet, along the East line of the said Northwest 1/4, to the point ofbeginning; 
thence South 00 degrees I 3 minutes 20 seconds West 1351.85 filet, along the said East line; thence North 89 
degrees 19 minutes49 seronds West 11q5.8l feet ; thence North 41 degrees 07 minutes 0 I seconds East90L92 
feet, along the South right-of-way line ofS l H "44"; thence South 89 degrees 19 minutes 55 seconds East 32 85 
feet, along the said South right-of-way line; thence North 41 degrees 07 minutes 00 seconds East 874 43 fcet. along 
the said South right-of-way line, to the point of begin.u..ing. 

That I ha\'e fully complied with Chapter 236 34 of the Wisconsin Statutes in surveying, dividing, and 
mapping the same and the Town of Utica, and Winnebago County Subdivision Ordinances. 

This map is a correct representation of all of the exterior boundaries of land surveyed and the division 
thereof. 

Given under my hand this ____ day of • 20 19 

JBmes E . Smith, WI. Land Surveyor, S-1803 

"igrcbago COUD\)' rl!!nn in2 and Z.onlm: Comnlllttc C m lfkll lt! 

Pursuant to the Land Subdivision Regulations oftbe County of Winnebago, Wisconsin, all the requirements 
for approval have been fulfilled This Minor Subdivision w.s approved by the Winnebago County P1anni.ng and 
Zoning Committee on ___ day of 2019 

Chairman, Planning and Zoning Committee 

This CSM is ro•tained wboUy wilhin thf property described ia lht rotlotrillg recorded inttnuntllll: 

Owner{s) of record 
Terry L. Culver 
Jill M Culver 

PROJECT NO. ---'O!e-.lo..l23~4..!..;1..()()~1---

Pocurnent{ll_ ----
1732466 
1732465 

SHEET .l. of.] 

Parcel ~ 
0240274 
0240284 



TOWN OF UTICA Monday, March 11,2019 

Town Board Meeting - Agenda 
7:00- Review Invoices 

7:30pm- Town Board Meeting 

Notice IS hereby given thai a Town Board meeting in the Town of Utica, Winnebago County, and State of Wisconsin for the transaction 
of business as is by law required or permitted to be transacted at such a meeting will be held at the Ut1ca Town Hall, 1730 County 
Road FF in said Town. 

1. Call the Meeting to Order 

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. CONSENT AGENDA: 
A) Approve February 11, 2019 Town Board Meeting Minutes 
B) Affidavit of Posting/Publication 
C) Approve Payment of Bills for March 

4. Treasurer's Report for February 

5. Public Forum: Opporlunity to comment about an Agenda item or new busmess; say your name & address (no action taken by the Board) 

6 Discuss/Act on Winnebago County Historical & Archaeological Society to write about the Town of Utica, possible cost 
7. PLAN COMMISSION 

A) Discuss/Approve rezoning parcels as recommended by the Plan Commission approving CSM. 024-00274, 024-0284 
currently zoned A2 and owned by Terry Culver 5509 Fisk Ave Oshkosh. WI 54904. Terry Culver would like to create 
a 5 acre single-family parcel with existing home to be zoned RR and leaving remaining land for agriculture to be 
zoned RR. Location of the property is east of County Road FF, south of Fisk Ave, and North and South of State Road 
44; Lot 1 to be 5.012 acres, Lot 2 to be 20.7 45 acres and Lot 3 to be 1 8.563 acres. 

8. Discuss/Act on any Budget Amendments 
9. Discuss/Approve WI Towns Association Bylaws 

10. Discuss/Act on Winnebago County Floodplain Map Amendment Resolution 

11. Discuss/Act on FEMA's Public Assistance Grants Portal 

12. Discuss Insurance Renewal Questionnaires, Insurance Agent can attend April's meeting 

13. WI Dept of Safety & Professional Services- new electrical rules 

14. Discuss/Approve Resolution by School District of Omro proposed to attached property from Oshkosh Area School to 
Omro School District owned by Joshua Malnory: NE X of the SW X Section 11 Township 17 N, Range 15 E: 024-0195 

15. Discuss/Act On repairing Town Hall north and east walls 

16. East Central WI Regional Planning Commission - Resolution 43-18 to Restrict the use of high-PAH pavement sealants; 
encourages Towns to establish policies no to purchase/apply coal-tar-based sealanUother high-PAH sealant on any 
owned/maintained properties. Discuss/Act on approving an Ordinance. 

17. Discuss Spring Road Inspection date with the County 

18. RUSH LAKE -Late Feb/Early March follow-up meeting; next meeting 4/18/19 

19. FIRE DEPARTMENT I EMS 
A) February: 4 Fire Calls I 3 EMS Calls I 2 Mutual Aid calls 
B) Discuss/Act on the progress of the new. used fire truck 
C) SPS 330 Administrative Rule 

20. ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN NEWSLETTER 
A) Town Board Meeting -April 8, 2019; 7:30pm at the Utica Town Hall 
B) Open Book: May 7, 2019: 4-6pm 
C) Board of Review: May 21, 2019: 6-Spm 

21 CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED (Discuss/Act on): 
A) WI Towns Association - Monthly Mailing via email 
B) Property Transfers 
C) Sign Incident check reimbursement, Fox Valley Tech Board Appointment Vacancy, 2019 Carrot-top catalog, 

Winnebago County passed Boating Regulations Ordinance, Greater Oshkosh 2018 Annual Report, Construction 
Business Group; CD of Winnebago County's 2019 Emergency Response Plan 

22. Adjournment Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk Posted: 31912019 
Plan Commission Members (7, 2 alternates) (3-year term): Grant Stettler 412017; Tim Oliver 612017; En·c Whiting (sJtemste) 612017; Darwin Briggs 12/2020; Ken Schmick 312021; 
Tom Thiel ti/2018 (Chair); Ralph Kalies 712021; Chad Bowman (altemale) 812018; Tlmy Beck 1112021 /Rush Lake Steering Committee (3) (3-yaar term); Chuck KuM 912020; 
Kevin Fritz 212021; Tom Davis 5120211 Board of Appeals Members (5, 3 •lternates) (3-yeer term); Vicki Williams S/2016 (Chair); Don Draxler (allemate) 212017; Darwin Bri~gs 
6/2017; Robert Potrstz 312021; Brian Trebiatowski ti/2021; Michael Christianson (a/female) 81'2021; Walt WhJting 1212021 (a/female); Slepllanie Stettler 1212021 

The Town Board meets regularly the SECOND MONDAY OF EACH MONTH AT 7:30PM (unless otherwise noted) All meetings are open to the public Discussion and ae1ion may 
occur on any of lfte llbove agenda IU!ms Any ~10n"'shing to at1end who, bK&u•e d l~t~Ublhty, •oqui re!!l•peaal &CIDffilllOdJIIJQOII. thode~ Qantad Chlllf1Tilln Len SCI'lmick at 920-
589-6774 a11ea1il ~'I' lout (2<1) hgurll:lei'CW Lne sdleauled meeting 1ime so ~ppro,p~~JI!s arrangema11!S can tie !'niCe T1ln ~s11 poullk ~nv AI S\ld'l, member•llf a majority 
of the members olll'le Town Beam mill' be 1n ll1lltndllnc.e. While a majority or 1118 TC1Wil Bo.td membl!.~ or 1M mapnl) d liM lijlllen Town Beard Q:lmf1111tM ~Yl*Y bo pt"nen1, only 1he 
above commi~ee will take official ae1ion based on the above agenda Posted a11ownofutica ora, Town Hall, Co-op, and Jasper's. E-ma11 utica1730@gmajl CQllJ for email upda1es 



TOWN OF UTICA Monday, March 11, 2019 

Town Board Meeting- Minutes 
7:00pm - Review Invoices 

7:30pm- Town Board Meeting 

Notice is hereby given that a Town Board meeting in the Town of Utica, Winnebago County, and State of Wisconsin for the trensaction of business 
as is by law required or permitted to be transacted at such a meeting w11/ be held at the Utica Town Hall, 1730 County Road FF in said Town. 

1. CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER 
This meeting was called to order by Chairman Schmick at 7 :30pm at the Utica Town Hall . 
PRESENT: Chairman Leonard Schmick, Supervisor #1 Chuck Kuhrt, Supervisor #2 Grant Stettler 
Clerk Jenny Sonnleitner, Treasurer Brenda Morrell; 7 citizens present; County Sheriff Deputy Wuest 

DRAFT 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. CONSENT AGENDA 
A) APPROVE FEBRUARY 11, 2019 TOWN BOARD MEETING MINUTES 
B) AFFIDAVIT OF POSTING/PUBLICATION 

"The$e meeting minutes are only a draft of the minutes of 
the meeting. They have not been approved yet. They ore 
subject to change and you may not rely on their accuracy. 
For more information please contact the cler~ or a town 
board member." 

C) APPROVE PAYMENT OF BILLS FOR MARCH 
Chairman Schmick made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda, seconded by Supervisor Kuhrt. 

4 TREASURER'S REPORT FROM FEBRUARY; BMO HARRIS BANK 
Rece ipts : $153,866.12 ; Disbursements: $632,111 .29; Total Balance: $418,18939 
Total cash on hand including Fire/EMS account: $446,92 1.03 

Carried 

5 PUBLIC FORUM (Opportunity to comment about an Agenda item or new business; say your name & address (no action taken by the Boerc 
Tom Thiel talked with Attorney John Blazel regarding the high-speed internet permit and the attorney will review it more. 

6. DISCUSS/ACT ON WINNEBAGO COUNTY HISTORICAL & ARCHAEOLOGICAL SOCIETY TO WRITE ABOUT THE TOWN OF UTICP 
POSSIBLE COST 
The person is unable to attend tonight and would like to attend in April with a packet of information for the Board. Chairman Schmick 
motions to table until next month, seconded by Supervisor Stettler. Carried 

7. PLAN COMMISSION 
A) DISCUSS/APPROVE REZONING PARCELS AS RECOMMENDED BY THE PLAN COMMISSION APPROVING CSM. 

024-00274,024-0284 CURRENTLY ZONEDA2 AND OWNED BY TERRY CULVER 5509 F ISK AVE OSHKOSH, WI 
54904. TERRY CULVER WOULD LIKE TO CREATE A 5 ACRE SINGLE-FAMILY PARCEL WITH EXISTING HOME TO BE 
ZONED RR AND LEAVING REMAINING LAND FOR AGRICULTURE TO BE ZONED RR. LOCATION OF THE PROPERTY IS 
EAST OF COUNTY ROAD FF, SOUTH OF FISK AVE, AND NORTH AND SOUTH OF STATE ROAD 44; LOT 1 TO BE 5 .012 
ACRES, LOT 2 TO BE 20.745 ACRES AND LOT 3 TO BE 18.563 ACRES. 
Supervisor Stettler thought the main concern during the Plan Commission Meeting was about the driveway, to have less equipment 
traffic on State Road 44 ; it is the only entrance. Tom Thiel said the reason to have the variance to cross the field, there is no 
driveway on the corner, a driveway would need to be put in. Would need gravel to create a flat entrance to not drive through the 
ditch. Supervisor Kuhrt suggested he would be required to put in gravel. Supervisor Stettler feels it should have a flat gravel surface 
on the comer. Tom Thiel said to upgrade the gravel in the ditch so it is flat with the road. Stettler motions to accept the Plan 
Commission recommendation with the future intent of addressing the driveway entrance on County Road FF and Fisk Ave, seconded 
by Chairman Schmick. Carried 

8. DISCUSS/ACT ON ANY BUDGET AMENDMENTS 
No Amendments 

9. DISCUSS/APPROVE WI TOWNS ASSOCIATION BYLAWS 
Chairman Schmick feels it's something we don't need to be involved in. Chairman Schmick motioned not to get involved as a member of 
the Winnebago County Town's Association, seconded by supervisor Stettler. Carried 

10. D ISCUSS/ACT ON WINNEBAGO COUNTY FLOODPLAIN MAP AMENDMENT RESOLUTION 
Supervisor Stettler said it appears the study had to do with flood levels and the areas highlighted in the map are not extending on to dry 
land any further than before. Study was done up to James Road. Chairman Schmick motions to approve the Winnebago County 
Floodplain Map Amendment, seconded by Supervisor Stettler Carried 

11. DISCUSS/ACT ON FEMA's PUBLIC ASSISTANCE GRANTS PORTAL 
Clerk Sonnleitner will sign up to be in the system if any disasters should happen. Will list the Board members and Fire Chief as contacts. 

12 DISCUSS INSURANCE RENEWAL QUESTIONNAIRES, INSURANCE AGENT CAN A TIEND APRIL'S MEETING 
Chairman Schmick motions to accept the policy and after talking with the Rep next month, we can make any adjustments, seconded by 
Supervisor Kuhrt. Carried 

13. WI DEPT OF SAFETY & PROFESSIONAL SERVICES - NEW ELECTRICAL RULES 
As of March 1, we need to have an Inspector certified . Chairman Schmick tried calling Building Inspector Johnson. 



14. DISCUSS/APPROVE RESOLUTION BY SCHOOL DISTRICT OF 0MRO PROPOSED TO ATTACH PROPERTY FROM OSHKOSH 

AREA SCHOOL TO 0MRO SCHOOL DISTRICT OWNED BY JOSHUA MALNORY: NE X OF THE SW X SECTION 11, TOWNSHIP 
17 N, RANGE 15 E: 024-0195 
Chairman Schmick said his school taxes would be payable to Omro School District now and not sure we can do anything to change this. 
Supervisor Stettler motions to approve the Resolution from Oshkosh to Omro school as attached, seconded by Supervisor Kuhrt. Carried 

15. DISCUSS/ACT ON REPAIRING TOWN HALL NORTH AND EAST WALLS 
Supervisor Stettler has made a few calls but has not heard back from anyone. He will take a sample of the paint to get paint made. Clerk 
Sonnleitner will contact Pioneer Cleaning to wash the walls, if under $200. 

16. EAST CENTRAL WI REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION -RESOLUTION 43-18 TO RESTRICT THE USE OF HIGH-PAH 

PAVEMENT SEALANTS; ENCOURAGES TOWNS TO ESTABLISH POLICIES NO TO PURCHASE/APPLY COAL-TAR-BASED 

SEALANT/OTHER HIGH-PAH SEALANT ON ANY OWNED/MAINTAINED PROPERTIES. DISCUSS/ACT ON APPROVING AN 
ORDINANCE. 
Chairman Schmick will contact the County and how to enforce for personal driveways. Will table this for next month after more answers. 

17. DISCUSS/SET SPRING ROAD INSPECTION 
Chairman Schmick will contact the County to get dates for the next meeting. 

18. RUSH LAKE: LATE FEB/EARLY MARCH FOLLOW-UP MEETING; NEXT MEETING 4/18/19 
There will be a meeting March 30 at 9-11am at the Town of Nepeuskun Town Hall. UW-Stevens Point to partner with the Rush Lake 
Restoration committee. 

19. FIRE DEPARTMENT I EMS: 

A) FEBRUARY CALLS: 4 FIRE I 3 EMS 12 MUTUAL AID 

B) DISCUSS/ACT ON THE PROGRESS OF THE NEW, USED FIRE TRUCK 
Walt Whiting said it is still being discussed. Tom Thiel heard from other departments to stay away from Rutherford , there are issues. 

C) SPS 330 ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 
Supervisor Stettler sent additional emails to the Senator with questions specific to questions T im had and has not heard 
back. Main concern was if in the future, if it would affect us and what is the consequence. 

20. ITEMS FOR INCLUSION IN NEWSLETIER 
A) Town Board Meeting -April 8, 2019; 7:30pm at the Utica Town Hall 
B) OPEN BOOK: MAY 7, 2019: 4-6PM 

C) BOARD OF REVIEW: MAY 21,2019: 6-8PM 

21. CORRESPONDENCE RECEIVED {Discuss & Act on, it needed): 
A) WI Towns Association Monthly Mailing via email 
B) Property Transfers 
C) Sign Incident check reimbursement, Fox Valley Tech Board Appointment Vacancy, 2019 Carrot-top catalog, Winnebago 

County passed Boating Regulations Ordinance, Greater Oshkosh 2018 Annual Report, Construction Business Group, CD 
of Winnebago County's 2019 Emergency Response Plan 

Supervisor Kuhrt gave 'Kudos' to Supervisor Stettler for assisting in removing ice and frozen slush that a plow truck pushed 
that was a couple feet high on Ripple Road between Elo and Burr Oak; he took a picture. 

22. ADJOURNMENT 
Adjournment 8:13pm Jenny Sonnleitner, Clerk 

Leonard Schmick- Chairman 

Chuck Kuhrt- Supervisor #1 

Grant Stettler - Supervisor #2 

Brenda Morrell- Treasurer 

Jenny Sonnleitner - Cieri< 

"The~e meeting minute~ are only a draft of the minutet of the 
meeting. They have not been approved yet. They ore subject to 
change and you may not rely on their accuracy. For more 
information p leo~e contact the clerR or a town board member." 



To the Board of Supervisors of Winnebago County, Wisconsin: 

Amendatory Ordinance 

Whereas, it is desirable to amend the Zoning Ordinance and the Zoning Map of the Town of 
Utica in accordance with the petition of Terry Culver; 

Whereas said request is in compliance with the adopted Winnebago County Land Use Plan. 

Now, therefore, the County Board Supervisors of Winnebago County do ordain that the Zoning 
Ordinance and the Zoning Map of the Town of Utica, be and the same, are amended to 
provide that the attached described property be changed from the classification of Two (2) 
parcels zoned A2 of said ordinance, which it now and heretofore had, to the zoned district to 
create lot 1, 2, and 3 being zoned RR. Lot one would have the existing home. lots 2 & 3 to 
be used for agriculture. 

Parcel Nos: 024-0274, 024-0284 

County Disclaimer: 

County Board Supervisor 
(Town of Utica) 

County Board approval does not include any responsibility for County liability for the legality or 
effectiveness of the Town Zoning Amendment or the Town Zoning Ordinance. 

APPROVED BY WINNEBAGO COUNTY EXECUTIVE THIS - - -- DAY OF ___ _ _ 

Mark Harris 

County Board Supervisory District 



CARY A. ROWE 
Zoning Administrator 

Winnebago County 
Zoning Department 
The Wave of the Future 

MEMO FOR P & Z MEETING AGENDA OF APRIL 5, 2019 

TO: Planning & Zoning Committee 

FM: Zoning Administrator Of~ 

RE: Review of Town Zoning Changes 

112 OTIER AVE .. PO BOX 2808 
OSHKOSH, WISCONSIN 54903-2808 

OSHKOSH (920) 232-3344 
FOX ClTIES (920) 727-2880 

FAX (920) 232-3347 

zoningdcpartmcnt@co winnebago wi.us 

1. JJJ2 LLC- Town Zoning Change (Tax ID No: 006-0895-06)- Town of Clayton. 

The town zoning change for JJJ2 LLC is consistent with Winnebago County's Land 
Use Plan. The Town of Clayton approved the zoning change from A-2 (General 
Agricultural District) to 1-1 (Light Industrial District) and The Town of Clayton's 
amended land use plan shows future land use as Light Industrial. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a motion to forward zone change to County 
Board for action. 

2. Culver- Town Zoning Change (Tax ID No: 024-0274 & 024-0284)- Town of Utica. 

The town zoning change for Culver is consistent with Winnebago County's Land 
Use Plan. The Town of Utica approved the zoning change from A2 (Agricultural 
District) toRR (Rural Residential Recreational Mixed Use) and Winnebago 
County's land use plan shows future land use as Agricultural and Rural under the 
extra-territorial jurisdiction of the City of Oshkosh. 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve a motion to forward zone change to County 
Board for action. 

pheise
Highlight












	MARCH 8 PLANNING MEETING MINUTES 
	MARCH 22 VIEWING MINUTES
	TOWN OF WINCHESTER ORDINANCE CHANGES
	TOWN ZONING CHANGE - JJJ2 LLC
	TOWN ZONING CHANGE - CULVER 



